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ranks with its industrial locations Zellstoff Pöls (Austria), Laakirchen P
 apier
(Austria), Raubling (Germany) and Estonian Cell (Estonia) among the largest
producers of market pulp and magazine paper in Central and Eastern Europe.
Since 2016, containerboard has also belonged to the group’s range of
products. The group’s Trading Business Area includes heinzelsales, a globally
active pulp, paper and board trading company, and Europapier, the leading
paper merchant in Central and Eastern Europe. In addition, Bunzl & Biach is
the largest and most important recycled paper company in Austria and the
leading wholesaler in Central and Eastern Europe. Heinzel Group’s successful
growth is based on the fulfillment of the highest customer d emands with
regard to quality and efficiency.
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Alfred Heinzel (left) and Wolfgang Pfarl

Dear Reader,
In 2016 I started a new chapter of my
life: I abdicated everyday operations and
took over the chair of the Supervisory
Board at Heinzel Group. Now I can
attend to my interests, hobbies and my
family, which before I had neglected too
much.

Pöls:
Regional club
sponsorships
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LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER
Brown is the new white

ESTONIAN CELL
10 years of pulp

Our cover displays the full extent
of the Laakirchen product line-up
of brown packaging paper.
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Since then I not only have been seeing
our business from a bird’s eye view, but
the whole world: It all started with an
adventure trip to South America with the
former president of our Supervisory
Board, Wolfgang Pfarl – in a way of
thanks and appreciation for his many
years of service in Heinzel Group. The
unique alpine and glacier world of
Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego inspired
us.
Then, in early summer, I circumnavigated
the northern hemisphere by plane in the
company of business partners, friends
and family: We went to Odessa, Tbilisi,
Samarkand, Tashkent, Krasnoyarsk,
Irkutsk, Petropavlovsk, Vancouver,

Toronto, Montreal, St. John’s, Greenland,
Iceland and Bergen – you can trace the
route on a globe. Apart from sightseeing,
culture and sports, business meetings
and private adventure trips were on the
program. The mountain range of Central
Asia, K
 amchatka and Alaska served as
our guide to the East and around the
globe. We were able to enjoy a fantastic
world and magnificent weather.

The distance to everyday business
together with companions of the past

few years did me good. I distanced
myself but kept an eye on the essentials.
What is left after forty years in the
diverse paper industry? Gratitude and
appreciation.
2016 was another successful business
year for Heinzel Group: We were able to
achieve enormous growth – by running
our mills at full capacity, by absorbing
companies and due to an aboveaverage raise in the overseas business
of heinzelsales.
In 2017 my successors will need to
assert themselves in the face of new

challenges like overcapacity, a fall in
margins, the development of the financial markets and the change of our product portfolio.
I wish our employees at Heinzel Group
confidence, success and joy in our
further development.

Alfred Heinzel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Heinzel Holding GmbH
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NEWS
2016
NEW OFFICE

H EINZEL GROUP HAS EXPANDED ITS SITE IN
WAGRAMER STRASSE
As of May 2016 Heinzel Group has considerably expanded its office space in
Wagramer Straße in the 22nd district of
Vienna: “We leased the adjacent
property and within merely a year we
had a five-story tall 2,200-square-meter
building constructed which is connected
to the 
existing office building by a
bridge,” says Klaus Vlach, who is
responsible for organizational develop
ment within Heinzel Group. “heinzelsales simply needed more space
because the company has grown continuously over the past years,” says Vlach.

A show room for visual communication
of the Heinzel subsidiary E
 uropapier can
now also be found on the ground floor of
the new building. Offices on the first
floor will be rented out to e xternal companies, the second floor is occupied for
heinzelsales. Heinzel H
 olding is located
one floor higher. The fourth and fifth
floor contain apartments that are p
 artially
rented out to employees of Heinzel
Group.

Doris Hummer

DORIS HUMMER NEW IN SUPERVISORY
BOARD OF LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER
Doris Hummer took over the mandate in
the Supervisory Board of Laakirchen
Papier AG on 31 March 2016 from Ulf
Larsson, who resigned after eight years.
The trained economist is a represen
tative in the Upper Austrian state parliament and managing director of DOMICO
KG and has held several Supervisory
Board mandates over the past eight years.

Regina Friedrich

New office building in Wagramer Strasse
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FEMALE
POWER

REGINA FRIEDRICH JOINS SUPERVISORY
BOARD IN PÖLS
A woman was also appointed to the
Supervisory Board of Zellstoff Pöls AG:
Since 31 March 2016, Regina Friedrich
has been a member of the Supervisory
Board. The Styrian was managing director of the operational companies of the
FRIKUS Logistik group as well as the head
of Friedrich Holding AG. Since 2011 she
has been the managing director of
Stilfrage Immobiliendesign GmbH, a

member of the Supervisory Board of the
Joanneum University of Applied Sciences
and has been active as the chairlady of
Leukämiehilfe Steiermark.

HEINZEL GROUP
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DESIGNED

MAKING ART COME ALIVE AT ESTONIAN CELL
exhibition is that art should not hide in
museums and galleries, but should be
visible, graspable and experienced by
everyone in public spaces.

In the course of the ten-year anniversary
of the company, Estonian Cell invited
the photo and video artist Lena von
Lapschina, who lives in Austria, to design
the entrance hall of the facility as well as
the walls of a kindergarten in Rakvere in
a collaborative project.

For the employees of the Estonian mill
of Heinzel Group this opportunity for
encounter will last for good: They are

greeted every day with the artwork that
was made on site.

INNOVATOR
OF THE
YEAR
ESTONIAN CELL

The choice of Lena von Lapschina was
obvious, seeing as she was the guest of
honor at this year’s exhibition “Kilometer
of Sculpture”, which transforms a different Estonian town into an art exhibition
space each year. This was the case in
Rakvere, near the location of Estonian
Cell, in 2016. The idea behind this yearly

Lauri Raid, CTO, Estonian Cell

Another great award for Estonian Cell:
The Estonian pulp mill of Heinzel Group
received the most important business
award of the country and can call itself
“innovator of the year 2016”.
The determining factor for the presen
tation of the entrepreneurship award in
the innovation category was once more
the biogas mill that was brought on
stream in 2014.

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16
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TEAM SPIRIT
IN DÜSSELDORF
IN 2016 THE HEINZEL GROUP COMPANIES
PRESENTED THEMSELVES FOR THE FIRST TIME
WITH A SHARED STAND AT DRUPA, THE BIGGEST
PRINTING AND PAPER FAIR WORLDWIDE.
In the past, the Heinzel Group com
panies were already present at the
world’s leading trade fair for printing and
cross-media solutions in Düsseldorf,
which takes place every four years. And
yet DRUPA 2016 was something special.
Here,
heinzelsales,
heinzelpaper,
Starkraft, Starboard and Europapier presented themselves for the first time
under the umbrella of Heinzel Group

with a shared stand in 2016. All in all,
127 Heinzel employees traveled to
Düsseldorf to meet with clients, close

deals and compare notes on current
trends like 3D printers, functional printing and packaging printing.

Heinzel Group was given a total of 168
square meters in exhibition hall D of the
grounds in Düsseldorf. “Our very big and
modern stand had its own video wall as
well as an appealing seating lounge.
The fact that it was open on three sides
also contributed to the great atmosphere,” says Moncef Reisner, COO of
heinzelsales, who was on the ground in
Düsseldorf. “We invited many clients to
meetings and also closed deals with new
clients. Those days in Düsseldorf were a
complete success at all levels,” says
Reisner. He sums it up: “But the best
part of DRUPA was the fact that the
individual companies of Heinzel Group

NEWS

2016
presented themselves as a team and
harmonized well.”
DRUPA in Düsseldorf is the biggest
printing and paper fair in the world. Last
year 1,837 companies showed their
products in 19 exhibition halls. About
260,000 visitors from 188 countries and
1,900 journalists from 74 countries
came to Düsseldorf between 31 May
and 10 June 2016 to learn more about
technological innovations, developments
and new business sectors.

HEINZEL GROUP IMAGE FOLDER

Heinzel Group convention stand at DRUPA 2016
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Lively exchange with customers

HEINZEL GROUP

N E W S 2 0 16

CONGRATS

PÖLS SWEEPS THE BOARD
In order to improve its fame among
students and boost its image as a potential employer, Zellstoff Pöls launched
an employer branding campaign in
September 2016. And it immediately

received the Styrian public relations

award 2016 in the category of economy
for the campaign “Paper and us”
(“Papier und wir”). The infobox developed for schools contains five brochures
on the key topics of business, pulp and
paper production, the employer and
environmental protection.
“Being awarded the PR panther is a
great honor for us. It shows that we are
on the right path to communicating with
young people and that we have positioned ourselves as an attractive em
ployer in that target group,” says Andreas
Vogel, CEO of Zellstoff Pöls, happily.
In addition, Pöls was able to succeed at
this year’s Maintenance Award Austria
of the ÖVIA (Österreichische technisch-
wissenschaftliche Vereinigung für Instandhaltung und Anlagenwirtschaft /
Austrian technological-scientific association for maintenance and mill manage-

Zellstoff Pöls won the PR award in the economic category.

ment) and came in second place for
their maintenance activities.

at the HR Inside Summit in the Vienna
Hofburg for their project “mission statement”.

And since all good things come in threes:
Zellstoff Pöls received the silver HR
award in the category of business c ulture

EUROPAPIER
IS TOP RECRUITER
Europapier Austria GmbH was awarded the bronze BEST RECRUITERS seal of quality
of 2016/2017 by CAREER, the largest recruiting study in the D-A-CH region (Germany,
Austria, Switzerland).
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INTERVIEW WITH KURT MAIER

“I PAY
ATTENTION
TO
BALANCE.”
In March 2016, Heinzel
Group underwent a generational change in both
management and the
Supervisory Board.
Kurt Maier, previously the
head of Zellstoff Pöls for
many years, followed
Alfred Heinzel as CEO of
Heinzel Group. A conversation about change, growth
and balance.

8

Mr. Maier, what is your personal sum
mary of one year at the top of Heinzel
Group?
The change is quite far-reaching for me,
since I not only moved from Styria to
Vienna: After taking off my regional Pöls
glasses I have been focusing on the
wide horizon of Heinzel Group – and that
truly opens up completely new dimensions and creative possibilities. Because

HEINZEL GROUP

KURT MAIER
SUMMARIZING
ONE YEAR AS
GROUP CEO

I want to understand exactly how the
business works and what kind of
structures it needs, I visit all the managers and teams on site and am currently
only one or two days per week at the
most in Vienna.
Besides traveling, this new approach
and being responsible for the various
sites have heavily changed the way I
work. In Pöls I could organize operation-

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16

ally on a day-to-day basis and go in
depth. Now it is my job to give strategic
impetuses on the group level, without
actually witnessing their implementation
down to the last detail. While my job in
Pöls was operationally strategic, it is now
mainly strategic.
Unlike classical holdings you are living
a very successful decentralized struc
ture at Heinzel Group.

Yes, and that is not going to change. The
great competence and independence of
our subsidiaries is very important to us.
That is why I consider myself the helmsman who pays attention to the values of
the group and leads the way.
In any case I am very glad having
accepted this exciting challenge and am
doing my best to use these great opportunities accordingly.

9
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 ouses and thus a large part of the entire
h
Heinzel Group. The plan is to further
develop these business sectors in the
next years. In addition to the organic
growth of the group we also remain open
to new acquisition opportunities and
business sectors.
And what are your goals within the exist
ing group?
I find it very important that Heinzel
Group remains balanced and does not
lose its footing with every little market
fluctuation. We manage to offset this
through our different business sectors –
because more pillars also mean more
stability. To be precise, the expansion of
the packaging sector in Laakirchen, for
example, compensates for the regressing business with printing paper. At the
same time, pulp and paper balance
each other out, as do production and
trade. Or if we take Pöls as an example
for balance within a company: The energy
sector provides solid results as a counter
balance to the volatile pulp and paper
business.

Sticking with your metaphor: What
course have you set as the helmsman of
Heinzel Group?
My main goal is for the group to continue
growing – both in trade and in production. Since in the past years several big
companies have joined – like most
recently Laakirchen and Raubling –

I also see one priority in consolidation.

10

This especially includes the implementation of the containerboard business in
Heinzel Group. We will neither diversify
too much nor delve too deeply into
further processing in order not to damage our trade business by becoming
rivals of our clients. After all, our roots are
in trade. The increased strategic concentration on producing packaging
papers also influences the trading


Another important goal is to align the
added value along the production line as
efficiently as possible. This means: To
use all the deployed raw materials at the
maximum, to produce energy autonomously, to generate usable byproducts
out of waste material, to help the environment and to save resources. Our mill in
Pöls is not only energy-self-sufficient, it
also feeds energy into the public grid. We
are producing our own biogas in Estonia,
and we also aim for further increases in
efficiency in Raubling and in Laakirchen.
In general, we are working on decreasing
the amount of chemicals, water and
energy used for production. That is why
every new investment – which always
follows the BAT principle (Best Available
Technology) – also leads to progress in
terms of saving resources. Thus, for
example, the PM2 in Pöls uses no more
water than the PM1 at six times the
capacity in absolute terms. Many of our
investments exclusively concern improv-

HEINZEL GROUP
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ing the environmental performance and
do not bring about an increase in capacity. The ongoing improvement of energy
efficiency is common practice here, we
do not need any impulse from outside.
Another priority is optimizing our processes, the keyword here is industry 4.0.
This not only applies to the production
sector but to the entire trade. We stay
true to our principles and build on our
previously successful business models,
live our positive spirit group-wide, know
what our strengths are and keep developing these further.
Let us now briefly address the important
topic of raw materials supply. Heinzel
Group strongly supports a more sustain
able use of wood as a raw material – that
is for the priority of the use of material
over energy. What is the current state of
this discussion?
There is not really anything new to report
here. However, politics are starting to be
a bit more sensitive in dealing with this
topic, and we can tell that there has
been a change in thinking. Even the
politicians are understanding that cer
tain highly sponsored facilities cannot be
run economically – because they are
simply inefficient. And that leads to the
realization that the cascading use that
we demand is more sensible than “pure
incineration”.
Where do you currently see the greatest
challenges and opportunities for Heinzel
Group?
We have placed a priority for the next
few years on our decision to expand the
packaging sector in Laakirchen. Here,
the next step will be to solidly convert
paper machine 10 (PM10) and to quickly
integrate the new production.
A second big topic is the generational
change in Laakirchen and Pöls as well as
in heinzelsales. Here, it is important for
the companies to hold on to the knowhow of individual people on the one

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16

hand and to create new perspectives
and impulses on the other – especially in
the trade s ector.
Let us talk briefly about the conversion
of the PM10 in Laakirchen, which will
soon be producing containerboard
instead of SC paper. What makes you so
confident that this EUR 100 million
investment will pay off?
I will give you four reasons: First, our
experienced team in Laakirchen that

makes sure that the technical conversion is implemented perfectly. Second,
the advantage of our very good knowledge of the market and the assurance
that we can sell the quantities produced
through the trade network of our group.
Third, we can assure the raw materials
supply through Bunzl & Biach. And

What does this important step mean for
your employees in Laakirchen, and will
it also affect the other Heinzel Group
mills besides Raubling?
Needless to say, the fact that we will be
producing 450,000 tonnes of brown
paper besides 350,000 tonnes of white
SC paper under the same roof will be a
big change for the team. I would even
call it a cultural shift that needs to happen. We are already producing packaging paper in Pöls – however, it is
bleached, white kraft paper of the highest quality that is 100 per cent pulp. The
production of brown paper in Laakirchen
is something completely new.
Because the testliner produced in
Laakirchen will be 100 per cent recycled
paper, the quantities delivered from

“We maintain a balance
through our different
business sectors – because
more pillars also mean
more stability.”
fourth, we have acquired the necessary
know-how by absorbing the already
well-integrated Raubling Papier in early
2016 – both in terms of production and
marketing of containerboard. In this
sense Raubling plays a crucial strategic
and operational part and functions as an
important bridgehead for 
Laakirchen.
The two subsidiaries are using their synergies optimally and together become a
full-range supplier, without competing
with each other.

Bunzl & Biach to Laakirchen will of
course increase significantly. That way
this subsidiary will play a much more
crucial, strategic part as a raw material
supplier within our group.
What next big investment steps do you
have in the pipeline?
One important project that already has
been decided on and will be imple
mented in 2017 is the expansion of our
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the lignin and the fiber contained in
wood. This means: How can we gain
additional products like, e.g., glue or

chemical substitutes for paper production? But overall, innovation needs to
come from the mill manufacturers
because we as a group are too small to
conduct innovation or even foundational
research in our field.
How would you summarize the business
year 2016 in economic terms?
2016 went very well and in sum exceeded our expectations. Our turnover grew
considerably and our earnings before
extraordinary items are on the same level
as last year’s despite lower prices. This
success once again proves our course of
diversification. It also underlines the
most important decision of the business
year 2016, the conversion of the PM10
to produce containerboard.
What were the highlights of the individ
ual subsidiaries?

pulp production in Pöls. This will increase
our annual tonnes by 35,000 from
420,000 to 455,000 tonnes. In Estonia,
too, we are planning to increase output
from 175,000 to 200,000 tonnes in
addition to an efficiency enhancement
program but the implementation only
makes sense if the Estonian energy tax
laws change. There are interesting
acquisition opportunities for Europapier,
and we will implement one or the other.
And at Bunzl & Biach we are currently
working on strategic progression.
Because in order to ensure higher quantities for us we want to move further into
recycled paper collection besides trade.
Heinzel Group is a family business. Does
this manifest itself in everyday work?
Yes, because clear ownership conditions
have the advantage of short and quick
decision-making processes. In our case,

12

there is also an exact understanding of
business. After all, the Heinzel family is
not only the owner, Alfred Heinzel built
the group of companies within 15 years,
and this of course indicates an enormous wealth of experience which I can
also draw on. These two elements were
essential for me in taking this position.
What part does innovation play for you,
are there any current projects?
At the moment Zellstoff Pöls is joined
with Mondi, Sappi and Norske Skog
Bruck in the cooperative research
project “Flippr° – Future Lignin and Pulp
Processing Research“, which is being
conducted in cooperation with the
Vienna University of Natural Resources
and Life Sciences (BOKU), the Univer
sity of Graz and the Graz University of
Technology. This project is analyzing
how added value can be generated from

I have already mentioned the most
important one: The preparation of Laakirchen Papier together with Raubling
Papier for the conversion of the PM10
and getting started with the packaging
paper business. In 2016 Zellstoff Pöls
was back in full-time production after the
swift reconstruction of the boiler that
exploded in 2014 – and the mill was

working to capacity with peak output of
pulp as well as paper. In addition, we
were able to increase the efficiency in
Raubling as well as at Estonian Cell and
thus reach a new production record at
both sites. In Estonia the biogas mill is
also running perfectly, the production
increased by about 50 per cent in 2016.
heinzelsales was able to reach a new
volume record of roughly EUR 2,5 million
tonnes of pulp and paper in 2016 as
well. Reasons for this all-time high are,
among other things, new suppliers and
recently opened markets – particularly
those in Latin America. heinzelsales is
also a prime example of a successful
generational change for us with the

HEINZEL GROUP
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“Overall, 2016
has exceeded
our expectations.”

well-prepared handover from Andrew
Paul to Sebastian Heinzel. At the
moment, Europapier is implementing a
very crucial strategy process. The goal is
further diversification, which should
strengthen both the visual communication as well as the hygiene business. This
is done partially through acquisitions and
partially by expanding the existing business. We are also pleased that our new
online shop has been very well received.
And our goal for Bunzl & Biach, which I
have already mentioned in connection
with Laakirchen, is for it to grow as an
independent business profitably. That is
why in 2016 Bunzl & Biach was united
with Chiemgau Recycling as an individual
strategic b
 usiness sector directly under
Heinzel Holding.
How do you estimate the business year
2017 from the current view?
We started into the new year with full order books. Nevertheless, 2017 can be a
challenge – for example, considering the
implementation of our big investment in
Laakirchen. Since we know that new capacities in the liner and pulp sector will
reach the market, it is all the more important to see our projects through as
fast as possible and to bring our products into the market early on: The main
conversion of the PM10 begins in
August, and the start-up phase starts

in October. Of course, these additional
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capacities might put pressure on the
sale and raw material prices in 2017.
That is why it will be important to be flexible in the face of increased competition,
to be aware of our strengths, continue
working on our cost position, product
quality and level of service and develop
our new as well as existing relationships
to suppliers and clients.
Taking all of this into consideration, I am
confident that we will show good results
as a group in 2017.
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GROUP OVERVIEW

INTERNATIONAL – CUSTO
Heinzel Group overview

SALES PER
PRODUCT CATEGORY 2016

4 MILLION TONNES

RESULTS 2016
Sales revenues
EBITDA
EBIT
Financial result
Earnings before tax (EBT)
Net income

EUR 1,763.3 m
EUR 134.1 m
EUR 78.6 m
EUR –5.0 m
EUR 73.6 m
EUR 57.6 m

PULP
1.22 M TONNES

SALES TRADED GOODS | OWN PRODUCTION (IN TONNES)
TRADED GOODS

OWN PRODUCTION

2,728,353
2,400,697

1,254,245 1,353,751
710,765
2009

1,807,676

1,770,193 1,850,064

506,798

440,142

573,234

2010

2011

2012

963,250
2013

2,249,770
1,357,474

997,269

924,071

2014

2015

534.9

649.1

2009

2010

GLOBAL
NETWORK

1,016.2
2011

2012

1,329.1

2013

1,406.5

1,480.4

2014

2015

PRINTING & WRITING PAPER
0.46 M TONNES

2016

SALES (IN EUR M)
1,093.1

PACKAGING & BOARD
1.10 M TONNES

1,763.3

2016

PUBLICATION PAPERS
0.86 M TONNES

OTHER
0.43 M TONNES

GROUP OVERVIEW

OMER-ORIENTED – FAST
KRAFT PAPER
MARKET PULP

STARBOARD

PRINTING PAPER

VISUAL COMMUNICATION

50,000 ARTICLES BOARD

260 PRODUCT GROUPS
STARKRAFT RECOVERED PAPER

SC PAPER

CONTAINERBOARD
OFFICE PAPER
HYGIENE PAPER

38.4%
Pulp
521,585

33.2%

Own production
1,357,474

39.4%

Publication papers
535,354

SALES TRADED GOODS |
OWN PRODUCTION 2016 (IN TONNES)

22.2%
66.8%

Traded goods
2,728,353

Packaging & board
300,536

GROUP COMPANIES

HEINZEL GROUP
COMPANIES

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

INDUSTRY

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

Laakirchen/Austria

Raubling/Germany

Pöls/Austria

Kunda/Estonia

Paper production

Paper production

Pulp and paper production

Pulp production

Super calendered gravure

Kraft top liner, test liner,

Bleached kraft pulp,

Bleached aspen

and offset uncoated paper

fluting

bleached kraft paper

BCTMP pulp

Publishers, printers, 

Corrugated containerboard

Paper producers, bag and

Paper industry

catalog producers,

producers

packaging industry

Germany, Italy, Austria

Italy, Austria, Slovenia,

India, Germany, France,

Germany, France,

Italy

retail chains
Germany, Italy, Austria,
Central and Eastern Europe

Mediterranean region

EUR 243,645k

EUR 81,554k

EUR 251,841k

EUR 64,472k

506

138

399

86

535,354 tonnes

217,794 tonnes

432,142 tonnes

172,184 tonnes
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GROUP COMPANIES

TRADING

TRADING

TRADING

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH

Vienna/Austria,

Vienna/Austria, subsidiaries in

Vienna/Austria, Linz/Austria,

25 branches worldwide

13 countries

LOCATION

subsidiary near Ceské
Budějovice (CZ), subsidiary in
Raubling/Germany

Global pulp and paper trading

Paper wholesaling

Recycled paper and packaging

ACTIVITIES

disposal and trading
Pulp, paper, board, china clay

Office paper, printing paper,

and chemicals

packaging paper, board,

document archiving, document

visual communication

shredding, waste disposal

Paper producers, processors,

Printers, packaging processors,

Business and industry

CUSTOMERS

Austria

MAIN MARKETS

EUR 127,429k

SALES REVENUES

printers, publishers, wholesalers,

office paper retailers, business

packaging companies

and industry

Global – 99 countries worldwide

Russia, Poland, Austria,

Waste paper, data protection,

PRODUCTS

Hungary, Czech Republic,
Slovenia
EUR 643,977k

EUR 528,283k

2016

998

111

163

EMPLOYEES
2016

2,511,167 tonnes

592,736 tonnes

896,413 tonnes

SALES VOLUMES
2016

The Heinzel Group companies possess all the standard environmental and production certifications.
A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16
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THE
NEWEST
SUBSIDIARY
OF HEINZEL
GROUP

THE
FUTURE IN
ITS SIGHTS
In Raubling, only packaging paper is produced.

The Bavarian paper mill in Raubling is the newest
subsidiary of Heinzel Group and in less than a year, it
has already settled in. Among the employees, there is a
spirit of optimism. Six chapters of a success story that
has only just begun.
20
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speech: He talks about the strengths of
the traditional Bavarian company,
pending investments, and the high
degree of personal responsibility that

the industrial group expects from its
latest subsidiary.

“I feel a real
sense of
excitement.”
Thomas Schneider

The performance was well received.
“The staff had the feeling that Alfred
Heinzel was an accessible business
owner and that their location held a

Raubling Papier is emerging as the leading provider of special products.

The first phase of uncertainty was
meant to be brief. It is 24 February
2016. The acquisition of the paper mill
in Raubling by Heinzel Holding has only
occurred less than two months ago.
The management has called a meeting
of the 143 staff members to introduce
the team to the new owner. Alfred
Heinzel, Supervisory Board president
and still CEO of Heinzel Group at the
time, comes quickly to the point in his

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16

high priority in the group,” says Thomas
Schneider, the new Managing Director
in Raubling who is in charge of production and technology. “A few days after
the start of my new job, my colleagues
already mentioned this meeting, which
has stayed in the memory of the Raublingers.” Schneider’s interim summing
up of his first six months in the com
pany: “I feel a real sense of excitement.
These are ideal conditions for moving
projects forward and keeping the
newest subsidiary of Heinzel Group on
the path towards success.”
It can’t be taken for granted that everything will run so smoothly. Other integrations often experience many tough
months before the subsidiary and owner
become attuned to one another. How
ever, the paper mill in Raubling has
grown used to the new realities surprisingly quickly. In addition to the other

three industrial sites of the group
(
Laakirchen Papier, Zellstoff Pöls, and
Estonian Cell), the containerboard manu
facturer has quickly found its place
in the constellation. “The chemistry
between Raubling and Heinzel Group

simply works,” points out Thomas
Schneider.
Why is this the case? The following are
six chapters of a success story that has
only just begun:
1. PACKAGING PAPER
The factory in Raubling has two paper
machines: the PM5 and the PM7. Both
machines have an operating width of
2.5 meters and together produce
approximately 215,000 tonnes of containerboard. The market for brown
packaging paper is on course for
growth, as e-commerce and online mail
order businesses have been constantly
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increasing the demand for packaging
material, in contrast to paper used for
publications. With Raubling, Heinzel
Group can now add a brown wrapping
paper manufacturer to their pulp and
publication paper manufacturers.
2. MANY YEARS OF EXPERTISE
Currently, the Laakirchen paper mill 160
kilometers away in Upper Austria’s
Salzkammergut region is also benefiting
from the experience of the packaging
paper staff at Raubling. Currently, the
paper machine 10 (PM10) there is being
rebuilt. In the future, the machine will be
producing brown containerboard instead
of white publication paper. Therefore,
the machine will be expanded by almost
a third, for which many technical
changes are required. “With our expertise, we can help the team in Laakirchen
and bring our know-how to the con
version of the PM10,” says Thomas
Schneider.
3. JOINT BRAND “STARBOARD”
In the future, two industrial sites in
Heinzel Group will produce brown pack-

Raubling is focusing on recycling.
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aging paper: Laakirchen with a large
machine and Raubling with two smaller
ones. However, in the European paper
market, the two companies won’t get in
each other’s way. “Laakirchen will produce the qualities of the commodity in
the future, in parallel, Raubling will be
built up as a supplier of special products,” explains Thomas Schneider.
“Laakirchen and Raubling will complement each other with their products on
the market, but they will not overlap.”
The long-term goal: In the future, a total
of 700,000 tonnes of brown paper will
be manufactured at the two sites and
marketed under the name “Starboard”,
with Raubling providing 250,000 tonnes.
4. GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION
The Raubling community, population
11,000, belongs to the district of Rosenheim in Bavaria, Germany. “Two-thirds
of our customers are located in G
 ermany,
mainly in the southern region,” says
Thomas Schneider. Raubling is located
strategically in order to be able to supply
several regions across the “Weißwurstgrenze” – a humorous term describing

the supposed cultural boundary separating Southern from Central Germany – in
Western, Southern, and Eastern Europe.
The paper mill is also located on the A93
federal motorway, which leads to the
Brenner Pass towards Italy. “This really
benefits us, because a majority of our
exports goes to customers in Northern
Italy.”
5. QUICK INVESTMENTS
Heinzel Group’s goal for their newest
subsidiary is clearly defined: “We want to
develop Raubling into a leading manufacturer of specialty products in the field
of containerboard,” says Sebastian
Heinzel, who is in charge of the strategic
planning of heinzelsales trading com
pany. “We will make every effort to
enhance the site and to establish ourselves as an important player in the
packaging market.” This is also reflected
in the investment of Heinzel Group.
While the renovation work and innovations were often neglected by previous
owners, Heinzel Group gave the green
light for major renovations in Raubling
within a few days. The separation of the
water circuits for the two paper m
 achines
was carried out first. The renovation of
the dilapidated hall roof for the PM5 was
also implemented. “Of course, these
messages get back to the employees
immediately. You can see that Heinzel
takes us seriously,” says Thomas
Schneider.
6. HIGH DEGREE OF AUTONOMY
Even the Raubling coat of arms itself
shows how important paper production
is in the Bavarian municipality: The
former reaction tower of the paper mill,
founded in 1908, can be seen on the
right half of the coat of arms, which is set
against a red background. In recent
years, many different owners came and
went, some followed a very centralist
corporate strategy. This was not always
easy for the employees. Thomas
Schneider points out that “the Raub
lingers see themselves first and foremost
as Raublingers. They attach great importance to independence, no matter who

HEINZEL GROUP
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the owner is.” This attitude is also Heinzel
Group’s philosophy: The subsidiaries are
expected to operate independently. “If
the results are correct, then you will
hardly see us, maximum every four
weeks,” said Alfred Heinzel at the staff
meeting on 24 February 2016. “What
products you choose, what prices you
set, which markets open up – all this is
the responsibility of the site.” Thomas
Schneider sees one of the biggest
advantages of this: “This freedom

creates an incredible dynamism in the
team – we’re definitely ready for the challenges of the future.”

MANAGEMENT
Thomas Schneider, CTO
Maximilian Luger, CFO

The heating plant for the production of electricity and steam by gas turbine

“We are definitely
ready for the challenges
of the future.”

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelpaper.com
www.starboard.at

Thomas Schneider

RAUBLING PAPIER

2016*

Production

Tonnes

215,926

Sales

Tonnes

217,794

Sales revenues

EUR

EBITDA

EUR k

2,782

EBITDA margin

%

3.4%

EBIT

EUR k

1,290

EBIT margin

%

1.6%

Equity ratio

%

43.5%

Gearing ratio

%

–25.6%

Employees (average)

Number

81,554

138

* Fully consolidated within Heinzel Group from 1 January 2016
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PM10

RENOVATION

ON THE
FAST LANE
The PM10 will be producing brown packaging paper in the future.

Laakirchen Papier is expanding its product line and will
soon also be producing brown packaging materials:
On why the reconstruction of the PM10 will cost roughly
EUR 100 million – and why the Upper Austrian paper
manufacturer is now perfectly equipped for the future.
24
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It is a chilly December morning in the
Upper Austrian Salzkammergut and at
first glance everything seems the same
as always in Laakirchen: The two paper
machines are running at full blast, producing dozens of tonnes of white paper
per hour. Trucks loaded with recycled
paper are hurtling across the vast premises. Currently, however, unusual construction works are taking place in the
warehouse: About 20 construction
workers are on duty, tearing down walls,
hammering and drilling non-stop.
What is happening here is just the beginning of a reconstruction process the
likes of which the Upper Austrian paper
manufacturer has not yet undergone. In
the months to come, Laakirchen Papier
will reinvent itself and expand its product
line: One of the two paper m
 achines, the
PM10, will be producing containerboard.
By contrast, the other machine, the
PM11, will continue making printing
paper and will be increasing its performance considerably after the conversion
of the PM10.
In short, two rather ambitious projects
which will continue to demand a lot from
the whole team in Laakirchen over the
next years.

“Our company will soon be one
of the most competitive and
eco-friendly paper manufacturers
in Europe.”
Mark Lunabba

market in the field of publication paper
for magazines, catalogs and promotion
materials. However, the Upper Austrian
paper manufacturer is helpless against
the general fall in d
 emand in the field of
printing paper. “The slumps in printing
paper amount to almost three per cent
per year worldwide,” says CEO Mark
Lunabba.
One reason for this development is the
global triumph of digital tools. Smartphones, tablets and laptops are gaining
cross-generational acceptance. The
funds of the advertising industry are
gradually moving away from paper to
virtual realms. Publishing houses are

putting together austerity packages,
newspapers and magazines are thinning
out or are discontinued entirely. In
Austria, recent victims of this trend were
the “Seitenblicke Magazin” and the busi-

ness magazine “Format”. Numerous
paper manufacturers in Europe were

also forced to shut down in the past few
years.
At the same time the market for packaging paper is booming and promises to
show immense increases in the years to
come. So-called containerboard, the
kind of which the PM10 will be producing in Laakirchen as of fall 2017, is especially used by online mail-order companies like Amazon and Zalando for their
deliveries. Business is booming and in
the long term a turn in this trend is not in
sight. “The switch to packaging material
is happening at the right time and is very
promising for Laakirchen,” says Thomas
Welt, who as of July 2016 is responsible
for the total production as well as for the
two reconstruction and expansion projects in Laakirchen. “This investment is

EUR 100 MILLION INVESTMENTS
In fact, nobody doubts that this major
effort will be worth it in the end: “Our
company will soon be one of the most
competitive and eco-friendly paper
manufacturers in Europe,” says Mark

Lunabba, CEO of Laakirchen Papier,

and predicts: “In the future we will be
producing about 800,000 tonnes of
paper per year as well as positioning

ourselves with a more versatile product
line. That way our site is secured longterm.”
On 11 August 2016, the Supervisory
Board gave the go-ahead for an investment package worth EUR 100 million.
Due to its convenient location, its reliability and high efficiency, Laakirchen
Papier is well-positioned in the European
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Laakirchen employees in a control room
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The renovation of the PM10 costs about EUR 100 million.

“This investment
is an absolutely
clear sign for
the crew.”
Thomas Welt

an absolutely clear sign for the crew:
Heinzel Group believes in the successful
future of the company.”
A STRATEGIC CHANGE OF COURSE
In the summer of 2017, the most complicated and expensive work of this process to date will commence: the reconstruction of the 130-meter-long and
seven-meter-high PM10 that will cost
EUR 100 million. Project manager
Thomas Welt explains the reasons
behind this large sum: “The PM10 will
only be producing brown packaging
materials in the future and needs to be
extended by 70 meters as well as
mechanically adapted to the new product.” This will require good preparation
and full concentration during the reno
vations, Thomas Welt adds.
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The expansion of the remaining printing
production line is comparatively inexpensive. Increasing the performance of
the PM11 will cost about EUR 5 million.
The project includes moving one of the
calenders that is no longer needed in
the PM10 to the PM11. Here this unit
provides the paper with additional

smoothness and gloss. “That way we are
clearly acknowledging our continued

production of magazine papers,” says
CEO Mark Lunabba. However, as of
August 2017, printing paper will be produced exclusively on the PM11. “The
transition will be smooth, our customers
will not notice the reconstruction in the
mill,” says p
 roject manager Thomas Welt.
The strategic change of course in
Laakirchen will not create a state of


Construction of the fully automatic Starboard roller bearing
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c ompetition with Raubling Papier, which
belongs to Heinzel Group since

beginning of 2016 and which produces
exclusively brown packaging materials.
On the contrary: “The new product line
of Laakirchen Papier is an ideal addition
to the qualities being produced in
Raubling,” explains Kurt Maier, CEO of
Heinzel Group, and adds: “With R
 aubling
and Laakirchen, Heinzel Group will be in
a superb position within the growing
European market for packaging papers.”
Total annual production of brown “starboard” packaging paper is expected to
be 700,000 tonnes, 450,000 tonnes of
which will come from Laakirchen and
the remaining 250,000 tonnes from
Raubling.
A HISTORIC YEAR
This repositioning will bring about a lot of
change in Laakirchen, the whole use of
raw materials will be restructured. In
addition, the shutdown of the calenders
in the PM10 in the course of the product
conversion as well as higher automation
through the use of modern technologies
will reduce the number of personnel. Up
until the end of 2019 about 100 jobs will
become redundant. “Due to the time
extension and the upcoming retirements
we will be able to cushion 80 per cent
through attrition. The pending generational change of the employees benefits
us in this case,” says the head of the

“I have been
witnessing a
fantastic and
highly moti
vated team
here.“
Thomas Welt

The year 2017 promises to be a historic
one for the paper mill in Laakirchen in
any case. “The employees will get used
to the new conditions. I have been
witnessing a fantastic and highly motivated team here and am not at all worried. In 2017 we will be well-equipped
for the future,” says project manager
Thomas Welt summing up the process.
Kurt Maier is not any less optimistic: “In
the future the paper mill Laakirchen will
no longer be standing on one but on two
legs – that is commonly the best way to
stand.”

personnel department Helmut Kinast,
who has been working in Laakirchen for
three decades.
In the summer of 2016 a company
agreement was reached which will
accompany these large changes to

secure the future in terms of personnel
and social policies in Laakirchen. It was
presented to all the employees at the
works meeting on 8 August. The result
was overwhelmingly positive: In a secret
ballot 99.2 per cent of the staff voted in
favor of accepting this basic agreement.
Helmut Kinast: “This broad approval was
a clear sign of the staff towards the
Supervisory Board that it supports the
implementation of this historically
important step of the company.”

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

MANAGEMENT
Mark Lunabba, CEO
Franz Baldauf, CFO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelpaper.com
www.starboard.at

2016

2015

Production

Tonnes

541,873

492,474

Sales

Tonnes

535,354

498,862

Sales revenues

EUR k

243,645

234,054

EBITDA

EUR k

29,430

26,671

EBITDA margin

%

12.1%

11.4%

EBIT

EUR k

12,925

11,011

EBIT margin

%

5.3%

4.7%

Equity ratio

%

48.5%

49.3%

Gearing ratio

%

–18.8%

–22.4%

Employees (average)

Number

506

514
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IN THE LAND
OF THE
FLYING RHINOS
Zellstoff Pöls mill premises

Kraft paper, pulp and power producer in one:
Zellstoff Pöls is one of the most versatile and
successful businesses in S tyria. A visit to a factory
that has perfected its combination play like the
kickers of the FC Barcelona.
It is almost 1 pm and the visitors are still
pouring towards the entrance of the
factory by the dozens. Fire fighters are
guiding motorists onto a field that was
converted into a parking lot on this balmy
fall day. An employee wearing a high-
visibility vest emerges out of the packed
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cafeteria and speaks into her walkie-
talkie: “We need more hot dogs and
buns, we’re almost all out.”
FESTIVAL SPIRIT IN PÖLS
When Zellstoff Pöls hosts an “open
house” for the first time in five years it

feels like a festival. On 17 September
2016 more than 1,500 visitors arrived
before midday alone at the market town
of Pöls-Oberkurzheim in Upper Styria
to see how paper, clean energy and
pulp are produced with state-of-the-art
technology. “We are expecting another

HEINZEL GROUP

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS

OPEN HOUSE
DAY
IN PÖLS

A huge rush of visitors …

… on open house day

wave of more than 1,000 visitors in the
afternoon,” says Andreas Vogel, CEO of
Zellstoff Pöls. “This massive interest

shows us that we are deeply rooted in
the region. There are myths surrounding
the paper and pulp production.” Just this
minute safety helmets are being distributed among a group of about 50 guests.
Soon the visitors will get on a bus that will
take them across the vast premises. It is
one of the many tours that are offered
every 15 minutes during the “open
house”. An employee of Zellstoff Pöls is
standing up front next to the driver with a
microphone in his hand, explaining
some details and answering questions of
interested visitors.
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“We have known this company for so
many years, and now we finally have a
chance to see up close how the work is
really done,” says a young woman, who
is visiting with her two children from the
neighboring town of Judenburg. “I deliver
wood regularly to Zellstoff Pöls, now I
want to see how exactly it is processed,”
says a forester, who arrived together with
his wife from the municipality of
Weißkirchen. One stop of the tour leads
the visitors inside a factory floor with an
outer wall that is decorated with a flying
rhino – the logo of the “Starkraft” paper
manufactured in Pöls. The special thing
about this product: So-called kraft paper
is much sturdier than regular paper. It is

used for packaging food like flour and
sugar, for paper bags, bread bags as well
as in the medical field. “It is a niche
product with a large growth potential,”
says CEO Andreas Vogel.
FASCINATING GLIMPSES
Inside the hall a more than 60-meter-
long and 10-meter-tall steel ship is rattling, thundering and buzzing with
numerous pipes and cables protruding
out of it. It is the new paper machine that
the employees call PM2 for short and
which by now produces more than
80,000 tonnes of kraft paper per year.
“Due to its technical brilliance our paper
machine is the most modern in all of
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ZELLSTOFF PÖLS

 urope. Back then it was a big investE
ment, and it really paid off,” says
Siegfried Gruber, Head of P
 roject Engineering at Zellstoff Pöls.
The process of pulp production is no
less fascinating. Tonnes of tree trunks
are first debarked then chopped into
roughly three-centimeter-long and
five-millimeter-thick chips. These chips
are then passed through a sluice into a
cylindrical tank, where the ingredients
are separated from the fiber through a
chemical process. A large amount of
pulp is sold in Austria, Italy and G
 ermany.
And the company uses some of it to produce its own Starkraft paper. Project
manager Siegfried Gruber explains the
efficient method of operation: “The pulp
is pumped through a pipeline into the
paper machine. This means it does not
– as usual – need to first be transported
from the pulp to the paper mill.”
EXCEPTIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL
MEASURES
The interplay of the production sequence
is reminiscent of the players of the
FC Barcelona, who pass the ball forward
lightning-fast from defense to midfield
up to the strikers. “We have synchronized every detail perfectly. This also

means that absolutely everything is
utilized and we are de facto left with

zero waste,” says Andreas Vogel. After
having been separated from the fibers,
the o ther wood ingredients like lignin are
not simply disposed of. “This high-
quality biofuel is further transported in a
60-meter-
high liquor recovery boiler,
where it is incinerated,” explains
Siegfried Gruber.
These ecological measures of Zellstoff
Pöls are unparalleled in Europe. “Thanks
to the liquor recovery boiler we are
energy-self-sufficient and are even able
to provide district heating for up to
20,000 homes in the region of Aichfeld,”
says Vogel. “There are several families
here who have been working for Zellstoff
Pöls for generations. This makes for a
special atmosphere, you can immedi
ately tell,” says Andreas Vogel, who
together with CFO Ingrid Gruber has

been running the company since April
2016 and who has already become well
acquainted with it.
A COLLECTIVE RECORD FOLLOWING
THE BIG BANG
The roughly 400 employees of Zellstoff
Pöls have become even more tightly-knit
ever since the big bang in March 2014. It

“This massive
interest shows
us that we are
deeply rooted
in the region.”
Andreas Vogel

was then that the liquor recovery boiler
exploded due to a technical malfunction.
“Everyone was committed to rebuilding
the plant and worked together perfectly
to repair the boiler in record time,” says
project manager Siegfried Gruber. “It is
only thanks to them that a new boiler
could be brought into service after a
mere 17 months,” adds Siegfried G
 ruber.
“We have invested in state-of-the-art
technology and safety measures to
ensure that this kind of incident can be
more or less completely ruled out for the
future,” he recapitulates.
The employees of Zellstoff Pöls already
celebrated the activation of the new
boiler and the new PM2 together with
the clients and suppliers on the evening
before the open house: One of the
industrial buildings on the premises was
converted into a reception hall. The
management of the pulp manufacturer
put on a gala dinner under the m
 otto
“our moment in the mill”. “After the
successful implementation of these two
large projects it was important to us to
say thank you to all those people who
made this success possible,” says Ingrid
Gruber, CFO of Zellstoff Pöls.

Many attractions for young and old
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Meanwhile it is nearly 2:30 pm. The rush
of visitors of the “open house” seems to
not want to end. Dozens of guests are
recharging with some goulash, sausages

HEINZEL GROUP
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CEO Andreas Vogel (left) and CFO Ingrid Gruber

Protective helmets and safety jackets for the visitors

and drinks in the cafeteria. Right in front
of it a couple of children are kicking soccer balls against a goal wall that was
mounted for the special day. Andreas
Vogel is saying goodbye to some guests,
welcoming new arrivals, chatting with
parents about job opportunities at his
company, then he asks his co-workers to

Family excursion to pulp manufacturing mill

take care of culinary replenishments. “A
great experience,” says Vogel and sums
it up: “We really cannot let another five
years go by until our next ‘open house’.”

MANAGEMENT
Andreas Vogel, CEO
Ingrid Gruber, CFO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.zellstoff-poels.at
www.starkraft.at
VIDEO

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

2016

2015

Tonnes

439,316

259,503

thereof market pulp

Tonnes

354,788

184,147

thereof paper

Tonnes

84,528

75,356

Total production

Total sales

Tonnes

432,142

251,476

thereof market pulp

Tonnes

349,401

176,934

thereof paper

Tonnes

82,742

74,542

Sales revenues

EUR k

251,841

184,212

EBITDA

EUR k

57,257

78,331

EBITDA margin

%

22.7%

42.5%

EBIT

EUR k

35,505

59,799

EBIT margin

%

14.1%

32.5%

Equity ratio

%

57.4%

54.1%

Gearing ratio

%

13.8%

20.3%

Employees (average)

Number

399

389
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TO KUNDA!
The industry meeting in the pulp mill in Kunda

The Estonian pulp manufacturer celebrated its
10th anniversary in September 2016 – with an
industry conference the likes of which the country
had never seen.
A tiny place on the rugged northern
coast of Estonia: 4,000 inhabitants, a
cement factory, a port – and right next to
the center: the modern premises of the
pulp manufacturer, Estonian Cell.
Welcome to Kunda, a small town just

one and a half hours by car from the
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country’s capital, Tallinn. On 13 September 2016, a small piece of Estonian
industrial history was made here.
More than 170 prominent figures from
the worlds of politics, economics, and
culture came to Kunda to participate in a

kind of conference that had never taken
place there before. Estonian Cell’s team
celebrated the 10 th anniversary of its
plant and came up with a special idea to
have a fully sponsored conference in the
backwater of the country for the occasion. Following the theme, “Starts and

HEINZEL GROUP

ESTONIAN CELL

CTO Lauri Raid (left) and CFO Sirii Lahe

“The conference and
celebrations that followed
were a real success.”
Siiri Lahe

Stops of Estonian Industry”, many prominent speakers from the business and
political elite discussed the future of
Estonian industry, the attractiveness of
the country to foreign investors, the
development of Estonian exports, as well
as the growing importance of “smart
factories”.
A GOOD IMAGE
For the industry conference, the pulp
plant in Kunda was converted into a
makeshift conference center equipped
for every technical requirement. The
management even set up their own marquee for the gala dinner that followed.
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“An event like this has never taken place
in Estonia before. Therefore, we definitely
wanted to set it up in our plant,” said Siiri
Lahe, CFO of Estonian Cell. “This of
course presented a major logistical challenge, but ultimately, the effort was worth
it. The conference and celebrations that
followed were a real success.”
SHOWERED WITH ACCOLADES
In the past 10 years, the Estonian subsidiary of Heinzel Group has become a
major economic player and has received
numerous awards for its innovative and
environmentally friendly production
techniques, including the “Environmentally Friendly Company”, the European
Business Award for the best Estonian
company in the category “Environmental
and Corporate Sustainability” and the
Estonian entrepreneurship award “Innovator of the Year” for 2015. All juries
were impressed by the company’s bio-

gas plant, opened in 2014, in which it
has invested a total of EUR 11 million. In
addition to reducing the amount of
natural gas it requires, this system has
cut down its CO2 emissions by 30 per
cent. The project expectations for biogas have already been exceeded by over
20 per cent in 2016. The guests were
equally interested in seeing the biogas
plant and pulp mill from within.
According to Kersti Lužkov, the environment and quality manager of Estonian
Cell who was also a tour leader, the
guests acknowledged the high standards, level of automation and cleanliness of the company’s facilities. “You
could waltz in here in a morning suit,”
one of the guests commented. As Kersti
Lužkov said, “I was really proud to wear
an Estonian Cell badge that day and be
part of the success story.”
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SENSITIVE ISSUES
The conference was opened by Mr. Siim
Kallas, the former Estonian Prime
Minister and E

uropean Commissioner,
as a speaker. Mr. Kallas praised Estonian
Cell especially underlining its world-class
technology that Estonia should be proud
of and celebrate the company’s success.
Marko Pomerants, the Estonian Minister
of the Environment, was the next to
speak. He praised Estonian Cell as a
flagship company that is a global player
and a pioneer in environmental protection at the same time. Pomerants
humorously confessed that Estonian Cell
is under his personal surveillance. “My
next-door neighbor is a shift manager at
Estonian Cell. When I see that he and his
family are happy, I know that everything
is going well at Estonian Cell.”
It didn’t take long for a hot topic in the
Estonian economy to be raised at the
conference: the high energy tax for
Estonian industrial enterprises. A little

background: In terms of energy taxes,
the current legal situation has adversely
affected domestic companies compared
to companies in other EU states, which

From left: Kurt Maier, Siim Kallas, Riia Sillave

Stimulating discussion

has been a thorn in the side of Estonian
companies for a long time.
But that may be changing. Some solace
could at least be found in the speech
from Viljar Lubi, Deputy Secretary
General for Economic Development at

the Estonian Ministry of Economic A
 ffairs
and Communications. Lubi reported that
a reform of the energy tax laws in favor of

The conference scored big with top-notch speeches.

“There seemed to be
a great need to talk
about the future of
our country within such
a framework.”
Lauri Raid
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domestic companies was being considered.

as Lauri Raid, CTO of Estonian Cell,
summed it up.

Kurt Maier, CEO of Heinzel Group, also
denounced this blatant competitive disadvantage and pricked up some ears
with this strong announcement in his
keynote speech: “If the Estonian government adjusts their energy tax for domestic enterprises, we will invest another
EUR 20 million in our subsidiary,
Estonian Cell.”

PARTY MOOD
The organization of the subsequent gala
dinner, sponsored by Heinzel Group,
presented a further challenge to the
Estonian Cell team. “We wanted to offer
our premises to our guests for the whole
day. And we managed to do so successfully with the means of a large party tent,
where the gala dinner took place,” said
Lauri Raid.

SMART FACTORIES
The day’s program continued at a high
level: Sebastian Heinzel, Chief Strategist
of heinzelsales, dedicated his talk to his
vision of “smart factories”. Radical technological changes will bring new requirements with them into the professional
world, according to Heinzel: “The most
sought-after workers will be those who
understand the business world and the
language of the programmer and can
translate this to the other side.”

This tent remained standing the next
day: In order to pay tribute to their
common future, the management of

Estonian Cell celebrated the next evening with their team of 86 employees.
And what lies ahead is indeed very
promising: According to Heinzel Group,
it is quite possible that pulp production in
Kunda will be expanded to 200,000
tonnes – given that the energy taxes are
reduced accordingly.

Sebastian Heinzel on stage

Huge anniversary cake: 10 Years Estonian Cell

The conference continued into the late
afternoon: The room was full right to the
end, rather unusual for these kinds of
conferences. “There seemed to be a
great need to talk about the future of our
country within such a framework. Many
of the participants have thanked us for it
and praised the quality of contributions,”

MANAGEMENT
Siiri Lahe, CFO
Lauri Raid, CTO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.estoniancell.ee

AS ESTONIAN CELL

2016

2015

Production

Tonnes

173,099

169,294

Sales

Tonnes

172,184

173,732

Sales revenues

EUR k

64,472

68,668

EBITDA

EUR k

12,878

14,755

EBITDA margin

%

20.0%

21.5%

EBIT

EUR k

3,962

5,452

EBIT margin

%

6.1%

7.9%

Equity ratio

%

47.6%

58.7%

Gearing ratio

%

45.7%

46.2%

Employees (average)

Number

86

85
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“WE ARE
OPTIMISTS.”
Sebastian Heinzel (left) will succeed Andrew Paul in June 2017.

After 37 extremely active years at heinzelsales, Andrew Paul is
retiring in June 2017. Sebastian Heinzel will take over the role of CEO
from his sparring partner. A conversation with both of them over
past and future, million-tonne hurdles, and the unshakable optimism
within Heinzel Group.
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THE NEXT
GENERATION AT
HEINZELSALES

heinzelsales and Andrew Paul have
been inextricably linked for decades.
When exactly did you join the trading
company, Mr. Paul?
Andrew Paul: That was in 1980. At that
time, in addition to a paper manager,
there was also a pulp manager named
Kausel at Wilfried Heinzel AG, and he
was looking for an assistant. I applied for
the job and got it, not least due to my
English skills, since I’m half Irish, I grew
up bilingual. From the outset, my main
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duties included negotiations with overseas suppliers, especially with Canadian
pulp suppliers.
Did you consciously choose this indus
try?
Andrew Paul: No, it was pretty much by
chance. I sent out applications to potential employers after completing my studies. Wilfried Heinzel AG was ready to
meet my demands, so I took the job
being offered. In retrospect, this was the

right long-term decision for the wrong
reason.
How should we imagine Wilfried Heinzel AG
in 1980?
Andrew Paul: heinzelsales was a classic
trading house with 32 employees in
Vienna. Our office was diagonally opposite the State Opera House, in the same
premises where the Indian Embassy is
now located. The sales manager sat
behind a glass wall, outside, his colleague
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be conducted in the private villa diagonally opposite to it. Because it was my
job to relieve Mr. Kausel, I was soon
already going in and out of there.
Wilfried Heinzel was very present during
my first decade working, I worked with
him and learned from him. I still remember my first encounter with him very
clearly: I was standing in the director’s
office when he came out of his office
and said something to me. He looked
directly at me, saw that I didn’t understand a single word, and just laughed.
Due to a slight facial paralysis, his pronunciation was very unclear, incomprehensible at first. But soon I learned how
to understand him. At our second meeting, he was already offering me half his
sandwich as a token of kindness.
And what is your memory of your direct
superior, Mr. Kausel?

Andrew Paul

used a typewriter. In 1980, the company
had three distribution companies – one
in Germany, one in Switzerland, and a
newly founded one in New York – and
had sold a total of 166,300 tonnes of
pulp and paper in 11 countries, above all
Austria’s neighboring countries to the
east.
In comparison, we now have 76 employees from 30 nations in Vienna alone, and
another 40 are engaged in our eight subsidiaries. In addition, we have 21 liaison
offices in 27 countries worldwide. In
terms of volume, we have reached a total
of 2.51 million tonnes in 2016, which
went to 99 countries.
But back to my early years: In 1981, we
established a site in Cairo and launched
our expansion into the Near and Middle
East. At the same time, we expanded our
operations in the Soviet Union and the
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Eastern bloc countries. By 1990, our
volume had already grown to 429,000
tonnes.
What was the role of founder Wilfried
Heinzel in your early years?
Andrew Paul: Until 1991, he was chairman of his paper firm, to which in addition to the trading house, the recycled
paper distributor Bunzl & Biach also
belonged, as well as two paper mills: one
in Laakirchen, which was acquired in the
1960s, and one in Ortmann, which was
purchased in 1980.
Wilfried Heinzel demanded six and a half
days per week from his higher-level staff
in the trading house – in particular, the
two directors. It was taken for granted
that they would come to the office villa
on Starkfriedgasse on Saturdays and in
particular, that exclusive meetings would

Andrew Paul: Mr. Kausel was an absolute institution, rarely seen nowadays.
His plan was that I would work with him
for five years, until he retired at the age of
62. That actually turned out to be the
case, and I took over the department in
1985 on his recommendation as general
manager of the pulp division. He was
also a model to me in this respect, I’m
going to retire at 62. Although I was in
the company longer than Mr. Kausel –
I don’t know of anyone who has been
consistently longer at Heinzel than
myself.
When and where did you meet Alfred
Heinzel?
Andrew Paul: I had my first contact with
him very soon after my start at Wilfried
Heinzel AG because he was the sales
director of the paper mill in Laakirchen,
which I supplied with Russian pulp.
Alfred Heinzel told me time and time
again that his uncle Wilfried had almost
sold Laakirchen to the Swedish SCA
group in 1998. This moment was a big
break for us at the trading house, which
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“We weren’t always
prepared – but we
were always mindful and kept close
watch on what was
coming.”
Andrew Paul

all the capital cities of the Eastern bloc
canvassed for price negotiations once
per quarter, which always delivered according to the same scheme: After hours
of negotiations, they met us exactly in
the middle. After the fall of the Iron Curtain and privatization, things were a lot
more disorganized and chaotic. Then we
had to fight for our position again.
At the turn of the millennium, a new era
began at heinzelsales. With the pur
chase of Zellstoff Pöls, Alfred Heinzel
laid the foundation for Heinzel Group in

That sounds like an ongoing success
story. Was it always so easy to grow?
Andrew Paul: No. That may seem the
case in retrospect, but there were always
moments where we didn’t know how to
proceed. It was exactly at these times
when our true strength was evident: our
optimism. Because we were not ready
nor secure – but always in training, we
have always been careful about and
closely watched what was coming. Here,
the particular constitution of the Heinzel
family always rubbed off positively on the

was not sold: All at once, there were
no more family-owned manufacturing
plants, and we had to provide a new
basis for our business.
That takes us to 1991, when Wilfried
Heinzel completely retired from working
life and sold his trading company to his
nephew Alfred. What did this mean for
you?
Andrew Paul: Alfred Heinzel took over
the majority of Wilfried Heinzel AG at that
time together with the incumbent chairman Heinz Zinner. The Heinzel family
nominated me as the second member of
the board, and up to the year 2003,
Heinz Zinner and I led the company
together. When Heinz Zinner then retired
– by the way, also at the age of 62 – I was
appointed as CEO.
In this context, I would like to share an
anecdote: In 2003, we had just reached
the million-tonne mark. As Heinz Zinner
bid farewell to me, he told me I could
retire once the two-million barrier was
cracked. We thought it was unreachable
at the time. But now we are already
clearly beyond that point.
How did you compensate for the busi
ness lost after the sale of Laakirchen?
Andrew Paul: We intensified our contacts in Eastern Europe, especially in
Russia after the collapse of the Soviet
Union. We were already intensely doing
business there during Soviet times, and
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its present form. The Czech plant Biocel
Paskov followed in 2001, Estonian Cell
was established in 2006.
Andrew Paul: Yes, the year 2000
changed our profile tremendously.
heinzelsales was part of an industrial
group, and we had to organize the sales
for the own plants. We also pushed our
commitment in North America and Asia
at the time. In 2002, we had 50 employees in Vienna, 20 sales offices and liaison offices, and sold 1.15 million tonnes.

company. It must be due to a special
family gene – to make courageous decisions, to think and approach things
unconventionally. I see also this distinctive trait of Wilfried and Alfred Heinzel in
Sebastian Heinzel.
We’ll ask him that himself straight away:
Do you see those similarities?
Sebastian Heinzel: I can see differences
between the generations, but certainly
there are also important similarities, as
colleagues often assure me: Our entre-
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preneurial spirit, the desire to address
issues, accepting challenges, and we
know exactly what we want – that runs
through our family. For us, it’s about
having fun building things up, not making money. We like to go out onto the
playing field.
Where do you see the differences
between the current everyday industry
and the past discussed earlier?
Sebastian Heinzel: The business is still
the same: It’s ultimately about getting
goods from point A to point B – and that
of course has to do with logistics, customs, payment processing, etc. But
today our tools are more modern – which
makes us faster, more productive, and
more efficient. Today, heinzelsales has a
total of about 100 employees who deal
with around two and a half million tonnes
a year – this indicates an enormous
increase in productivity compared to the
32 employees and 166,300 tonnes in
1980.
Pulp and paper trading has also changed
in that information now flows around the

world much faster. Earlier, dealers had a
certain information advantage, were
aware of price differences between different markets, and could use them for
themselves. Today, the global industry
learns within minutes when the prices
are shifting in China. These days, for the
dealers, it’s a lot more about managing
the risks in emerging markets around the
world.

“I have benefited
enormously from
our time together and
I couldn’t imagine
a better handover.”
Sebastian Heinzel

Why do we still need paper traders in
our digitized working world? Can’t cus
tomers and suppliers just meet on online
platforms?
Sebastian Heinzel: That just doesn’t
work. We deal with extremely individualized products, each roll of paper is produced according to our customer’s
requests and could not simply be taken
over by another customer. This requires
competent interfaces and a precise
knowledge of the market and the transport and trade routes. No manufacturing
company is able to nor wants to do this
itself for all the markets in the world,
because we have a bridging function. In
addition to this, there’s the risk, which is

considerable in many countries outside
Europe or North America. A pulp or
paper producer doesn’t know which

customers he should sell to in Egypt or
Argentina and which he shouldn’t. We
relieve our partners of this risk of failure.
With our extensive experience and our
know-how, we forge a competitive edge
in challenging overseas markets.
We learned from Andrew Paul that he
came to heinzelsales by chance. This
cannot be said of you, Mr. Heinzel. After
accumulating your first professional
experiences outside of Heinzel Group,
you then entered the family business in
2013.
Sebastian Heinzel: I was able to freely
decide in which of the companies within
the group I wanted to engage. My father
appointed Andrew Paul as my mentor,
and after getting to know all the companies more closely, I decided on heinzelsales in the end. In retrospect, this decision had a certain logic, because the
trading house was indeed the origin of
everything and connects all the enterprises of the group. That is the common
thread.
What challenges is heinzelsales now
facing?
Sebastian Heinzel: One is that we definitely want to continue to grow: The
three-million tonne mark is already
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during this time and to support the continuously positive development here.
I also liked bringing the family closer
together, but the role of external sparring
partner suits me well. And when I see
how well things currently stand, on what
successful path heinzelsales has
embarked, then this is a good time for
me to retire.
Sebastian Heinzel: At any rate, I have
benefited from our time together enormously and it was a lot of fun – humor is
never lost on us. I couldn’t imagine a
better handover. But now I have to find
new sparring partners.

Sparring partners Sebastian Heinzel and Andrew Paul

v isible on the horizon, and our ambitions
go even further. We want to gradually fill
up the last white patches left on our
map, and build up our knowledge of and
skills for all the pulp and paper products
in all the markets. So we have a lot more
work ahead of us in parts of Africa, Asia,
and Latin America.

central tasks now is to build the team
around me, which is walking in the
former team’s footsteps.

On the other hand, we have to expedite
our internal reconstruction since the
pioneer generation surrounding Andrew
Paul is gradually departing. One of my

Andrew Paul: As has already been mentioned, retiring at the age of 62 almost
seems to be a tradition at heinzelsales.
In any case, it was great to be here

Mr. Paul, to everyone else, you seem to
be ready to retire. Are you finding your
departure from the company that has
shaped you for so long difficult?
MANAGEMENT
Andrew Paul, CEO
Sebastian Heinzel, CSO
Dietmar Geigl, CFO
Moncef Reisner, COO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.heinzelsales.com

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

2016

2015

Tonnes

2,511,167

2,065,450

thereof pulp

Tonnes

1,128,064

923,480

thereof paper/board

Tonnes

1,369,035

1,131,607

thereof other

Tonnes

14,067

10,363

Consolidated sales revenues

EUR k

643,977

516,457

EBITDA

EUR k

16,021

12,296

EBITDA margin

%

EBIT

EUR k

EBIT margin

Total sales

2.5%

2.4%

13,144

10,115

%

2.0%

2.0%

Equity ratio

%

27.0%

28.5%

Gearing ratio

%

6.0%

–3.8%

Employees (average)

Number

111

101
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COLOR THEORY
New slogan: “FIRST OF ALL – EUROPAPIER”

New times, new products – and a new logo:
four stories from the colorful world of Europapier –
with corresponding colors.
44
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“The time
had come
for a new
look.”
Helmut Limbeck

company was founded. The time had
come for a new look,” said Helmut
Limbeck, CEO of Europapier I nternational.
“With our new brand image, we are
communicating to our customers that in
the future, we will continue to be a reliable partner at their side, supporting
them in their development in the best
possible way.”

Those who are familiar with the Euro
papier headquarters on Autokaderstraße
86, located in the foothills of Vienna’s
21st district, will have noticed that the
traditional green-and-white-striped logo
is history. For the past few months, the
new Europapier symbol has been displayed at the headquarters’ entrance for
all to see: The lettering is now simpler,
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the letter “O” in the company name has
been transformed into an elegant,
brightly colored hexagon. To the left is
their new slogan in large letters: “FIRST
OF ALL – EUROPAPIER.”
Europapier has a total of 16 subsidiaries
in 13 countries in Southern and Eastern
Europe. “A lot has changed since the

How is that possible in a total market
of 496 million people? “Through an
increas
ingly diverse product portfolio
which is continuously expanded. In this
way, we are always striving to adapt our
selection of goods and services to the
constantly changing market conditions.
At the same time, we try to access
growth industries and position ourselves
as broadly as possible,” explains Jörg
Bierlein, Chief Operating Officer of Europapier. In the meantime, their portfolio
now includes everything from classic
paper and packaging products to specialty paper products such as cut film,
printers, and hygiene products.
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GREEN
PAPER AND PACKAGING
Europapier has always had a special
relationship with Eastern Europe. “As our
head office is in Vienna, we are already
located near these countries. We also
share many linguistic, cultural, and historical affinities, which we also use for
business,” explains Helmut Limbeck.
And this is a crucial competitive advantage.
Europapier is therefore far more than a
wholesale paper company. Its product
range has grown considerably over the
years, especially in the area of designer
stationery. “The challenge is always to
seek out the appropriate quality for each
customer project among thousands of
items,” says Jörg Bierlein. The wide
range of paper stock includes varieties
that are dyed and textured, shiny
mother-of-pearl, white and colored

transparent, cast-coated, 100 per cent
cotton, upcycled, with a mirror-gloss
effect, very dense, as well as envelopes
and much more.
“At the moment, when it comes to
designer stationery, it’s about creating

needs. For this, we first have to understand our customer’s project in order to
be able to recommend the right types of
paper. Ultimately, it’s also the choice
of paper that conveys messages,” says
Bierlein.
It is the special interplay of the content,
graphics, text, colors, and finish of the
paper which decides what emotions are
transported. “To hold high-quality,
crafted printed work in your hand, to

page through it and actually feel the
emotion of the product or the brand with
your fingertips, this sensual experience
reinforces the visual content of the information many times over,” explains
Sandra Schmidt, who is Head of Busi-
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ness Lead Design at Europapier. Since
the range of designer stationery available
in the market is huge, the proper selection and an enormous product knowhow is required. Europapier continually
shares this expertise in the form of lectures and presentations that they give at
universities and technical colleges.
VIENNA DESIGN WEEK
Europapier demonstrates how important
art is to the company at events like
Vienna Design Week 2016. Through the
initiative of Sandra Schmidt, Europapier
commissioned Ardan Özmenoğlu to create a highly acclaimed entry that combined paper crafts, design, and contemporary art: The Turkish artist produced
paper carpets with which she interpreted
traditional Ottoman patterns in a contem-

BLUE
HYGIENE ITEMS
The sanitary product business is a relatively new field for Europapier. “We see a
lot of growth potential in this market,”
says Jörg Bierlein. In addition to various
activities by the subsidiaries, an important step was taken by the Europapier
Slovak company: Based in Bratislava,
Europapier Slovensko acquired the
hygiene business of Lynne SK a few

months ago, an important Slovak player
in the so-called away-from-home sector,
the B2B hygiene product business. “The
purchase of this company fits our long-

The Artist Ardan Özmenoğlu

porary manner. What was special about it
was that the artist used over 50 types of
designer stationery from the Europapier
product range. “The project was well-
received by the paper industry, the
creative scene, as well as the Turkish

Consulate in Vienna, and is yet another
example of how versatilely paper can be
used,” enthused Daniel Richter, Managing Director of Europapier Austria.

term goal of developing a strong and
stable provider of sanitary products,”

says Josef Misof, CEO of Europapier
Slovensko. “We will combine the knowhow and the existing customer contacts
of the new team around the former
owner Adriana Keszlerova with the

stability and the growth opportunities

of the multi
national paper wholesaler
Europapier.”
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MAGENTA
ADVERTISING TECHNOLOGY
Europapier Management also sees a
growth market in advertising technology
and is therefore setting up a broader
range for this area, as well as continuously developing it further. In 2015,
Europapier took over the advertising

technology division of the Austrian
wholesaler PaperNet, with a total of 15
employees. The product portfolio is now
constantly being expanded. Currently, in
addition to paper, plastic, and fabric
media made for indoor and outdoor use,
Europapier offers its nationwide customers large-format printers, laminators,
paper-cutting machines, and software

solutions. Typical applications include
vehicle and display window advertising,

interior and exterior decorations, as well
as signage, flags, printed building nets,
and much more.
In 2016, the advertising technology team
came up with an original campaign: For
two weeks, experts toured Austria in a
rented truck specially designed by Europapier. In the course of this road show,
the Europapier employees visited interested clients on location and presented
them with new products, as well as

“The challenge is always to seek
out the appropriate quality for
each customer project among
thousands of items.”

s pecial offers such as custom-built latex
printers and paper trimmers that can be
used for further processing. According
to Europapier’s Managing Director of
Advertising Technology, Michael Hicker,
“The tour was a complete success, the
sales team was able to generate additional machine sales in this way.”

MANAGEMENT
Helmut Limbeck, CEO
Jörg Bierlein, COO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.europapier.com
VIDEO

Jörg Bierlein

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

2016

2015

Tonnes

592,736

593,417

thereof printing

Tonnes

377,415

376,858

thereof office paper

Tonnes

196,720

201,368

thereof other

Tonnes

18,601

15,190

Consolidated sales revenues

EUR k

528,283

512,054

EBITDA

EUR k

11,911

14,715

EBITDA margin

%

2.3%

2.9%

EBIT

EUR k

9,633

11,623

EBITmargin

%

1.8%

2.3%

Equity ratio

%

36.4%

33.9%

Gearing ratio

%

70.2%

83.5%

Employees (average)

Number

998

906

Total sales

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16

47

WHAT YOU
ALWAYS WANTED
TO KNOW ABOUT
RECYCLED PAPER
Compressed recycled paper at the Bunzl & Biach premises

Seven facts about a valuable resource – and
why the recycled paper dealer Bunzl & Biach is
an important player in Heinzel Group.
48

HEINZEL GROUP

BUNZL & BIACH

1. SEPARATING WASTEPAPER
MAKES SENSE
The rumor has persisted for years: Separating waste is actually meaningless,
since in the end everything will be thrown
back together and burned by the municipalities anyway. When it comes to
wastepaper at least, this claim can be
quickly refuted. If you want to know
where all those newspapers and shoeboxes land after they’re disposed of in
the designated wastepaper containers,
check out Bunzl & Biach on Steinheilgasse in the 21st district. Here, on the
northern outskirts of Vienna, the largest
private commercial enterprise in the field
of domestic wastepaper has its headquarters. In the halls of the large, extensive industrial grounds sit piles of bales
of wastepaper, pressed together and tied
up, as far as the eye can see. “We meticulously sort the wastepaper into each
variety of paper and board and resell it
as raw material to the paper and pack
aging industry,” says Andreas Mang,
Managing Director of Bunzl & 

Biach.
At the moment, an average of about

Austria has to import recycled paper from neighboring countries.

170 kilograms of wastepaper per person
and year is currently collected in Austria,
of which nearly 80 kilograms comes
from the household sector. “Whoever
separates their waste is actively contributing to the conservation of resources
and the protection of the environment.”
2. AUSTRIA NEEDS MORE RECYCLED
PAPER
The Austrians are well on their way when
it comes to the separation of wastepaper:
More than 75 per cent of discarded
quantities are recycled in this country. In
comparison to the rest of Europe, this is

a peak value – yet still not nearly enough
to cover the needs of domestic industries. Austrian paper and board manufacturers export most of their products,
which also of course results in the production of wastepaper overseas. The
Austrian paper and containerboard
industry required about 2.4 million

tonnes of wastepaper last year. Currently,
less than 1.5 million tonnes can be collected domestically – the rest has to be
imported (see chart below). Some neighboring countries of Austria, including the
Czech Republic and Italy, with their
already good but still expandable collec-

RECYCLED PAPER IN AUSTRIA

Import

Export
2015
0.30 m tonnes

2020 estimation
0.50 m tonnes

2015
1.23 m tonnes

Collection
2015
1.49 m tonnes
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2020 estimation
1.49 m tonnes

2020 estimation
2.00 m tonnes

Consumption
2015
2.35 m tonnes

2020 estimation
3.00 m tonnes
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tion infrastructure (see chart), are increasingly offering potential imports.
3. CHINA NEEDS OUR RECYCLED PAPER,
TOO
Asia also doesn’t collect enough wastepaper and must import this commodity.
China alone purchases more than five
million tonnes of packaging paper from
Europe – a considerable amount, which
only finds its way back into the European
paper circulation through product packaging. “Within the EU, through an increase of the recycling rate of 71.5 per
cent to the current EU target of an average of 74 per cent, an additional wastepaper quantity of only approximately two
million tonnes per year would be theo
retically available. This is based mainly
on the future wastepaper collection behavior of the countries in Southern and
Eastern Europe,” says Andreas Mang.
4. THE RECYCLED PAPER BUSINESS IS
COMPLEX
Bunzl & Biach buys, collects, and sorts
wastepaper in order to sell it back to the
industry in the end. But wastepaper is
not just wastepaper. The differences
between some varieties of paper are

visually and physically recognizable even
to laypeople: newspaper, corrugated
cardboard, and hygiene products. “We
sort the generally known types of recycled paper, cardboard, newspaper,
magazines, and documents, but on a
much more precise level, into almost
100 different subcategories. Only in
this way do we meet the high-quality
requirements of the paper industry.

This diversity contributes to the com
plexity of wastepaper business,” explains
Andreas Mang.
5. THE BRIGHTER THE PAPER, THE
MORE VALUABLE
The value of recycled paper depends
entirely on the quality of the products –
and this is not always immediately recognized by the layman. For example, ash
and wood content are important factors
in determining the value. As a rule of
thumb: the brighter the paper, the more
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valuable it is. In addition, colleagues with
years of experience distinguish between
valuable and worthless wastepaper
through special methods such as tearing
or smelling tests. Within the collections
of printed matter, newspapers are more
sought-after than glossy magazines, and
single-variety office paper is in turn more
precious than the mixed colored paper
remnants that come from households.

“We sort the
generally known
types of paper
into almost
100 different
subcategories.”
Andreas Mang

6. PACKAGING BOARD IS BOOMING,
MAGAZINES ARE NO LONGER IN
The age of the internet can also be recognized in the wastepaper bin, where
fewer newspapers and magazines, and
more boxes from Amazon and other
booming online retailers indicate a big
transformation in supply and demand.
Only a few years ago, household wastepaper consisted of nearly 80 per cent

“white” paper (newspapers, magazines,
advertising brochures, as well as printing
and writing paper) and only 20 per cent
of packaging material, i.e. board. This

WASTEPAPER COLLECTION IN AUSTRIA’S
NEIGHBORING COUNTRIES

2,628
Netherlands

2,485
Poland

1,667
Belgium

15,221
Germany

950

Czech Republic

7,122
France

Laakirchen

300 km

6,348
Italy

600 km

519
Hungary

1,490
Austria

1,256
Switzerland

Collection in 1,000 tonnes

331
Slovakia

235
245
Slovenia
Croatia

Recycling rate >70%

Recycling rate 60–70%
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476

Romania

Recycling rate <60%
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ratio has been gradually changing in
favor of the packaging: “In the meantime, packaging from regional household collections has already increased to
over 30 per cent – this increase will continue in the coming years,” says
Andreas Mang. S
imilar trends
can be observed in the commercial and industrial sectors: Currently in Austria, the total volume
of wastepaper from the domestic packaging industry is already over 50 per
cent and rising, which is mainly manufactured into corrugated containerboard
and folding boxes.
7. TISSUES ARE LUXURY PRODUCTS
Usually, wastepaper can be recycled up
to six times. At that point, the wood fibers
in the paper are finally no longer suitable
for production. Hygiene products such
as tissues and toilet paper are the exception. At the moment, high-quality wastepaper is partly required for the production of these types of hygiene products.
For these products, the fibers are mostly
lost because in most cases, recycling is
no longer possible after they are used.
Therefore, throughout Europe, approximately 20 per cent of new paper is also
no longer usable, which accounts for the

Usually, wastepaper
can be recycled up to
six times.

fact that the potential collection rate is
currently limited to about 80 per cent.
This also applies to the worldwide production of app. 400 million tonnes of
paper and board.

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Total trading volume

MANAGEMENT
Andreas Mang, CEO
Klaus Vlach, CFO
FURTHER INFORMATION
www.bunzl-biach.at

2016

2015

Tonnes

896,413

674,544

thereof recycled paper

Tonnes

580,155

577,965

thereof recycled board

Tonnes

293,976

89,626

thereof other

Tonnes

22,282

6,953

Sales revenues

EUR k

127,429

92,368

EBITDA

EUR k

4,586

4,849

EBITDA margin

%

3.6%

5.3%

EBIT

EUR k

2,966

3,529

EBIT margin

%

2.3%

3.8%

Equity ratio

%

46.1%

52.1%

Gearing ratio

%

–15.9%

–8.3%

Employees (average)

Number

163

134
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MI TA R BEI T ER

EXTRAORDINARY
Employee award at the Albertina

It is one of the traditional fixed dates and highlights
in the yearly Heinzel Group calendar – that evening in
late March, when management and employees nominated
for the sought-after awards come together in Vienna’s
Albertina.
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Presentation of the Awards of Excellence

30 March 2017. Nearly eighty festively
clad ladies and gentlemen, who traveled
here just for this evening, step into the
staterooms of the Baroque city palace,
which is the home of one of the most
important art collections of the world.
Even though many of them start off the
evening with a special guided tour
through the current exhibition, it is not
Egon Schiele’s works on display there
that mark the reason for their visit. However, in terms of content the artworks’
passion, innovation and masterful technique do indeed set the stage for the
main program of the evening, when
Heinzel Group celebrates the past fiscal
year and the outstanding achievements
of its team.
After all, the theme of this year’s event is
“out of the box“. Sebastian Heinzel
explains why: “In our annual event we
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look outside of the box at future trends
and new developments. And due to our
big introduction into the containerboard
business the box itself, the packaging,
has become our focus. But also our
employees, who have been nominated
for our Award of Excellence for their
extraordinary achievements, have proven
that they can think ‘out of the box’.”
But before this year’s award winners –
who are kept secret until the ceremony
– are presented and celebrated, the program of the evening includes a retrospective of the past fiscal year as well as
a preview of future developments. This
year, the new CEO of Heinzel Group, Kurt
Maier, presented this part for the first
time. “Looking back at 2016 as a successful fiscal year, we do so with a clear
focus: What can we learn from it for the
present and for the future, and how do

we implement what we learned,” said
Maier. What followed was a virtual
360-degree tour of Laakirchen Papier –
experienced through Google Cardboard
goggles in perfect correspondence to
the topic.
Afterwards, the festive party moved into
the Hall of the Muses for the gala dinner.
Finally, the presentation of the three
Awards of Excellence and of the Energy
Award, moderated by Christoph Heinzel,
brought the evening to a solemn close.

MORE OF THE EVENT
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THE NOMINEES OF 2016
Awards of Excellence
Company

Nominee

Project

Estonian Cell

Meelis Kuzma

Elimination of the previous shortage of supply
through PEFC certified wood from private forestries

Estonian Cell

Risto Liiv

Unconventional solution approach to the
conversion of the polymer dosage system of the
wastewater treatment plant

Europapier

Ante Suton, Dragutin Ilic

Regional cooperation between Europapier
Hercegtisak and Europapier Dunav Papir for the
consolidation of working capital

Europapier

Sandra Schmidt

Idea and conception for Europapier’s participation
at the Vienna Design Week

heinzelsales

Kim Martinovich

Exceptionally high dedication to customer service
and to the order processing of fluff pulp

heinzelsales

Carlo Varini

Longstanding great sales successes in the Italian
market with products from Raubling and Pöls

Laakirchen Papier

Nikolaus Kaindl, Christian Hufnagel

Successful preparation of the environmental
impact assessment for the hydropower plant in
Laakirchen

Laakirchen Papier

Jan Reibert, Helmut Bruckschlögl

New production records of the PM10 in
Laakirchen

Raubling Papier

Karin Guth

Exceptional efforts in the integration of
Raubling Papier into Heinzel Group

Zellstoff Pöls

Christian Katschnig, Petra Überer,
Sylvia Haingartner, Jürgen Hackl-Schneeberger,
Maneesh Medavarapu, Angelika Medveczky,
Nadja Blenk

Digital solutions for efficient and automated
processing of incoming invoices (Zellstoff Pöls) and
trade agreements (heinzelsales)

Zellstoff Pöls

Winfried Weber, Hubert Haingartner,
Wolfgang Haidacher, Jörg Gschaider,
Thomas Hausberger, Helmut Kleinferchner,
Erich Pletz, Roland Pletz, Arnold Psenner,
Udo Trink, Georg Reicher, Michael Moisi,
Martin Fritz, Christian Perschler, Michael Piber

Swift activation of the reinstated liquor recovery
boiler 2 as well as process optimization

Zellstoff Pöls

Hans-Georg Pranckh, Franz Mayer and the
whole team of Zellstoff Pöls

Successful development of the new company
mission statement of Zellstoff Pöls

Company

Nominee

Project

Zellstoff Pöls

Christian Perschler, Werner Duer, Winfried Weber,
Markus Stocker, Bruno Prendler, Michael Pfandl,
Christian Titze, Manfred Baumgartner

Energy generation through the use of steam
created by the soot blower

Zellstoff Pöls

Stefan Moitzi, Werner Duer, Robert Zaiser,
Bruno Prendler, Gerhard Gruber, Franz Hasler,
Manfred Enzinger

Considerable reduction of fresh steam
consumption through the use of in-house heat loss

Energy Award

The jury chose these nominations as the award winners.
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AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE

Meelis Kuzma

MEELIS KUZMA
Meelis Kuzma rejoiced at receiving one
of the three Awards of Excellence. His
longstanding close cooperation with private forestries made it possible for the
first time to supply Estonian Cell with
PEFC certified wood from non-governmental forests in 2016. By eliminating
this previous supply shortage now larger
quantities can be delivered to European
clients.

Franz Mayer (furthest left) and Hans-Georg Pranckh (standing in the center) with the project team.

HANS-GEORG PRANCKH, FRANZ MAYER AND ALL EMPLOYEES OF ZELLSTOFF PÖLS
Acting on behalf of the whole team of Zellstoff Pöls, Hans-Georg Pranckh accepted the
Award of Excellence for developing the new mission statement of the company. Together
with all the company’s employees, he brought the demanding project to an extraor
dinarily successful close, which has also already been awarded with external distinctions.

CARLO VARINI
Carlo Varini, Managing Director of Heinzel
Sales Italy, received an Award of Excellence
for his longstanding sales successes of
Heinzel Group products in Italy. In particular, he set a new record for the facility by
selling more than 65,000 tonnes of recycled
corrugated containerboard from Raubling
and also regained control over the market
for Zellstoff Pöls after the restart of the boiler.
Carlo Varini

ENERGY AWARD
This year’s Energy Award went to the innovative and committed team of technicians at
Zellstoff Pöls consisting of Stefan Moitzi,
Werner Duer, Robert Zaiser, Bruno Prendler,
Gerhard Gruber, Franz Hasler and Manfred
Enzinger. Thanks to their complex energy
project, it is now possible to conserve twelve
tonnes of steam per hour or 12,000 kWh of
heat.
From left: Stefan Moitzi, Gerhard Gruber, Bruno Prendler, Werner Duer and Franz Hasler
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GOALS,
ACES AND
TROMBONES
Sponsorship of emerging talents in football and music

Zellstoff Pöls supports three
local clubs: a football, tennis, and
music club. Supporting local youth
in this way is one of their major
causes.
58

At the age of 33, Thomas Krammer has
reached the end of his career as a professional football player. The midfielder
was a contender in the top clubs of the
Austrian Bundesliga for many years,
then played in the choice line-up for
Sturm Graz in 2007 and 2008 before
moving to Wiener Austria, with whom he
promptly won the championship title.
Eight years later, Krammer said, “I want
my career to finish where I started it,”
which is when it all kicked off at the FSC

HEINZEL GROUP

CSR

Pöls football club. Here, Krammer has
developed his skills and learned a lot
about team spirit and fairness. Since last
year, he has been playing again in the
core team with the shirt number 14.
Thanks in a large part to the local pulp
mill, exceptional talent like Thomas
Krammer is supported in Pöls, as the
producer of pulp and kraft paper is one
of the main sponsors of this local club.
And that’s not all: The Styrian subsidiary
of Heinzel Holding also supports a tennis
club and a brass band.
USEFUL LEISURE ACTIVITIES
In all three clubs, employees of Zellstoff
Pöls have taken over voluntary leader
ship roles: CEO Andreas Vogel is the
president of the brass band. CFO Ingrid
Gruber is president of the FSC Pöls
football club, and Siegfried Gruber,

Head of Project Engineering, serves as
chairman of the association. Gerhard

Gruber, Department Head of Brown
Fiberline, presides over the tennis club.
Sporting achievements are of course
important to the tennis players and

kickers of these clubs – but not essential. “We try to achieve the best possible
athletic level with our resources. But
special attention is given to meaningful
leisure activities for children and young
people,” explains Chairman of FSC Pöls,
Siegfried Gruber. “Social values like
teamwork, punctuality, treating one
another with respect, fairness, mutual
tolerance, and active integration are
experienced and are part of our club
culture.”
ENTERPRISING BAND
These values are also upheld by the
Zellstoff Pöls brass band. Currently,

64 highly trained musicians are active in
the band, which was founded in 1925 by
a group of farmers. The youngest
member of the club is 12, the oldest 72.
In the current setup, oboes, bassoons,
trumpets, horns, clarinets, trombones,
drums, saxophones, and flutes are used.
“We are a symphonic wind instrument
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Musicians from the Zellstoff Pöls brass band at a concert
Das Kraftwerk Laakirchen soll demnächst ausgebaut werden

o rchestra, which is distinguished by an
extended lineup,” as conductor and
Zellstoff Pöls employee Markus Poier

proudly states.
“Zellstoff Pöls is supporting the acquisition of instruments, the purchase of
uniforms, and the financing of regular
concert tours financially,” explains Ernst
Leitner, head of the brass band. “It
involves the company but it’s primarily
about supporting youth,” continued
Leitner. As an example, he cites a project
in which the brass band worked with
students: “Zellstoff Pöls sponsored wind
instruments for the children, and we
gave the brass band members lessons.
Through such actions, we are able to
inspire the children to play music and
spark their interest.”
All 46 of the Zellstoff Pöls brass band
concerts took place in 2016. Among
them were performances in the pulp
mill, but also ones for weddings, birthday
parties, corporate parties, and funerals.
An annual highlight from the performances is the spring concert in the
cultural c enter in Pöls, which was again
a full house in 2016 with over 500 attendants. “The weekly rehearsal is a
constant for our musicians, which not
only gives us musical satisfaction, but
also encourages teamwork,” says Ernst

“Teamwork, punctuality, treating one
another with respect,
fairness, mutual
tolerance, and active
integration are part
of our club c ulture.”
Siegfried Gruber

Leitner, who adds, “But of course,
common achievements contribute sig
nificantly to the 
cohesion among the
musicians.”
There were indeed successes to celebrate in the end, above all, the Judenburg
performance in November 2016: Playing
in the highest division of a competition,
the Pölser brass band received a score of
91 out of 100 possible points – a musical
accolade.

FURTHER INFORMATION
www.zellstoff-poels.at
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GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION
The past financial year produced a number of surprising political decisions and to name just two
important examples, the Brexit vote and the presidential election in the USA will actuate shifts in our
business environment. Overall the global economy grew in 2016, but without any significant dynamism.
In Europe reticence with regard to investment meant that monetary policy remained extremely loose,
but with increasing signs of depletion. Nonetheless, the European Central Bank extended its bond
purchasing program and the zero interest rate phase also continued.
The situation in the USA is currently quite different, as the election of Donald Trump to the office of
president has aroused considerable expectations regarding an economic upturn. The optimism
emanating from the promises of tax cuts and infrastructure measures has already caused share prices
to surge. At the same time, the second step towards an increase in interest rates to a target range of
between 0.5 and 0.75 per cent has been initiated, and the US dollar has strengthened and closed the
year at EUR 1.0553.
Following a cool-down year, in 2016 the Chinese economy, which rates as the second most powerful in
the world after the USA and has a considerable influence on the pulp and paper industry, again started
to gather momentum. Investment not only accelerated in the infrastructure and construction sectors,
but Chinese companies also showed greater interest in global acquisitions.
SECTOR DEVELOPMENT
Pulp
In 2016, worldwide demand for pulp was up by around three per cent and as in the preceding year this
increase exceeded the long-term average. However, there were significant differences at regional level,
as exemplified by the fact that while the markets in North America, Western Europe and Latin America
saw a downturn, Chinese demand in particular rose sharply. Moreover, above-average growth was
evident in the remaining Asian markets (except Japan) and in Eastern Europe.
In 2016, global market pulp production capacity grew by 3.3 per cent, or 1.9 million tonnes, to stand at
a total of around 62 million tonnes. This expansion was well above the long-term average gain of 2.7 per
cent and was largely due to the start-up of a new pulp plant in Brazil and increases in US capacity. The
latter related primarily to the fluff pulp segment for the hygiene market.
During the period under review, the market price for long-fiber pulp (NBSK) remained relatively stable
and was only subject to minor fluctuations. In Europe, NBSK was traded at a yearly average price of
around USD 800 per tonne. Conversely, in the course of 2016, the price for short-fiber pulp (BEKP) in

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND
CIF-PRICE BEKP (USD/T)

CIF-PRICE NBSK (USD/T)
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Europe fell by USD 150 to USD 650 per tonne and in China a low of USD 485 per tonne was reached
at the end of September and the beginning of October. However, in late autumn the unexpected delay
in the start-up of a new, large pulp plant in Indonesia led to higher demand for BEKP, which resulted in
the price rallying to a year-end figure of USD 530 per tonne. In the wake of this upturn in short-fiber
pulp demand, the prices for long-fiber pulp also rose at the turn of the year with the sharpest increases
in China.
Paper
As far as paper market development is concerned, the review below is limited to the graphic and
packaging paper segments, which are of relevance to Heinzel Group.
The decline in demand for printing papers continued in 2016 and newsprint and lightweight coated
(LWC) groundwood papers were once again subject to sizeable falls. The only exception was uncoated
SC paper, which gained three per cent. However, this figure must be seen against the background of
the permanent shutdown of production capacity in 2015 and the repair-related, 80-day standstill of the
PM10 in Laakirchen.
In spite of these factors, the use of capacity of the European SC paper manufacturers in 2016 only
amounted to a meager 87 per cent, which meant that planned price rises could not be implemented.
In addition, the poor use of capacity with regard to LWC, which essentially represents a high-price
segment, resulted in increased price dumping at the lower level of SC papers. Consequently, the threat
of the substitution of SC paper by LWC paper continued to exist.
In November 2016, further permanent shutdowns of SC machines were announced. These should take
effect in the first quarter of 2017 and correspond with roughly seven per cent of total European capacity.
This will undoubtedly improve the current situation, but will be insufficient to restore equilibrium between
supply and demand.
Packaging
The packaging industry again demonstrated quantitative growth in 2016. In Europe this amounted to
around 2.5 per cent and extended across the complete range of product sorts and areas to include
containerboard, folding boxboard and every type of packaging paper. At three per cent, the increase in
demand for containerboard was particularly marked and market growth was supported additionally by
the expected transition from plastic to paper carrier bags, and the shift in consumer habits towards
take-aways. The reduction in grammage in connection with lower raw material requirements and an
improved environmental balance also continued. Furthermore, at the same time the manufacturers of
foodstuff industry packaging are increasingly seeking to cut the amounts of raw materials (plastics and
aluminium) used in their multilayer products, which will again further enhance the significance of paper
as a substrate material. The situation in the USA was similar, as falling stocks in combination with the
use of capacity of over 95 per cent allowed price increases of around USD 40 per tonne of kraftliner in
the fourth quarter of 2016. This development should also have a positive impact upon the European
market at the beginning of 2017.
During 2016, a number of modified and new machines became operational in Europe and as the trend
towards the conversion of existing machinery is set to continue in the coming years, surplus capacity
can be expected. Nevertheless, demand for both lightweight packaging papers with high strength
characteristics and specialized products, that relates equally to the white and brown segments, should
continue to rise more strongly.
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2016 GROUP DEVELOPMENT
Heinzel Group can reflect upon a successful year in 2016 during which it was able to raise its sales
revenues by 19.1 per cent to EUR 1,763.3 million. On the one hand, this growth can be traced to the
expansion relating to the Raubling location and on the other, to the positive business development of the
group’s core companies. For although in some sub-segments only lower sales prices were attainable,
these losses were more than compensated for by increased quantity. Furthermore, following the
damage-related losses of 2015, both the Austrian mills in Pöls and Laakirchen returned to full operation
in 2016 and therefore also contributed to the rise in sales revenues. Owing to geographical business
expansion and the enlargement of the product portfolio, sales revenues in the trading area demonstrated
sizeable growth. Consequently, trading continued to be responsible for some two-thirds of the 4,085,827
tonnes of pulp and paper sold.
The 2016 operating result (EBIT) amounted to EUR 78.6 million and was therefore lower than the EUR
94.2 million of the preceding year, which however contained extraordinary insurance proceeds for
investments of EUR 17.8 million. By contrast, the non-operative result components in 2016 totalled
EUR 4.3 million and consisted largely of insurance proceeds and the initial consolidation of Raubling
Papier GmbH. Moderate raw material and falling energy prices during the financial year expired also
formed part of the background to this result trend.
Owing to continuing debt reduction and the attractive interest landscape, the 2016 financial result
improved substantially as compared to that of the previous year. This led to net income in the year under
report of EUR 57.6 million.
During the year under report, Heinzel Group’s scope of consolidation was supplemented through the
addition of three companies at the Raubling location in Germany. An inoperative holding company was
liquidated via a merger.
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
In EUR m

Sales revenues
EBITDA

2016

2015

+/–

1,763.3

1,480.4

+282.9

134.1

144.3

–10.2

Operating result (EBIT)

78.6

94.2

–15.6

Financial result

–5.0

–12.8

+7.8

–16.0

–19.9

+3.9

57.6

61.6

–4.0

Taxes
Net income

During the financial year, the expansion of the Wilfried Heinzel AG business resulted in working capital
growth. Following the run-up to full production at both the Zellstoff Pöls and Laakirchen Papier mills,
liquidity was committed to receivables and inventory build-up, which led to operative cash flow of EUR
95.3 million (2015: EUR 130.2 million). Investments in 2016 amounted to EUR 46.8 million and related
largely to the expansion of pulp production and the residual payments for the liquor boiler 2 in Pöls and
the PM10 modification project in Laakirchen.
Apart from the aforementioned investments, the solid liquidity situation permitted both a further debt
reduction and the payment of a dividend. On balance, the consolidated net debt of Heinzel Group at
year-end had been cut to EUR 59.0 million (2015: EUR 83.7 million). The key ratio of net debt to
EBITDA stood at 0.4 (2015: 0.6) and the group’s equity ratio rose to 48.7 per cent (2015: 47.8 per cent).
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GROUP KEY FIGURES
2016

2015

ROS

%

4.5

6.4

ROE

%

10.0

11.7

Equity ratio

%

48.7

47.8

Gearing ratio

%

10.7

16.1

EMPLOYEES
Personal responsibility, speed and entrepreneurial action all represent fundamental Heinzel Group
values. Accordingly, their daily implementation by the entire workforce forms the basis of group success.
Therefore, a major task during the 2016 financial year consisted of the comprehensive integration of the
Raubling Papier team into Heinzel Group. The addition of Raubling Papier and its sister company
Chiemgau Recycling culminated in an increase in group personnel numbers at year-end to 2,441
(2015: 2,194).
The preparations for the production of containerboard at the Laakirchen mill necessitated a number of
restructuring measures and in this connection the company team demonstrated a high degree of
loyalty. Thanks to the support of the works council, the employees gave their speedy agreement to
essential measures and thus laid the foundation stone for sustained location development.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Heinzel Group research and development is carried out primarily at its individual industrial locations.
These company activities, which take place in cooperation with external research institutes and universities, are focused largely on the topics of quality improvement, product portfolio expansion and process
and energy efficiency.
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INDUSTRIAL
BUSINESS AREA

Heinzel Group’s Industrial Business Area incorporates the four companies Zellstoff Pöls AG, AS Estonian
Cell, Laakirchen Papier AG and Raubling Papier GmbH. This business area has a strategy of product
diversification and therefore the Heinzel Group mills produce both short- and long-fiber pulp. Moreover,
apart from graphic papers, the paper segment also includes white and brown packaging papers.
In 2016, segment sales revenues rose sharply to EUR 633.9 million (2015: EUR 485.8 million), which
was largely due to the acquisition of the Raubling mill. In addition, all mills were again able to operate at
full capacity and thus achieve markedly higher output of 1,370,214 tonnes (2015: 921,271 tonnes). The
segment EBITDA amounted to around EUR 102.3 million (2015: EUR 119.8 million). However, it is
worthy of note that extraordinary earnings had a major positive influence upon the 2015 result. The
2016 operating result (EBIT) remained at the level of the preceding year.
LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
During the year under report, the Laakirchen mill produced 541,873 tonnes of paper and thus surpassed the damage-related low value of 2015. The mill ran at virtually full capacity in spite of the fact
that in 2016 the graphic papers market continued to be extremely testing and that daily production had
to be cut back on a number of occasions owing to supply in excess of demand. All in all, sales revenues
totalled EUR 243.6 million (2015: EUR 234.1 million).
The central issue confronting the Laakirchen team throughout the year was formed by the preparations
for the conversion of the PM10 to the production of containerboard and the related change of strategy,
which were approved by the Supervisory Board in August 2016. At the same time, the SC paper capacity of the PM11 is to be expanded and during 2016, the mill already invested a total of some EUR 14
million in these projects. In addition, various restructuring measures were necessary in both the procedural and personnel areas, in order to achieve the sustained development of the packaging strategy.
Owing to moderate raw material prices and consumption levels, satisfactory EBITDA of EUR 29.4 million (2015: EUR 26.7 million) was attained. During the financial year, the 51 per cent participation in
Bunzl & Biach GmbH was paid out to the shareholders in the form of a non-cash dividend. The positive
difference between the market and the participation values was recognized in the financial result.
ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG
In 2016, the pulp production line at the Pöls location returned to full capacity and as a consequence
was able to raise its output to 354,788 tonnes of market pulp (2015: 184,147 tonnes). Moreover, only
two years after its start-up, in the past financial year the PM2 already reached its rated capacity and
produced 84,528 tonnes of paper (2015: 75,356 tonnes).
Although pulp prices in 2016 were significantly below those of 2015, the increase in quantity resulted
in sales revenues of EUR 251.8 million (2015: EUR 184.2 million). Stable wood prices contributed to
EBITDA of EUR 57.3 million (2015: EUR 78.3 million) and it should be mentioned that the higher value
of the preceding year contained extraordinary components totalling EUR 23.5 million that emanated
from insurance payments. In the year under report, these sums only amounted to EUR 3.5 million. All
in all, the 2016 operating result was just EUR 1 million below that of 2015.
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At present, the main focus of the Pöls mill is on an increase in pulp capacity to 455,000 tonnes, for
which purpose EUR 3.3 million was invested in the year under report. In addition, the new biology tank
was completed in 2016 and further optimization measures were carried out on the repaired liquor
boiler 2.
AS ESTONIAN CELL
With 173,099 tonnes (2015: 169,294 tonnes) of BCTMP, the Estonian pulp mill was able to raise its
production volume during the past financial year. However, as the sales prices in 2016 did not reach the
positive level of the previous year, sales revenues slipped back to EUR 64.5 million (2015: EUR 68.7 million).
AS Estonian Cell’s production of biogas also increased considerably during 2016 and with a volume that
was one and a half times higher than in the preceding year, the mill covered over thirty per cent of its
own gas requirements. In tandem with lower gas prices, this led to a tangible reduction in the largest
variable cost item and as a result the mill achieved EBITDA of EUR 12.9 million (2015: EUR 14.8 million).
Investments at the Kunda location in 2016 related primarily to production optimisation measures. In
addition, in the course of the financial year, equity was reduced by EUR 17 million, of which EUR 3.4 million
was paid out.
RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH
The Bavarian mill’s first year of group membership was characterized by integration into Heinzel Group
and production optimization. The results were successful, because in spite of reorganization in important
areas such as sales and raw material sourcing, not only did the assimilation process progress smoothly,
but Raubling Papier also established a new output record of 215,926 tonnes of containerboard.
Prices in the containerboard market eased from the third quarter onward, but waste paper prices rose
and on the basis of sales revenues of EUR 81,6 million, this enabled the mill to attain EBITDA of
EUR 2.8 million.
Mill investments totalling EUR 3.5 million flowed mainly into the hall roof renovation and water cycle
separation projects.
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TRADING
BUSINESS AREA

The activities of the companies in the Trading Business Area consist of paper wholesaling, agency
transactions with pulp and paper, and recycled paper trading. On the one hand, these dealings involve
the marketing of products from Heinzel Group’s own pulp and paper mills and on the other, the support
of third suppliers as an important partner with a comprehensive knowledge of the market. Recycled
paper trading primarily serves the supply of raw materials to the group’s own paper mills.
Trading business area sales in 2016 rose to EUR 1,284.3 million (2015: EUR 1,109.2 million). Apart
from the positive business development shown by Wilfried Heinzel AG, this increase was due to the
initial full consolidation of Chiemgau Recycling GmbH. Segment EBITDA amounted to EUR 32.5 million
(2015: EUR 31.9 million).
WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
The globally active trading house Wilfried Heinzel AG (heinzelsales) reported another record year in
2016, which saw it raise its sales volume by 21.5 per cent. As a result, 2,511,167 tonnes of pulp and
paper were sold worldwide in 99 countries (2015: 97 countries). This growth emanated from both
agency and trading business, the latter having benefited from the resumption of full production in
Laakirchen and Pöls, and the expansion derived from the Raubling mill acquisition.
In total, heinzelsales increased its sales revenues in 2016 to EUR 644.0 million (2015: EUR 516.5 million)
and despite higher costs caused by the extension of the company’s global presence, business was
successfully expanded and EBITDA raised to EUR 16.0 million (2015: EUR 12.3 million).
EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG
During the past financial year, the Europapier Group continued on its diversification course by further
supplementing its core paper wholesaling business with an intensification of its activities in the advertising technology and hygiene areas. However, with a less than five per cent share of sales revenues,
these new segments were not of major significance for the end result, which for the sub-group amounted to EUR 528.3 million (2015: EUR 512.1 million).
During the year under report, all thirteen national companies within the Europapier Group provided a
positive contribution to the result. Moreover, even though the positive one-off effect derived from Russia
was not repeated, EBITDA stood at a satisfactory level EUR 11.9 million (2015: EUR 14.7 million).
BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
For Bunzl & Biach GmbH, the 2016 financial year was characterized by the integration of the newly
acquired Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and apart from the optimization of business procedures, this
process also involved the sounding out of synergies in the Bavarian market. Owing to the inclusion of
the new subsidiary, the total volume of recycled paper handled rose to 896,413 tonnes (2015:
674,544 tonnes). In combination with an increase in the sales price, this facilitated consolidated sales
revenues of EUR 127.4 million (2015: EUR 92.4 million). However, owing to high integration costs, the
recycled paper specialist’s EBITDA fell slightly to EUR 4.6 million (2015: EUR 4.8 million).
In addition to the purchase of a waste paper baling press, Bunzl & Biach investment centered on the
renovation of its storage facilities and the updating of its vehicle fleet.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
As a global player with production locations in Europe, during its business activities Heinzel Group is
subject to a diversity of general and specific, industry-related risks.
Accordingly, all Heinzel Group companies possess a matrix for risk compilation and evaluation, which
is updated annually and presented to the audit committee. The various areas of company activity and
the related disparity between the risk focal points already result in risk distribution at group level. In
addition, increased vertical integration reduces vulnerability to external influences. The group’s risk
policy is denoted by a conservative approach. Risk avoidance and reduction constitute a major priority
and as far as is economically acceptable, are achieved by suitable control measures and supplemented
by the group’s hedging program.
Some years ago, IT security was included in the risk matrix as an additional operative risk. Heinzel
Group subsequently carried out thorough internal and external system audits, and then extrapolated
and implemented improvement measures. In addition, ongoing in-house coaching is used to raise
awareness levels regarding this type of risk.
One long-term risk that applies to the entire group is a decline in the demand for pulp and paper. In this
connection, the operative units work together with Heinzel Holding on the fine-tuning of strategic policy,
in order to ensure the prolongation of sustained success.
In particular, market risks emanate from general economic developments and the political and regulatory frameworks within respective national markets. In view of the prevailing overcapacity, the pulp and
paper markets are characterized by intensive competition. Therefore, a major uncontrollable risk is
posed by price fluctuations for the products sold, which are also subject to exchange rate volatility.
However, solid liquidity offers an adequate buffer against such risks.
As far as sourcing is concerned, Heinzel Group’s production units are dependent upon supplies of raw
materials, which by and large consist of wood, fibers comprised mainly by recycled fiber and groundwood, energy and chemicals. The group counteracts the availability risk by means of the continuous
monitoring of the markets and demand. The connected risks are mostly of a price-related nature and
to limit them, group companies rely on their extensive market knowledge and a combination of shortand long-term supplier contracts. Furthermore, in order to attain cost optimization, during certain
purchasing procedures Heinzel Group operates in the market as a single entity. In the trading segment,
the potential loss of a main supplier constitutes a major risk. Therefore, risk minimization efforts in this
area are focused constantly on supplier spread.
At Heinzel Group’s industrial locations there is a risk of production plant failure. This is accounted for by
a multifaceted insurance program, which covers the entire group. Furthermore, plant and processes
correspond with the technological state-of-the-art and are subject to systematic further development.
Financial risks incorporate currency and liquidity risks. Therefore, in order to reduce the latter to a
minimum, Heinzel Group cooperates with banks possessing good credit ratings in both the investment
and loan areas, and ensures the sufficient availability of credit lines. Currency and interest risks are
continually monitored and either limited or reduced by means of appropriate hedging. In this regard the
group focuses primarily on natural risk compensation through the creation of a balance between receivables and payables on the level of the individual subsidiaries, and the use of currency forwards and
exchange rate swap transactions. Derivative financial instruments are neither employed for trading, nor
for speculative purposes. More detailed information on these matters is to be found in the Notes. The
default risk with respect to trade receivables from customers is restricted by means of ongoing creditworthiness checks and credit hedging for the group’s entire clientele.
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At present, no immediate risks are recognizable that could threaten the continued existence of the
Heinzel Group.

OUTLOOK
From a current perspective, an economic recovery in the American and European markets is indicated
for the 2017 financial year in tandem with a slow rise in inflation. Therefore, we await a generally positive
business environment. Nevertheless, political uncertainties in some markets could have a significant
influence on the economic situation in specific countries or even the world in general.
As far as the pulp and paper market is concerned, we anticipate a prolongation of the present situation,
or in other words reticent demand in the graphic sector counterposed by growth in the packaging paper
segment. It is on the basis of this market estimation that various producers are planning corresponding
machinery modification projects.
Since the beginning of the year, the Chinese market has shown a general increase in demand for both
pulp and fibers. However, European producers remain subject to the dampening effect of higher
logistics costs, which have emanated from the instability of various shipping lines.
During the 2017 financial year, Heinzel Group will complete the conversion of its paper machine 10 in
Laakirchen to the production of containerboard. Solid positioning of the resultant products in both
Europe and overseas should be achieved using the platform of focused marketing strategy, as well as
the market know-how from both Raubling Papier and heinzelsales. We therefore also foresee major
expansion in the recycled paper sourcing area. In Pöls we will largely conclude the project for the
enlargement of pulp production capacity and further optimization measures are planned at Estonian
Cell. The paper wholesaler, Europapier, will also exploit its promising opportunities through additional
diversification.
Therefore, in spite of growing competitive pressure, in view of the solidity of its financial basis and the
entrepreneurial activities of its employees, Heinzel Group takes a positive view of the future.
Vorchdorf, 28 February 2017
The Executive Management
Kurt Maier m.p.				
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Shares in associated companies
Shares in other companies
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets
Raw materials and supplies
Trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Note

31.12.2016

31.12.2015

1
2
3
3
4
24

22,937
447,040
1,271
711
14,635
5,403
491,997

23,893
423,544
1,271
21,996
8,233
6,391
485,328

5
6
7
8

158,681
349,093
32,891
101,842
642,507
1,134,504

152,134
307,729
56,888
82,677
599,428
1,084,756

3,635
8,600
41,587
474,384
528,205
24,847
553,051

3,635
8,600
42,341
440,589
495,165
23,217
518,382

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company
Share capital
Capital reserves
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Equity of non-controlling interests
Equity
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9

Financial liabilities
Pensions and other employee benefits
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Non-current provisions and liabilities

10
11
24
12

81,131
63,598
4,541
11,342
160,611

97,089
58,564
6,591
7,953
170,197

Financial liabilities
Tax liabilities
Trade accounts payable
Other liabilities and provisions
Current provisions and liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

14

112,567
1,913
228,033
78,329
420,841
1,134,504

126,131
715
198,162
71,169
396,177
1,084,756

15
16
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 2016 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

Note

2016

2015

Sales revenues
Changes in inventories
Other own work capitalized
Other operating income
Cost of materials and services
Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Amortization of intangible and depreciation of fixed assets
Operating result (EBIT)

17
18
18
19
20
21
22
1, 2

1,763,330
4,724
1,432
28,090
–1,461,863
–135,134
–66,493
–55,449
78,638

1,480,410
–4,427
1,412
132,487
–1,289,821
–120,267
–55,523
–50,057
94,214

2,430
–7,167
424
–972
294
–4,991

3,220
–10,732
88
–3,719
–1,661
–12,804

73,647

81,410

–16,015
57,631

–19,855
61,555

53,794
3,837

57,760
3,795

Interest income
Interest expenses
Divident income
Income/expenses from the fair value recognition of derivatives
Other financial income/expenses
Financial result

23

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
Taxes on income
Earnings after taxes (Net income)
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company
Non-controlling shareholders
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2016 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

2016

2015

57,631

61,555

616
–154
2,485
2,947

1,789
–447
–1,202
140

Other income in the period, net
Total income for the period

–4,670
989
–3,681
–734
56,897

609
158
767
907
62,462

Attributable to:
Parent company shareholders
Non-controlling shareholders

53,129
3,768

58,672
3,790

Income after taxes (Net income)
Items of other comprehensive income, which if necessary may
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Hedge accounting
Deferred taxes on hedge accounting
Currency translation
Items of other comprehensive income, which will not be
subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Revaluation of employee benefit obligations
Deferred taxes on liabilities from employee benefits
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2016 (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

2016

2015

73,647
–22,047
4,991
424
2,381
–1,481
50,947
–13,536
95,326

81,410
–21,460
12.804
88
2,871
–3,004
56,534
13,781
130,220

Investment activities
Payments for company purchases, less acquired cash
and cash equivalents
Income from/investments in other financial assets
Investments in intangible assets
Investments in other tangible assets
Cash flow from investments

7,424
17,595
–1,774
–46,839
–23,594

–51,955
5,039
–6,760
–37,717
–91,393

Financing activities
Dividends
Borrowing/repayment of current financial liabilities
Borrowing/repayment of non-current financial liabilities
Cash flow from financing activities

–21,686
–14,364
–15,958
–52,009

–16,440
19,519
–71,866
–68,787

Decrease/increase of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Changes in currency differences
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

19,724
82,677
–559
101,842

–29,960
113,073
–436
82,677

Operating activities
Earnings before taxes
Income tax paid
Financial result, net
Dividends received
Interest received
Interest paid
Cash neutral income and expenses
Changes in working capital
Cash flow from operating activities
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (IFRS)
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

In EUR k

Balance as at 1 January 2015
Result after taxes (profit for the year)
Currency translation
Hedge accounting
Actuarial gains/losses
Other comprehensive income in the period, net
Net result for the period
Payment of dividends
Other changes
Balance as at 31 December 2015
Result after taxes (profit for the year)
Currency translation
Hedge accounting
Actuarial gains/losses
Other comprehensive income in the period, net
Net result for the period
Payment of dividends
Other changes
Balance as at 31 December 2016
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Share capital

Capital
reserves

Foreign currency
translation

3,635
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,635
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,635

8,600
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
8,600
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
8,600

–11,502
0
–1,201
0
0
–1,201
–1,201
0
0
–12,703
0
2,486
0
0
2,486
2,486
0
0
–10,217
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Hedging
reserves

Revaluation of
employee benefit
obligations

Other
provisions

Retained
earnings

Equity
attributable to
the shareholders
of the parent
company

–2,689
0
0
1,342
0
1,342
1,342
0
0
–1,347
0
0
462
0
462
462
0
0
–885

–5,471
0
0
0
771
771
771
0
0
–4,700
0
0
0
–3,612
–3,612
–3,612
0
10
–8,303

61,091
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
61,091
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
–99
60,992

396,829
57,760
0
0
0
0
57,760
–14,000
0
440,589
53,794
0
0
0
0
53,794
–20,000
0
474,384

450,493
57,760
–1,201
1,342
771
912
58,672
–14,000
0
495,165
53,794
2,486
462
–3,612
–665
53,129
–20,000
–90
528,205
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Equity of
non-controlling
interests

Equity
total

21,866
3,795
–1
0
–4
–5
3,790
–2,439
0
23,217
3,837
0
0
–69
–69
3,768
–1,686
–453
24,847

472,359
61,555
–1,202
1,342
767
907
62,462
–16,439
0
518,382
57,631
2,485
462
–3,681
–734
56,897
–21,686
–542
553,051
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016
HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

A. GENERAL INFORMATION
For the 2016 financial year, Heinzel Holding GmbH has prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the EU, and the interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly Standing Interpretations
Committee/SIC). These consolidated financial statements meet the requirements for a consolidated financial
statement with discharging effect pursuant to §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). Heinzel Holding
GmbH is headquartered in Austria at Einsiedlinger Strasse 47, 4655 Vorchdorf. The main shareholder of Heinzel
Holding GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries are engaged in the
manufacture and trading of pulp and paper products and board worldwide. The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements was completed subject to the premise of the continued operation of the enterprise. The
principle of materiality was applied to reporting and the summary of individual items in the balance sheet, comprehensive income statement, cash flow statement, and the statement of changes in equity.
The consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, are prepared in euros (= the functional
currency of the parent company) and unless otherwise stated, all the figures reported are in thousands of euros.
As in the previous reporting period of 2015, the reporting period for 2016 comprises a full financial year of twelve
months.
The Heinzel Holding GmbH Management Board approved the consolidated financial statements on 28 February
2017.
The individual financial statements for 2016 are published in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
Changes to accounting and valuation methods and reporting
The following amendments or new versions of standards were employed for the first time in the 2016 financial year
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the following amendments to existing IAS, IFRS and
interpretations, as well as newly issued standards and interpretations were observed, where these were published
in the Official Gazette of the European Union by 31 December 2016 and came into force prior to this date:
Standard
IAS 16
IAS 41
IFRS 11
IAS 16
IAS 38
IFRS 5

IFRS 7

IAS 19

IAS 34
IAS 1
IAS 27
IFRS 10
IFRS 12
IAS 28
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Content
Accounting requirements for bearer plants

Effective as from
January 2016

Amendment to IFRS 11 with regard to the acquisition of interests
in joint operations
Amendments to IAS 16 and 38 regarding acceptable methods of
depreciation and amortization
Amendments to the Sales Method: clarification of accounting during
reclassifications from “Assets held for sale” to the category “Held for
distribution” and vice versa
Clarification of the inclusion of servicing contracts and the a pplicability
of offsetting disclosures for inclusion in condensed interim financial
statements
Clarification of the Determination of the Discount Rate: determination
of the depth of the market for high quality corporate bonds on a
currency level
Clarification of the meaning of “elsewhere in the interim report” and
the cross-reference requirement
Amendments to IAS 1: disclosure initiative
Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Investment Entities: application of the consolidation exception

January 2016
January 2016

January 2016

Annual
improvements to
the IFRS
2012–2014 cycle

January 2016
January 2016
January 2016
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Where individually applicable, the listed standards have been employed in these financial statements. However, this
did not give rise to any material changes in the presentation of the asset, financial and earnings positions.
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards, which were not yet binding in 2016 and were
not employed prematurely
The following standards and interpretations were introduced or amended by 31 December 2016, but were not yet
binding for the 2016 financial year. Early application is not foreseen.
Standard
IFRS 9
IFRS 15
IFRS 16
IFRS 15
IFRS 2
IFRS 4
IFRIC 22
IAS 40
AIP 2014 – 2016
IAS 7
IAS 12
IFRS 14
IAS 28
IFRS 10

Inhalt
Financial Instruments
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Leases
Clarification of “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions
Application of IFRS 9 together with IFRS 4
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Transfers of Investment Property
Amendments to and Clarification of Various IFRS
Amendments to IAS 7: disclosure initiative
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses
Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Investments in Associates/Consolidated Financial Statements:
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and an
associate or joint venture

Übernommen und
anzuwenden ab
January 2018
January 2018
January 2019
January 2018
January 2018
January 2018
January 2018
January 2018
January 2018
January 2017
January 2017
January 2017
January 2016
Postponed
indefinitely

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
This standard replaces the sections of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, dealing with
the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 will initially become mandatory for the reporting of financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
whereby early adoption is permitted. At present, Heinzel Group intends to first use IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.
As yet, Heinzel Group has not concluded a detailed analysis of IFRS 9 and is therefore unable to give a reliable
estimate of the effects of the application of the standard on the consolidated financial statements for 2018.
Nonetheless, the group has completed a provisional assessment of the possible impact of the application of IFRS 9
on the basis of its items as at 31 December 2016.
A. CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the classification and measurement of financial assets, which mirrors both the
business model within which financial assets are retained and the characteristics of their cash flows.
IFRS 9 incorporates three important classification categories for financial assets:
• Measured at amortized cost
• Measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized through profit and loss (FVTPL)
• Measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
The standard eliminates the existing held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale categories
contained in IAS 39.
Pursuant to IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts that are based on a financial asset that falls within the scope
of application of the standard may never be recognized separately. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument will be
assessed overall in line with its classification.
On the basis of its preliminary assessment, Heinzel Group is of the opinion that if applied on 31 December 2016,
the new classification requirements would not have a material impact upon the reporting of its trade receivables,
loans, or the bonds and equity securities that are controlled at fair value.
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B. IMPAIRMENT – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 replaces the incurred losses impairment model contained in IAS 39 with a forward-looking, expected losses
model. This will require considerable discretionary decisions with regard to the question as to the extent to which
the anticipated loan losses will be influenced by shifts in economic factors. This estimation will be determined on
the basis of weighted probabilities.
The new impairment model will be applied to bonds measured at amortized cost, or at fair value with no effect upon
the income statement, leasing receivables, trade receivables, contractual assets (as defined by IFRS 15) and loan
commitments and financial guarantees not measured at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of
equity securities held as financial assets.
Pursuant to IFRS 9, impairments will be measured on the basis of one of the following principles:
•	12-month expected loss: for financial instruments that have not been subject to a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a company must make a provision to the amount of the loan defaults that are
anticipated within the next twelve months.
•	Lifetime expected loss: for financial instruments that have been subject to a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a company must make a provision to the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated
during the expected life of the financial instrument.
A company can determine that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not risen significantly when the asset
demonstrates a low credit risk on the balance sheet date. However, measurement according to the concept of
lifetime expected loss is always to be applied to trade receivables and contractual assets without a material financing
component. A company may also apply this method to trade receivables and contractual assets with a material
financing component.
Heinzel Group is currently assessing the measurement effects.
C. CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL DEBTS
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing IAS 39 stipulations for the classification of financial debts.
However, pursuant to IAS 39 all changes to the fair value of debts determined for measurement at fair value with
value changes recognized in profit and loss, are recognized in profit and loss, whereas pursuant to IFRS 9, these
changes in fair value are basically reported as follows:
•	The change in fair value that can be traced to shifts in the credit risk of the debt are recognized in other comprehensive income.
• The remaining change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss.
Heinzel Group has no financial debts that are measured at fair value and recognized in profit or loss and therefore
does not intend to adopt this method at present. Heinzel Group’s preliminary assessment does not point to any
material effects resulting from the application of the requirements of IFRS 9 regarding the classification of financial
debts as at 31 December 2016.
D. HEDGE ACCOUNTING
During the initial application of IFRS 9, Heinzel Group has the right to choose to continue to apply the accounting
regulations contained in IAS 39 for hedging transactions instead of the requirements of IFRS 9. At present, Heinzel
Group intends to apply the new hedge requirements introduced by IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 is intended to provide useful information regarding the effects of company risk management activities. In
future, a risk management strategy will represent a prerequisite for recognition as a hedge relationship.
Heinzel Group employs forward exchange transactions for the hedging of fluctuations in the payment flow derived
from shifts in the exchange rates used for the taking of loans, receivables, sales and purchases. In addition, Heinzel
Group holds interest swaps in order to hedge the interest rate change risk relating to longer- term, variable bank
loans.
Heinzel Group measures hedging transactions at fair value. The current value of forward exchange transactions is
recognized directly through profit or loss. In line with the hedge accounting rules, part of the result from the
measurement of interest swaps is held in a reserve. Interest swaps that do not fulfill the stipulations of hedge
accounting are also recognized through profit or loss.
Heinzel Group’s provisional assessment indicates that the types of hedge accounting that it employs at present
should meet the requirements of IFRS 9. In addition, a treasury policy is already in use within the group, which
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means that a solid set of rules has been implemented with regard to risk management strategy and objectives.
Nonetheless, Heinzel Group will again subject these rules to thorough scrutiny with regard to the requirements of
IFRS 9 and if necessary undertake corresponding amendments.
E. REPORTING
IFRS 9 requires new and extensive reporting, particularly with respect to hedging transactions, credit risk and
anticipated loan defaults. Heinzel Group is currently in the process of both defining any necessary information and
data, and adapting and enlarging the corresponding documentation for the required reporting.
F. TRANSITION
As a rule, the changes in accounting methods emanating from the application of IFRS 9 are to be applied with
retroactive effect, except in the following cases:
•	Heinzel Group intends to use the exception that permits it to refrain from adjusting comparative information for
previous periods regarding changes to classifications and measurement (including impairment). Basically, differences between the carrying values of financial assets and financial debts arising from the application of IFRS 9
will be recognized in the retained earnings and other reserves as at 1 January 2018.
• In general, new accounting regulations for hedging transactions are to be applied prospectively.
•	The following judgements are to be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of initial
application:
– Determination of the business model within the framework of which a financial asset will be held
– Determination and revocation of earlier rules governing certain financial assets and debts that will be measured
as FVTPL
– Determination of certain equity securities as FVOCI, which are retained as financial assets but not held for
trading
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” regulates revenue recognition and thus replaces IAS 11 and IAS
18. Its objective is to create principles that companies must apply when reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a
contract with a customer. IFRS 15 stipulates that a company report revenues when the customer has obtained the
control and can make use of the agreed goods and services. The new standard prescribes a five-stage model for
the determination of the realized sales revenues and IFRS 15 also contains numerous reporting obligations with
respect to the type, amount, accrual and uncertainty of sales revenues and the payment flows resulting from
customer orders.
At present, the management is assessing the effects of the application of the new standard upon the consolidated
financial statements and has identified the following areas as being likely to be affected:
•	The accounting of customer loyalty programs: IFRS 15 requires that the entire received performance obligation
is allotted to the points and goods awarded on the basis of the stand-alone selling price and not the residual value
method. This could result in differing amounts being allocated to the goods sold and delay in the recognition of
parts of the returns.
•	Pursuant to IFRS 15, a capitalization requirement exists for certain costs derived from the fulfillment of a contract,
which according to the current standard are recognized as an expense.
•	The reporting and disclosure requirements contained in IFRS 15 are extremely extensive. In many cases the
disclosure regulations involve entirely new information. The implementation of these regulations demands s uitable
systems, guidelines and internal controls.
At present, the group is unable to estimate the consequences of the new regulations for the consolidated financial
statements in greater detail. The effects will be adjudged in the coming twelve months in a more differentiated
manner.
IFRS 16 “Leases” sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases in
financial reports. For the lessee the standard prescribes a single accounting model. This requires the lessee to
recognize all the assets and liabilities from lease agreements with a term of twelve months or more, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. This simplification creates a right of choice. For accounting purposes, the lessor
must continue to classify its leases as operating or finance agreements. In this regard, the accounting model
contained in IFRS 16 does not differ materially from that of IAS 17.
Primarily, the standard will have an effect upon the accounting of the group’s operating-leasing relationships. On the
balance sheet date, Heinzel Group disposed over non-cancelable operating leasing obligations amounting to
EUR 23,379k. However, as yet the group has not determined the extent to which these obligations will result in the
capitalization of an asset and the recognition of liabilities, or the related effects upon consolidated net profits and
cash flow classification.
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Some of the obligations can be intercepted by the exemption clauses for short-term leasing relationships and
low-value assets as leasing items. Conversely, others can relate to agreements, which pursuant to IFRS 16 do not
fall into the category of leasing relationships.
From a current perspective, the other new versions and amendments to the rules listed above will not result in any
material changes to the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.

B. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and the financial statements
of the companies controlled by the parent company as at 31 December of each year. Control is deemed to exist if
the company is exposed to fluctuating returns from its involvement with the company, or is entitled to these and has
the ability to affect these returns through its power over the affiliated company.
Such control is presupposed with a stockholding in excess of 50 per cent.
The consolidation of an affiliated company commences on the day upon which the investor gains control of the
company and ends when this is lost.
The following changes to the scope of consolidation occurred during the 2016 financial year.
Incoming company
Mondi Raubling GmbH, Raubling
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling
Bunzl & Biach Beteiligungs GmbH

Initial consolidation date
January 2016
January 2016
January 2016
May 2016

Outgoing company
Bunzl & Biach Beteiligungs GmbH
Heinzel Bunzl Immobilien GmbH

Outgoing date
July 2016
September 2016

With effect from 1 January 2016 (closing), 94.9 per cent of the stocks of Raubling Papier GmbH, which is based in
Raubling, Germany, were purchased from Mondi Holding Deutschland GmbH. Together with Raubling Papier
GmbH, respectively 99.4 per cent and 100 per cent of the stocks of two additional fully consolidated companies,
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, were also purchased.
It is anticipated that as a result of this acquisition, the group will gain a stronger presence in the already existent sales
markets and be able to implement costs savings due to synergy effects.
Raubling Papier GmbH is located in the heart of Europe on a central interface between surrounding markets. On
average, it has a workforce of 138 and manufactures approximately 215,000 tonnes of paper annually. The company product range includes certified low grammage containerboard, which conserve natural resources: Starboard
Kraft Top, Liner, Wave and IceWave (Pro).
The following overview presents a picture of the identified assets and debts of the individual companies taken over
on the initial date of acquisition:
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Raubling Papier GmbH
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current liabilities and provisions
Current liabilities and provisions
Purchased net assets
Acquired net assets
Purchase price paid
Badwill from the initial consolidation of
Raubling Papier GmbH
Non-controlling interests

IFRS
carrying values
20,071
12,844
6,044
2,926
18,481
17,553

Adjustments
–543
0
0
–564
0
21

Acquired fair values
19,528
12,844
6,044
2,362
18,481
17,573
16,677
15,793
884
896

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current liabilities and provisions
Current liabilities and provisions
Purchased net assets
Acquired net assets
Purchase price paid
Goodwill from the initial consolidation of
Chiemgau Recycling
Non-controlling interests

IFRS
carrying values
4,809
1,275
747
976
2,352
3,503

Adjustments
–579
0
0
–168
0
–410

Acquired fair values
4,230
1,275
747
808
2,352
3,093
1,639
3,272
–1,633
1,453

Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current liabilities and provisions
Current liabilities and provisions
Purchased net assets
Acquired net assets
Purchase price paid

IFRS
carrying values
0
3,291
2,179
353
4,181
937

Adjustments
0
0
0
0
0
0

Acquired fair values
0
3,291
2,179
353
4,181
937
937
937

The carrying values correspond with the IFRS carrying values prior to the purchase of stocks by Heinzel Group. The
adjustments column contains those amounts that were necessary for the determination of the acquired fair values.
The purchase of the Raubling Papier GmbH shares resulted in badwill of EUR 884k from capital consolidation,
which was recognized entirely through profit and loss accounts.
The badwill emanated from capital consolidation owing to the fact that at the time of the company merger, the
purchase price of the acquisition was lower than the value of pro rata equity.
The takeover of Chiemgau Recycling GmbH led to goodwill of EUR 1,633k. Both bad- and goodwill were determined by the comparison of the purchase price and a revaluation of net assets, which took into account all reserves
and liabilities.
The total purchase price for the companies acquired amounted to EUR 20,002k and was paid in full in December
2015. Cash and cash equivalents of EUR 8,970k were also acquired through the company purchase.
Since January 2016, the companies taken over have contributed EUR 123,144k to the sales revenues reported in
the consolidated income statement for 2016. The share of the result after tax (net profit) since 1 January totaled
EUR 1,192k (excluding the amount from badwill).
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The purchase of Raubling Papier GmbH and its subsidiaries resulted in the acquisition of trade receivables with a
fair value of EUR 9,455k and other receivables with a fair value of EUR 1,512k. Probable bad debts are n
 on-material.
During the 2016 financial year and after the balance sheet date, the expansion of the hygiene business segment
resulted in the following Europapier Group purchases of business areas and companies:
A business area in Slovakia was acquired in the course of the financial year through the payment of a purchase price
of EUR 189k, whereby both inventories and assets were taken over at fair value.
In Croatia, a business area was acquired after the balance sheet date through the payment of a purchase price of
EUR 264k, whereby inventories, assets and rights were bought at fair value.
100 per cent of shares of Tykvart s.r.o. in the Czech Republic were acquired after the balance sheet date through
the payment of a purchase price of EUR 305k (CZK 8,245k). In general, the purchase price paid resulted in the
acquisition of inventories, assets, rights and the company customer base. No goodwill was identified during the
preliminary purchase price allocation.
Further disclosures regarding expansion in the hygiene business segment are not made owing to immateriality.
The scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2016, including Heinzel Holding GmbH as the parent company,
consisted of 43 fully consolidated companies (2015: 41), and no companies consolidated at equity (2015: 0).
The scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH is presented on page 122 under the Item “Scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH”.
Certain companies remained unconsolidated owing to the fact that their business results were not considered to be
material to the consolidated financial statements. These companies are listed under the Item “Non-consolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies”.
Interests in joint arrangements
Interests in joint arrangements exist when two or more entities jointly control an undertaking. Pursuant to IFRS 11,
depending upon the contractually agreed sharing of rights and obligations, there are two forms of joint arrangements
consisting of joint ventures or joint operations. At present, the companies in Heinzel Group do not possess any
interests in joint arrangements.
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control are recognized as transactions with the owners of
the group acting in their ownership capacity. A difference between the fair value of the paid amount and the acquired
share of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired during the purchase of a non-controlling
interest is recognized as equity. Profits and losses resulting from a sale to non-controlling interests are also recognized
as equity. No such transactions took place in the financial year expired.
Interests in associated companies
An associated company is a company that is neither subject to full nor joint control, but upon which the group can
exert significant influence by means of participation in its financial and business decision-making processes. As a
rule, an affiliation exists when 20 to 50 per cent of voting rights are held.
Associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method (IAS 28).
Interests in associated companies are reported in the balance sheet at the cost of acquisition, which is adjusted for
changes in the group’s share of net assets after the acquisition date, as well as for losses resulting from impairment.
Losses that exceed the group’s interests in associated companies are included to the extent that legal or de facto
obligations exist.
Where the initial costs of the acquisition of the company exceed the full fair value of the group’s interest in the
identifiable fixed assets and debts of the associated company on the date of acquisition, the difference is shown as
goodwill. If the initial costs of the acquisition of the company are less than the full fair value of the group’s interest in
the identifiable fixed assets and debts on the date of acquisition, the difference is recognized in the income statement
in the period when the acquisition took place.
On every closing date, the group carries out an examination in order to ascertain if there are any indications that the
investment in an associated company is subject to impairment. Should this be the case, the impairment requirement
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is determined as the difference between the investment carrying value of the associated company and the corresponding attainable amount, and recognized separately in the income statement.
Unrealized gains or losses from up- and downstream transactions between group companies and an associated
company are only to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements in line with the interest of third parties in
the associated company. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction shows indications that an impairment of the transferred assets exists. Where necessary, the accounting and measurement methods are adjusted in
order to guarantee uniform accounting and measurement throughout the group.
Dilution gains and losses resulting from the interests in associated companies are recognized through profit and loss.
Interests in associated companies that do not have a material influence on the consolidated financial statements are
not included in the scope of consolidation at equity, but instead, in line with IAS 39, as available-for-sale securities.
Subsidiary consolidation method
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the group exerts control. The group has control over an associate when
it has the power of disposition over the company, a risk burden or rights to financial returns exist as a result of its
involvement in the associate, and the ability to use its power of disposition over the subsidiary in such a manner that
this will influence the amount of the variable financial returns of the subsidiary. Consolidation of the associate
commences on the day that the group takes control of the company. It ends when the group loses control of the
associate.
Purchased subsidiaries are recognized in line with the acquisition method. The costs of the purchase correspond
with the fair value of the transferred assets, the equity instruments issued and the debts resulting or assumed upon
the transaction date. Costs relating to the company acquisition are recognized as an expense in the periods in which
they occur.
Capital consolidation occurs at the time of acquisition through the netting of the purchase price against the fair
value of the net assets of the acquired company. The identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries are recognized at full fair value regardless of any non-controlling interest. Intangible assets are capitalized
separately from goodwill if they are separable from the enterprise, or result from a statutory, contractual, or other
legal right. Remaining positive differences are recognized in the balance sheet as goodwill. If there are negative
differences, these are recognized as earnings only after a revaluation of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and
contingent liabilities of the acquired company and an assessment of the acquisition costs.
Intercompany receivables and liabilities, expenditure and income, as well as intercompany profits, are eliminated
unless they are of minor importance.

C. CURRENCY TRANSLATION WITHIN THE GROUP
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of Heinzel Group.
Where the functional currency used for international financial statements differs from the reporting currency of the
group, translation takes place in accordance with the concept of the modified closing date method. Balance sheet
items are translated using the respective mid-rate as at the closing date. The income statements of the consolidated
foreign subsidiaries are translated using the mean rates of exchange for the respective period. Any differences
resulting from currency translation related to the pro rata share of equity are reported under shareholders’ equity
without affecting net income. Should a foreign subsidiary be deconsolidated, the currency translation differences
are recognized as profit and loss.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchanges rates on the trans
action date.
Assets and debts in foreign currencies are translated into the group currency at the mean exchange rate on the
reporting closing date. In the case of exchange rate hedging, the hedged rate is employed. Gains and losses
resulting from foreign currency valuation are recognized as profit or loss.
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D. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES
General
With the exception of derivative financial instruments and securities, which are valued at fair value, the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical acquisition and production costs.
Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are valued at the acquisition cost and depreciated as scheduled using the straight-line
method, assuming a depreciation period of three to five years.
Goodwill
Goodwill is created during the acquisition of subsidiaries and is constituted by the surplus difference between the
agreed purchase price and the acquired identifiable assets, the assumed debts and all non-controlling interests of
the purchased company, as well as the fair value of its existing equity. Should the purchase costs of the acquired
subsidiary be lower than net assets measured at fair value, the resulting difference will be recognized directly as
comprehensive income under the item badwill.
Concessions and rights
The acquisition costs for computer software, commercial rights and similar rights are capitalized and subject to
straight-line amortization over their standard useful life. On average, the expenses for electronic software programs
are amortized over a period of four to five years. In the group, licenses and patents demonstrate an amortization
period of around three years.
Tangible assets
Tangible assets are valued at acquisition or production cost, less scheduled amortization, which is calculated by
applying the straight-line method, and impairments. In the 2016 financial year, no tangible asset impairments were
recognized.
Subsequent additional acquisition and production costs are only recognized as part of the acquisition or production
costs of the asset, or where appropriate as a separate asset, when it is probable that the group will accrue a future
economic benefit as a result and the costs can be reliably determined. The carrying value of the part replaced is
written off.
Expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent material replacement investments are recognized in
the income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.
A difference between the gains from the sale of plant and the carrying value is reported as a gain or loss under the
result from operating activities.
For depreciable tangible assets, the following expected useful lives are assumed:
Buildings including buildings on third-party property
Plant and machinery
Other fixed assets, tools and equipment

15 to 50 years
5 to 20 years
5 to 8 years

Borrowing costs
In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the purchase, construction or
production of a qualified asset are capitalized as part of the cost of acquisition or production of this asset until all the
work required for the use of the created asset for its intended purpose or sale has been largely completed. During
the determination of the amount of the capitalized borrowing costs in a certain period, all the plant earnings
obtained from the financial investment that were temporarily invested for the qualified asset up to the point of use
are deducted from the borrowing costs incurred.
During the 2016 financial year, the criteria for a qualified asset were not fulfilled for any recognized asset in the group
and accordingly no capitalization of borrowing costs was undertaken.
Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they occur.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an undetermined useful life are subjected to an impairment test at least
once a year, or when indications of value impairment exist. All other assets and cash-generating units are tested
should there be any indications of value impairment.
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For impairment testing, assets are grouped on the lowest level generating independent cash flow (cash-generating
unit). Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to provide benefits from synergies derived
from the related business purchase and that represent the lowest level within the group at which management
monitors the related cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognized to the amount by which the carrying value of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling price
and the value in use. Impairment losses recognized for cash-generating units, to which goodwill is allocated, primarily
reduce the carrying value of goodwill. Any additional impairment losses reduce the carrying value of the other assets
in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.
With the exception of goodwill, a reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the event of a reversal of previously
recognized impairment indicators.
Leasing
For leasing and tenancy items, pursuant to IAS 17 the leasing item is allocated to the lessor or the lessee in accordance with the criterion of the attribution of all significant risks or benefits associated with the ownership of the
leasing item.
Payments made in connection with an operating leasing agreement (net after accounting for incentive payments
made by the lessor) are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the duration of the leasing
relationship.
From the point of view of a lessee, in the case of finance leases the underlying items are recognized with the lower
value derived from a comparison of the discounted leasing or tenancy payments with fair value at the time of acquisition and depreciated over their useful lives. The recognized assets are offset against the cash value of the o bligation
from the outstanding leasing and/or tenancy payments as at the closing date.
The group does not act as a lessor.
Government grants
In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are only recognized at fair value when reasonable assurance exists
that the entity will comply with any conditions attached to the grant and that it will be received. Grants are basically
recognized as income over the period necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to
compensate. Where grants are received for the purchase or production of assets, the amounts are deferred and
recognized as income for the useful service life of the asset.
Inventories
Own products and goods are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and the net realizable value.
The net realizable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and necessary selling
costs. Raw materials, supplies, and operating materials are valued using sliding average prices. In addition to direct
material and labor costs, group products include an appropriate proportion of material and production overheads
(based on normal operational capacity). The costs of acquisition and production do not contain any borrowing
costs.
The standard prices for own products is determined in accordance with the FIFO principle.
Financial assets
Upon initial recognition, financial assets are to be reported at fair value. Initial recognition takes place on the date of
the trading day.
Financial assets reported at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets that are retained for trading
purposes. A financial asset is allocated to this category when it was purchased with the principal intention of a shortterm sale. Assets in this category are reported as current assets if the realization of the asset value is anticipated
within twelve months. All other assets are classified as non-current.
Changes in the current value of financial assets, which are recognized at fair value, are recognized as profit and loss.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a positive current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
Securities are recognized at their current value.
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Loans and receivables represent non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
listed in an active market. Trade and other receivables belong to this category.
The valuation of this category takes place at amortized cost. Long-term financial assets in this category are valued
using the effective interest method. Recognizable risks are accounted for by means of valuation discounts. These
impairments are recognized as profit and loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have been defined as available-for-sale
or cannot be classified as belonging to any of the other categories. Valuation takes place at fair value, whereby
current value changes are reported as “Other comprehensive income”. In the case of objective indications of
impairment, losses recognized under equity are removed and recognized through profit or loss. Reversals of equity
instrument impairments are not recognized. Such changes to financial instruments are recognized through profit or
loss as value recovery.
Interests in companies, which for reasons of materiality are either not fully consolidated, or are consolidated at
equity, are allocated to this category. As fair value cannot be determined reliably for all non-consolidated participations, the costs of acquisition are maintained as an approximate value. The costs of acquisition (both in the current
reporting period and preceding year) either correspond with fair value or the deviations are minor.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that
are available at any time such as assets at banks with a maximum original maturity of three months.
Hedging relationships
The reporting of changes in the fair value of derivatives is dependent upon if and how hedging instruments have
been designated. The group designates certain financing instruments as hedging against the risks derived from
payment flows (cash flow hedge), which are linked to a recognized asset or liability, or an anticipated future transaction that is highly likely to occur.
Upon the conclusion of the transaction, the group documents the hedging relationship between the hedging instrument and the basic transaction, the objective of its risk management, and the strategy underlying the conclusion of
hedging transactions. In addition, an estimate as to whether the derivatives used in the hedging relationship can
compensate highly effectively for the changes in fair value or cash flow is documented at the beginning of the
hedging transaction and subsequently on an ongoing basis.
The effective part of changes to the fair value of derivatives, which are foreseen for cash flow hedging and can be
designated as a cash flow hedge, is reported as “Other comprehensive income”. Conversely, the ineffective part of
such value changes is recognized directly as profit and loss. Amounts recognized as equity are transferred to profit
and loss and recognized as income or expense during the period in which the basic hedged transaction is recognized (e.g. on the date at which a hedged future sale takes place). However, should a hedged future transaction
result in the recognition of a non-financial asset (e.g. inventories or tangible assets) or a non-financial liability, the
gains or losses previously recognized as equity are included in the initial valuation of the acquisition or production
costs of the asset or the liability.
Financial liabilities
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are reported at fair value and measured following the deduction of the
transaction costs. Subsequently, other financial liabilities are measured with the amortized and the incidental
acquisition costs.
Financial liabilities reported at fair value through profit and loss are financial instruments that are retained for
trading purposes.
Changes in the current value of financial liabilities, which are classified at fair value through profit and loss are
recognized in the income statement.
Unless they qualify as hedges, derivatives with a negative current value belong to the sub-category of the financial
assets held for trading purposes.
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Netting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are only netted and reported in the balance sheet as a net amount when a legal right
to netting exists and the intention is to achieve an offset on a net basis, or realize the affected asset and settle the
related liability simultaneously. A legal claim to netting may not depend upon a future event and must be implementable both in the course of normal business, as well as in the case of a default, insolvency or bankruptcy.
Employee benefits
Within the group, various plans exist for payments to employees due in the long term.
Pensions, obligations similar to pensions and severance payments
A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the group pays fixed amounts to a non-group company or
corporate body. The group is under no legal or de facto obligation to make additional payments should the fund have
insufficient assets in order to meet all the employee claims derived from the current and previous financial years. A
defined contribution plan is not a performance-related plan.
Typically, performance-oriented plans establish a pension sum that the employee will receive upon retirement,
which as a rule is dependent upon one or more factors (such as age, period of service and remuneration). Included
among the performance-oriented plans are the severance payments to be made in Austria to employees, whose
employment relationship commenced prior to 1 January 2003.
The provision made in the balance sheet for performance-oriented plans corresponds with the cash value of the
defined benefit obligation (DBO) on the closing date less the fair value of the plan assets.
An independent actuary calculates the DBO annually by means of the projected unit credit method. The cash value
is established through the discounting of the anticipated future cash outflows with the interest rate for top credit-
rated corporate bonds. The corporate bonds are in the currency of the payment amounts and have maturities in line
with the pension obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses, based on experience-related adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions are
recognized as equity in the period in which they occur in the “Other comprehensive income”.
Service costs and past service costs are recognized immediately as personnel expenses.
Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as interest expenses.
In the case of defined contribution plans, the group makes payments to public or private insurance plans on a legal,
contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no payment obligations above and beyond the contribution payments.
When due, the amounts are recognized as personnel expenses.
Other long-term employee benefits
Other long-term payments to employees include long-term, paid leave of absence such as special leave following
long service or leave for personal further training, long-service bonuses and other related payments. As opposed to
the accounting prescribed for payments made following the termination of the working relationship, revaluations of
the net debt (or net assets) are not recognized as “Other income”, but as an expense or income, as is the case with
service costs and net interest on the net debt (or net assets).
Provisions
Provisions are formed when the group (a) has a current legal or de facto obligation resulting from a prior event,
(b) it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will result in an asset burden and (c) the amount of
the provision could be reliably determined.
Provisions are measured using the cash value of the anticipated expense, whereby a pre-tax interest rate is established that accounts for current market expectations regarding the interest effects and the specific risks relating to
the obligation. Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as
interest expenses.
Current and deferred taxes
The tax expense for the period consists of both current and deferred taxes. Taxes are reported as profit and loss
unless they relate to items reported under “Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”. In this case, the taxes are
also reported under “Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”.
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The current tax expense is calculated using the tax regulations valid on the closing date of the countries in which
the company and its subsidiaries are active and generate taxable income. The management examines tax declarations regularly, in particular with regard to issues subject to interpretation, and where appropriate, forms provisions
based on the amounts expected to be paid to the fiscal authorities.
Tax deferrals are formed for all the temporary differences between the assets/liabilities tax base and their carrying
values in the IFRS financial statements (so-called liabilities method). However, if in the course of a transaction that
does not constitute a company merger, deferred taxation emanates from the initial recognition of an asset or a
liability that at the time of the transaction had neither an effect upon the balance sheet or taxable profit or loss, the
deferred tax asset or liability is neither recognized at the date of initial recognition nor subsequently. Deferred taxes
are measured using those tax rates (and regulations) that apply on the closing date, or have been substantially
adopted into law and which are anticipated to be valid on the date of the realization of the deferred tax accrual or
the settlement of the deferred tax liability.
Deferred taxes are only recognized to the extent that a sufficient fiscal surplus is expected in the future against
which the temporary difference can be employed.
Deferred tax liabilities resulting from temporary differences in connection with interests in subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint arrangements are recognized unless the date of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be determined by the group and it is probable that owing to this influence, it is unlikely that the temporary differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. As a rule, the group has no influence on the date of reversal in the
case of associated companies. Therefore, temporary differences are only not recognized in those cases that are
contractually regulated and upon which the group can exert an influence.
Deferred tax accruals and liabilities are netted when a corresponding legally enforceable right to offsetting exists and
the deferred tax accruals and liabilities relate to income taxes imposed by the same fiscal authority for either
identical or differing tax objects, which intend to complete offsetting on a net basis.
Realization of income and expenses
Sales revenues are measured at the fair value of the payment received or to be received. Sales revenues include the
consideration derived from the sale of goods and are reported free of sales tax, returns, rebates and price reductions.
The group realizes sales revenues once the income amount can be determined reliably, when it is sufficiently certain
that an economic benefit will flow to the company, and when the specific criteria for every type of activity described
below are fulfilled.
The group is active in the fields of pulp, paper and board production and sales. Recognition of sales revenues from
the sale of goods occurs when a group company has supplied a recipient in accordance with the contractual conditions and there are no unfulfilled obligations that could have a negative influence on the acceptance of the goods by
the recipient.
Operating expenses are recognized on the date the service is utilized, or on the date of occurrence.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is the amount either received for a sale or paid for a transfer in the course of
an orderly transaction between market participants on the reporting date. If no current value is available, the
determination of the fair value of derivative financial instruments and securities employs the market-based method
using the market information available on the closing date (reporting date rates, interest rates). In view of the
variability of influential factors, the figures reported here may differ from those subsequently realized. Heinzel
Holding GmbH classifies individual financial instruments as Level 1, 2 or 3 using the input factors of the valuation
method and every year at the end of the reporting period establishes whether or not reallocations between the
individual levels are required.
Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that may affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and financial obligations as at the date of the financial statements, as well as
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can differ from these
estimates. The principle of true and fair view is fully applied in the use of estimates.
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The consolidated financial statements include the following material items, the valuation of which is influenced
significantly by the underlying assumptions and estimates:
•	The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets, goodwill and property is based on forward-looking
statements. The calculation of recoverable amounts as part of the impairment test is based on various assumptions, for example regarding future surplus funds and discount rates. The surplus funds correspond to the values
contained in the latest business plan at the time of preparation of the financial statements.
•	Assumptions relating to interest rates, retirement age, life expectancy, employee turnover and future increases in
remuneration are used for the valuation of existing pension and severance payment obligations.
•	The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on the assumption that sufficient tax income will be realized in the
future to utilize tax loss carryforwards.
•	The fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active market (e.g. OTC derivatives) is determined through
the use of suitable measurement techniques that can be selected from numerous methods. The assumptions
employed in this regard are based to the greatest possible extent on the market conditions on the closing date.
Rounding
Owing to rounding, it is possible that individual figures in these financial statements do not add up precisely to the
sum reported and that the percentages given do not mirror exactly the absolute values that they reflect.
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E. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1. Intangible assets
In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2016
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2016
Net values as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2016

Concessions
and other rights
10,047
5,162
–69
–190
–16
0
14,932
124
60
–95
–162
0
14,859

Software
5,957
1,598
–32
–14
11
0
7,520
1,650
59
–193
162
133
9,331

Goodwill
13,828
0
0
0
0
0
13,828
0
0
0
0
1,633
15,461

Total
intangible
assets
29,832
6,760
–101
–204
–6
0
36,280
1,774
118
–288
0
1,766
39,651

3,991
2,858
0
–190
0
0

2,341
652
–22
–13
–1
0

2,770
0
0
0
0
0

9,102
3,510
–22
–203
–1
0

6,659
3,411
0
–79
0
0

2,959
1,149
36
–190
0
0

2,770

0
0

12,387
4,559
36
–269
0
0

9,991

3,954

2,770

16,714

8,274
4,868

4,561
5,377

11,058
12,691

23,893
22,936

0

Pursuant to IFRS 3, goodwill is no longer subject to scheduled amortization. Parts of the reported goodwill relate to
the sub-group of Wilfried Heinzel AG (EUR 2,829k), Europapier Group (EUR 2,998k) and the sub-group of Bunzl
& Biach Group (EUR 1,633k). The remaining goodwill relates to Laakirchen. There were no capitalized, internally
generated intangible assets within the group.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment with respect to the value in use by means of the discounted cash flow method.
A calculation is made once a year on the basis of the pre-tax cash flow in medium-term planning as part of balance
sheet accounting. The period of the medium-term planning is five years. Following the realization of investments in
expansion during 2017, the result for 2018 will attain roughly the level of 2016 and then rise again in subsequent
years.
Capital gains are counterbalanced by payments in the course of investments in assets and working capital owing to
new product and customer segments.
The cash flows for subsequent years were calculated using a growth rate of approximately 1.36 per cent (2015:
1.80 per cent). Cash flow discounting took place using an average cost of capital (WACC) of 5.97 per cent before
taxes (2015: 5.89 per cent before taxes). There were no goodwill impairments in either the 2016 or the 2015
financial year. A sensitivity analysis showed that with an increase in the discount rate of one percentage point, the
carrying amounts are still covered and no impairment requirement exists.
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2. Tangible assets
The net values represent residual carrying values after depreciation, i.e. purchase costs less accumulated
depreciation.
Total
Property and
Tools and Assets under
tangible
In EUR k
buildings
Machinery
equipment construction
assets
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
194,762
706,959
54,636
8,240
964,598
Investments
2,181
9,028
5,554
27,751
44,514
Foreign currency differences
–2
–38
–13
0
–52
Disposals
–190
–22,478
–2,759
182
–25,245
Transfers/reclassifications
243
2,158
593
–2,876
118
Changes in the scope of
0
0
0
0
0
consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
196,995
695,630
58,011
33,297
983,933
Investments
5,659
19,250
7,372
21,189
53,470
Foreign currency differences
1
91
34
0
126
Disposals
–163
–5,597
–3,524
–15
–9,299
Transfers/reclassifications
826
30,322
608
–31,747
9
Changes in the scope of
13,590
7,425
1,167
506
22,688
consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2016
216,908
747,121
63,667
23,230
1,050,926
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
76,247
429,544
31,852
–232
537,410
Depreciation 2015
7,621
33,772
6,169
53
47,616
Foreign currency differences
0
–38
–13
0
–51
Disposals
–179
–22,325
–2,240
159
–24,585
Transfers/reclassifications
0
–3
4
0
1
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
83,689
440,949
35,771
–20
560,390
Depreciation 2016
7,005
38,203
6,904
–36
52,075
Foreign currency differences
1
71
33
0
105
Disposals
–85
–5,569
–3,039
0
–8,693
Transfers/reclassifications
0
7
2
0
9
Changes in the scope of
consolidation
0
0
0
0
0
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2016
90,609
473,661
39,671
56
603,886
Net values as at 31.12.2015
113,306
254,681
22,240
33,318
423,544
Net values as at 31.12.2016
126,298
273,460
23,996
23,286
447,040
Material additions to the tangible assets in Pöls included payments for the liquor recovery boiler 2 (EUR 11,311k),
the purchase of a biology tank (EUR 3,006k), the enlargement of the evaporation system (EUR 1,436k), further
investments in the use of waste heat from dissolving tank vapors (EUR 1,061k), as well as the acquisition of a new
washing press (EUR 988k) and sheet drier (EUR 994k).
In Laakirchen, investments were made in the PM10 conversion project (EUR 13,689k) and the PM11 calender 1
(EUR 315k). In addition, investments took place in a new energy control system (EUR 251k) and a parking area for
the finished goods store (EUR 164k).
The bulk of investments in Estonia were employed for the purchase of a Liebherr wheeled loader (EUR 258k).
Since 2009, interest is capitalized for long-term investment projects during the construction phase. In the period
expired, no interest expense was capitalized (2015: EUR 0k).
In accordance with IAS 17, land and buildings used subject to leasing contracts, which owing to the design of the
lease are attributable to the lessee (finance leasing), are reported under “Land and buildings”. The carrying value
of these assets amounted to EUR 2,519k as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: EUR 2,571k). Obligations
existing from these contracts are reported as financial liabilities.
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3. Shares in associated and other companies and investments
In line with IAS 39, shares in non-consolidated affiliated and other companies, as well as other interests are allocated to the category of available-for-sale financial assets and show the following movement:

In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2016
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Reversals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Reversals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2016
Net values as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2016
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Shares in
associated
companies
1,728
0
0
0
0
0
1,728
0
0
0
0
0
1,728

Shares in
other
companies
30,312
21,983
0
–30,206
0
0
22,089
670
0
21,938
0
0
821

457
0
0
0
0
0

30,271
0
0
–30,178
0
0

30,728
0
0
–30,178
0
0

457
0
0
0
0
0

93
0
0
17
0
0

550
0
0
17
0
0

457

110

567

1,271
1,271

21,996
711

23,267
1,982

Total
investments
32,040
21,983
0
–30,206
0
0
23,817
670
21,938
0
0
2,549
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4. Other financial assets
Securities held as non-current assets consist of shares in listed investment funds and serve primarily to cover the
provisions for pension payments as required under Austrian tax law.

In EUR k
Gross values as at 31.12.2014
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2015
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Gross values as at 31.12.2016
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2014
Depreciation 2015
Reversals 2015
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2015
Depreciation 2016
Reversals 2016
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31.12.2016
Net values as at 31.12.2015
Net values as at 31.12.2016

Securities
7,883
18
0
–7
0
7,895
1,135
0
–1,090
0
7,940

Loans to
third parties
2
0
0
0
0
2
6,662
0
0
0
6,664

Total
of other
financial
assets
7,885
18
0
–7
0
7,897
7,797
0
–1,090
0
14,604

347
0
9
0
0
0

–2
0
0
0
0
0

345
0
9
0
0
0

339
346
0
0
–40

–2
0
0
0
0

337
346
0
0
–40

32
8,233
7,972

–2
0
6,663

30
8,233
14,635

CURRENT ASSETS
5. Inventories
For obsolete inventories, impairments were established to an amount of EUR 13,570k (2015: 22,430k). In 2016, a
comparison of the purchase price or production cost with the net realizable value resulted in a depreciation requirement of minus EUR 98k (2015: minus EUR 150k), which was reported in the expenses for materials. The carrying
value of inventories depreciated to the lower net realizable value amounted to EUR 9,498k (2015: EUR 2,911k).
In EUR k
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for sale
Payments on account
Supplies and operating materials
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2016
20,679
2,664
109,547
6,841
18,950
158,681

2015
22,053
3,327
104,387
4,027
18,340
152,134
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6. Trade and other receivables
The trade receivables are due from various national and international customers.
In EUR k
Trade receivables
Trade receivables from associated companies
Other receivables
Other receivables from other companies
Other receivables from associated companies
Deferred expenses

2016
297,826
905
45,993
3,332
29
1,008
349,093

2015
243,462
1,107
58,769
3,742
28
621
307,729

The receivables from associated and affiliated companies result primarily from the ongoing offsetting of trade
receivables within the group and from group financing.
The insolvency risk emanating from doubtful customers is accounted for by a provision of EUR 18,356k (2015:
EUR 18,169k). Provisions development is as follows:
In EUR k
Year beginning balance as at 1.1.
Foreign currency differences
Use of provisions
Reversals
Additions
Year ending balance as at 31.12.

2016
18,169
425
–1,093
–3,095
3,950
18,356

2015
16,683
–116
–1,620
–2,384
5,606
18,169

31.12.2016
30,054
9,830
6,109
45,993

31.12.2015
41,456
8,611
8,702
58,769

2016
5,106
27,786
32,891

2015
5,106
51,782
56,888

The item “Other receivables” consists of the following components:
In EUR k
Receivables from tax authorities
Supplier bonuses
Other

7. Other current financial assets
The item “Other current financial assets” is comprised of the following:
In EUR k
Pledged securities
Not pledged securities
Other financial assets

Securities with a carrying value of EUR 5,106k (2015: EUR 5,106k) serve as security for an export credit taken out
by Zellstoff Pöls AG.
8. Other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents
In EUR k
Cash in hand and balances with banks

2016
101,842

2015
82,677

The adjustment of the cash in hand and balances in banks from the previous year relating to currency translation
amounted to EUR 559k (2015: minus EUR 436k).
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
9. Equity
As at 31 December 2016, share capital amounted to EUR 3,635k and was unchanged throughout the 2016
financial year.
The capital reserves as at the closing date for the 2016 financial year contained non-appropriated capital reserves
totaling EUR 8,600k (2015: EUR 8,600k).
The item foreign currency translation contains exchange rate differences from currency translation within the
course of consolidation and as at 31 December 2016 amounted to minus EUR 10,217k (2015: minus EUR 12,703k).
This represents a fall of EUR 2,486k.
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Non-controlling interests
This item includes the equity attributable to minority stockholders in Wilfried Heinzel AG and its subsidiaries, as well
as in Europapier Group, Bunzl & Biach Group and Laakirchen Papier AG and their subsidiaries.
10. Non-current liabilities
This item contains the following:
In EUR k
Non-current financial liabilities Zellstoff Pöls AG
Non-current financial liabilities Heinzel Holding GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities AS Estonian Cell
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier Austria GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier CEE GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Laakirchen Papier AG
Other non-current financial liabilities Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.

2016
22,841
16,700
15,840
0
3,750
22,000
0
81,131

2015
31,903
12,438
21,120
752
5,000
22,000
3,876
97,089

The fair value of the non-current financial liabilities corresponds to the carrying value.
The maturities and interest rates are as follows:

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Heinzel Holding GmbH
AS Estonian Cell
Europapier CEE GmbH
Laakirchen Papier AG

31.12.2016
In EUR k
22,841
16,700
15,840
3,750
22,000
81,131

Interest rate in %
2.15%
1.64%
1.4%
4.7%
3.36%

Maturity
2018–2020
2018–2021
2018–2020
2018–2020
2018–2020

The effective interest rate represents the average interest expense in the 2016 financial year, following consideration
of any interest and currency hedging, in terms of a percentage relative to the average carrying value and amounts
to 2.37 per cent.
Non-current liabilities amounting to EUR 81,131k are due in one to four years.
The carrying values of financial liabilities are reported entirely in euros.
On the closing date, the interest rate change risks relating to the financial liabilities and contractual interest adjustment dates were as follows:

6 months or shorter

2016
81,131
81,131

2015
97,089
97,089

Certain liabilities to banks are secured by means of the granting of liens on company real estate or machine
mortgaging. Furthermore, loan liabilities are secured through bills of surety and federal guarantees from Oester
reichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft (OeKB).
In addition, Heinzel Group receives export loans from the OeKB export credit agency.
As at 31 December 2016, the liabilities to banks in connection with the aforementioned securities amounted to
EUR 60,173k.
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11. Non-current provisions
Pensions and other employee benefits
In EUR k
Provisions for severance payments
Provisions for pensions
Provisions for long-service bonus obligations

2016
29,760
27,252
6,586
63,598

2015
30,404
21,894
6,266
58,564

Personnel of Austrian companies, whose employment commenced prior to 1 January 2003, are entitled to a
one-off payment in the event of their employment being terminated by the employer, or upon their retirement. The
amount of this payment is dependent upon the number of years of service and wages or salary at the time of termination. For personnel, whose employment commenced after 31 December 2002, this obligation is transferred to a
defined contribution plan. Payments to these external employee pension funds are recognized as an expense.
The pension obligations are defined as supplementary pensions on an individual contractual basis, or as part of
company agreements. They exist for Zellstoff Pöls AG, Europapier CE GmbH, EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H,
Laakirchen Papier AG, Bunzl & Biach Gesellschaft m.b.H and Raubling Papier GmbH, and contain retirement,
occupational invalidity pension, widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions. The pensionable age corresponds
with that of the individual agreements. For employees, who are still active, the level of payments has been defined
in accordance with the individual contracts. The company or the pension fund pays the annual pension amount to
solvent employees with vested rights who have already left the company. The widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’
pensions are established in accordance with the agreements.
In addition, various pension commitments exist that primarily affect employees in Austria.
The valuation of social capital is based on the following parameters:

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Pension increases (Heinzel Group)
Pension increases (Europapier Group)
Pension increases (Bunzl & Biach)
Pension increases (Laakirchen)
Retirement age men/women
Mortality tables

%
%
%
%
%
%
Years

2016
1.25
1.25
1.25/0.00
1.25/0.00
1.25
0.00/1.25
max. 65/60
AVÖ 2008-P

2015
2.50
2.25
2.50/0.00
2.50/0.00
2.50
0.00/2.50
max. 65/60
AVÖ 2008-P

The fluctuation probabilities applied in determining the amount of provisions allocated for severance payments and
long-service bonuses are calculated on the basis of a fluctuation analysis from 2013.
In line with a statement from the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee regarding the handling of
“old severance payments” pursuant to IAS 19 from March 2013, terminations of employment and “solutions by
mutual consent on the part of the employer” are not accounted for in the fluctuation.
Therefore, differing fluctuation probabilities are employed for the provisions for severance payments and long-
service bonuses on the basis of employment termination (e.t.p.a.) and payout probabilities (p.p.).
Zellstoff Pöls AG
Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.
Years of service on closing date
0=<2
2=<6
6 = < 15
15 = < 25
from 25

100

White-collar
0%
9%
2%
2%
1%

Blue-collar
0%
2%
3%
1%
0%

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
White-collar
0%
0%
0%
2%
1%

p.p.
Blue-collar
0%
0%
4%
1%
0%

White-collar
0%
0%
0%
100%
0%

Blue-collar
0%
0%
0%
33%
0%
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Wilfried Heinzel AG

White-collar
Years of service on closing date
0=<5
5 = < 15
15 = < 25
from 25

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.
0%
4%
0%
0%

Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.
0%
0%
0%
0%

15%
9%
0%
0%

Europapier Gruppe
Europapier Austria GmbH
White-collar
Years of service on closing date
15 = < 25
26 = < 40
41 = < 50
51 = < 60
Europapier Alpe d.o.o. and
Europapier – Hercegtisak d.o.o.
White-collar
Years of service on closing date
0 = < 14
15 = < 24
25 = < 50

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.
0%
7%
1%
1%

0%
33%
0%
100%

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.
3%
0%
0%

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD
White-collar
Years of service on closing date
0 = < 15
15 = < 25
from 25

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o.
White-collar
Years of service on closing date
0=<1
2=<5
6 = < 14
15 = < 24
25 = < 50

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.

Europapier – Slovensko s.r.o.
White-collar
Years of service on closing date
0=<1
2=<5
6 = < 14
15 = < 24
25 = < 50

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
p.p.
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Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.

3%
0%
0%

5%
7%
1%
3%
0%

8%
4%
0%
0%
0%

0%
3%
1%
1%

Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.
–
–
–

7%
0%
0%

–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
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Laakirchen Papier AG
Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.
Years of service on closing date
0=<5
6 = < 14
15 = < 24
from 25

White-collar
3%
0%
2%
0%

Blue-collar
1%
2%
1%
6%

Severance payments
e.t.p.a.
White-collar
0%
0%
2%
0%

p.p.
Blue-collar
0%
0%
0%
6%

White-collar
0%
0%
100%
100%

Blue-collar
0%
0%
100%
100%

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH and Raubling Papier GmbH

Previous closing date
15 = < 26
26 = < 31
31 = < 36
36 = < 46
46 = < 51
from 51

Long-service bonuses
e.t.p.a.
Men
Women
6%
8%
5%
7%
4%
5%
3%
3%
1%
1%
0%
0%

Provisions for severance payments
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
Initial application of IAS
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Amortization and other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Total actuarial gains and losses
Severance payments
Provisions for severance payments as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

31.12.2016
30,404
0
0
10
693
708
–612

31.12.2015
30,613
0
0
34
720
735
–50

0

0

576
36
612
–2,668
29,760
29,760

0
50
50
–1,748
30,404
30,404

31.12.2016
21,894
1,397
0
530
0
555

31.12.2015
23,336
0
0
497
0
563
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4,311
–1
–1,536
27,252
36,467
9,215
27,252

0
–224
–2,279
21,894
31,126
9,232
21,894

Provisions for pensions
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Past service costs
Interest expense for the period
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Pensions including severance payments
Provisions for pensions as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.
Plan assets
= DBO – plan assets
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Plan assets development
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Interest gains for the period
Income from plan assets excluding contributions reported as
interest
Contributions
– Employer
– Employee
Payments made from plan assets
As at 31.12.

31.12.2016
9,232
0
0
231

31.12.2015
8,129
0
0
203

–99

215

272
0
–420
9,215

1,054
0
–370
9,232

The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations of Wilfried Heinzel AG were reinsured by means of
insurance policies concluded with Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance Group.
The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations of Laakirchen Papier AG are invested in and administered by Allianz Pensionskasse AG.
The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligation to a member of the board of Laakirchen Papier AG are
reinsured through an insurance policy concluded with Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance Group.
The plan asset portfolio structure is shown below.
According to information received, the Allianz Pensionskasse AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:
Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock
Stocks
Financial market
Alternative investments
Bonds
Total

In %
36.00%
1.00%
3.00%
60.00%
100.00%

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
According to information received, the Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG share of plan assets is invested as
follows:
Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock
Fixed interest securities
Stocks, supplementary capital, usufruct rights, part.cap.
Investment funds
Affiliated companies and participations
Loans
Real estate
Bank credits
Total

In %
38.00%
4.00%
35.00%
6.00%
11.00%
4.00%
2.00%
100.00%

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
Other plan assets pursuant to IAS 19 do not exist.
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Provisions for long-service bonuses
In EUR k
As at 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Long-service bonus payments
Long-service bonus provision as at 31.12.
Defined benefit obligation as at 31.12.

31.12.2016
6,266
581
0
366
160
0

31.12.2015
5,591
0
0
289
134
0

0

0

–46
–138
–604
6,586
6,586

0
817
–566
6,266
6,266

The following components were recognized and disclosed in the result for the period:
Pensions
In EUR k
Current service costs
Past service costs
Interest expense
Expected income from plan assets
Amortization
Annual expense

2016
530
0
555
99
0
1,184

2015
497
0
563
–215
0
844

2016
693
708
0
1,402

2015
720
735
0
1,455

2016
366
160
–184
342

2015
289
134
817
1,240

Severance payments
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense
Amortization
Annual expense
Long-service bonuses
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense
Actuarial gains/losses
Annual expense

Contributions of EUR 11k (2016: EUR 830k) to the plan assets are anticipated in 2017.
The average maturities of the respective obligations of the individual companies in years are as follows:
Duration – DBO in years
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Wilfried Heinzel AG, Heinzel Holding GmbH
Companies of the Europapier sub-group
Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Laakirchen Papier AG

Pensions
9
9
10
16

Severance payments
8
7
9
7

Sensitivities to changes in the discount rate and salary and pension increases for pensions and severance
payments
The subsequent actuarial assumptions were considered to be significant and stressed with the following margins:
Hedging interest rate +/–0.25 per cent, wages and salary trend +/–0.25 per cent, pensions trend +/–0.25 per cent.
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The impact upon the DBO should the interest rate or wages, salaries and pensions increase/decrease by 0.25 per cent
is shown.
The differences to the reported values are shown in the table below as relative deviations.
Owing to the differing stock structures of the companies, sensitivities are shown separately.
Heinzel companies
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+3.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–3.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+3.00%
–3.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–3.00%
+3.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2.00%
–2.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2.00%
+2.00%

Assumed change
0.25%
0.25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+4.00%
–1.00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–4.00%
+1.00%

Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Europapier Group
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases
Laakirchen Papier AG
Pensions

Interest rate
Pension increases
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Severance payments

Interest rate
Wage/salary increases

Assumed change
0,25%
0,25%

Parameter decrease/
DBO change
+2,00%
–2,00%

Parameter increase/
DBO change
–2,00%
+2,00%

12. Other liabilities
In EUR k
Obligations from subsidies received
Other

2016
10,403
938
11,342

2015
7,620
333
7,953

The subsidies received are divided as follows in line with their maturities:

Subsidies received

2016
10,403

< Year
1,175

> Year
9,228

Subsidies received

2015
7,620

< Year
1,175

> Year
6,445

The reported subsidies include grants to Pöls for the paper machine 2 project, the installation of the new steam
turbine 4 and the construction of a district heating bleed system. A further tranche relates to funding of the
Laakirchen Papier shoe press. As all conditions and requirements are currently being complied with, there is no risk
that repayment of the subsidies will be required.
Subsidies are realized over the expected useful life of the asset for which they were granted.
13. Liabilities from financial leasing
The office and warehouse building in Bratislava is rented under the terms of a financial leasing agreement. The
contract expires on 31 December 2017, whereby the lessee is obliged to purchase the object following the end of
the lease for a sum of EUR 3,748k.
The interest rates underlying the liabilities from financial leasing are adjusted to the 6-month EURIBOR on a
half-yearly basis. The interest rate at the closing date amounted to 1.309 per cent. The cash value of the minimum
leasing payments has the following maturities:

In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year
Maturity 1–5 years
Maturity > 5 years
As at 31.12.2016

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments
3,919
0
0
3,919

In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year
Maturity 1–5 years
Maturity > 5 years
As at 31.12.2015

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments
128
3,978
0
4,106

Discount
51
0
0
51

Cash value of
minimum leasing
payments
3,868
0
0
3,868

Discount
1
102
0
103

Cash value of
minimum leasing
payments
127
3,876
0
4,003

14. Current financial liabilities
In EUR k
Short-term export financing
Bond and bank financing with maturity < 1 year
Other short-term financing
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2016
47,500
21,426
43,641
112,567

2015
47,500
36,780
41,851
126,131

HEINZEL GROUP

NO T E S T O T HE C ON SO L IDAT ED F IN A NCI A L S TAT EMEN T

Interest rates range between 0.4 and 13.83 per cent, whereby all the liabilities reported under this item have a term
of less than one year.
The carrying values of the financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:
In EUR k
EUR
USD
CAD
CZK
HRK
HUF
PLN
RUB

2016
85,802
756
278
6,757
124
91
15,049
3,711
112,567

2015
97,313
735
331
5,793
357
20
18,352
3,230
126,131

On the closing date, the interest rate change risks in connection with the financial liabilities and contractual interest
rate adjustment dates were as follows:
In EUR k
6 months or shorter

2016
112,567
112,567

2015
126,131
126,131

2016
199,437
22,648
5,948
228,033

2015
185,402
11,590
1,169
198,161

2016
17,917
36,763
135
721
22,723
71
78,329

2015
24,995
19,887
1
386
23,502
2,399
71,169

15. Trade accounts payable
In EUR k
Trade accounts payable to third parties
Trade accounts payable to associated companies
Liabilities from investments

16. Other current provisions and liabilities
In EUR k
Other provisions
Other liabilities to third parties
Other liabilities to associated companies
Deferred income
Other liabilities to affiliated companies
Other liabilities to employees

Other provisions

In EUR k
Legal and
consulting costs
Other personnel-
related provisions
Other
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Additions

Disposals
through
reversals

Disposals
through
utilization

Transfers

Balance as at
31.12.2016

97

228

20

104

0

201

6,958
17,940
24,995

2,358
30,053
32,639

240
2,128
2,387

4,681
26,049
30,834

1,120
5,376
6,496

3,275
14,440
17,917

Balance as at
1.1.2016
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The other provisions from 2016 contain the following items:
In EUR k
Supplier bonuses
Sales revenue deductions
Provisions for outstanding gas and electricity payments
Provisions from hedging
Deferral for outstanding credit notes
Energy Efficiency Act payments LPA
IFRS swap
Payments for building and maintenance measures
FX derivatives
Other

2,810
1,937
1,263
1,255
1,219
1,018
830
695
515
2,898
14,440

For other provisions, maturity is expected within a year.

F. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
17. Sales revenues
During the year under report, Heinzel Group raised its net income by 19.1 per cent to EUR 1,763.3 million. This
increase in sales revenues can be traced to both the expansion of the group through the Raubling location and
positive business development in the other group companies. In addition, both Austrian mills in Pöls and Laakirchen
returned to full capacity operations and also contributed to the rise in sales revenues. The trading area d
 emonstrated
a particularly strong increase in sales revenues as a result of geographical business expansion and the enlargement
of the product range. Trading continues to account for roughly two-thirds of the sales volume of 4,085,827 tonnes.
All the sales revenues attained in 2016 derived from the goods area. Therefore, Heinzel Group had no earnings from
services.
18. Changes in inventories and own work capitalized
In EUR k
Changes in inventories
Own work capitalized

2016
4,724
1,432
6,156

2015
–4,427
1,412
–3,015

The changes in inventories consist of the changes in finished products and work in progress as compared to the
previous year.
In addition to direct material and production costs, own work capitalized contains an appropriate share of material
and production overhead costs.
19. Other operating income
In EUR k
Income derived from the badwill from the initial consolidation
of Raubling Papier GmbH
Other operating income

2016

2015

884
27,206
28,090

0
132,487
132,487

The other operating income contains income from insurances amounting to EUR 3,604k (2015: EUR 89,215k).
This resulted from the damage to the liquor recovery boiler 2 at Zellstoff Pöls AG. In addition, this item contains the
income derived from insurance payments to Laakirchen Papier AG totaling EUR 8,645k, which resulted from a fire
involving one of the paper machines.
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20. Cost of materials and services
In EUR k
Raw materials
Supplies and operating materials
Goods for resale

2016
281,949
197,298
982,616
1,461,863

2015
213,767
199,899
876,154
1,289,821

2016
39,686
61,092
1,719
1,811
27,172
3,654
135,134

2015
34,467
54,398
1,408
1,809
24,168
4,017
120,267

21. Personnel expenses
In EUR k
Wages
Salaries
Expenses for severance payments
Expenses for pensions
Statutory social expenses
Voluntary social expenses

The expenses for defined contribution plans reported under the personnel expenses amounted to EUR 1,797k
(2015: EUR 1,695k).
22. Other operating expenses
In EUR k
Taxes other than taxes on income and earnings
Consultants and fees
Insurance
Rents and leasing
IT and communications costs
Travel expenses
Advertising costs
Trade receivable defaults
Training costs
Donations and representational costs
Contributions
Office material
Miscellaneous other operating income

2016
1,197
8,441
5,945
9,919
3,586
4,247
1,588
2,106
979
1,173
860
633
25,819
66,493

2015
1,015
6,176
5,337
7,290
3,446
3,959
1,181
2,372
1,007
850
707
526
21,657
55,523

An amount of minus EUR 107k (2015: EUR 363k) in recognized exchange rate differences is reported under the
item “Miscellaneous other operating expenses”.
23. Financial results
The interest and other financial result consists of the following components:
In EUR k
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividend income
Income/expenses from fair value recognition of derivatives
Other financial income/expenses

2016
2,430
–7,167
424
–972
294
–4,991

2015
3,220
–10,732
88
–3,719
–1,662
–12,804

The item “Other financial income/expenses” is composed of payments derived from the disposal of non-current
financial assets amounting to EUR 24,615k, the carrying value of other current financial assets totaling minus EUR
26,138k, as well as the write-up and write-down of other fixed interest financial assets amounting to EUR 1,816k.
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24. Income taxes
The corporate tax rate applicable to the parent company, Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, as at the closing date
was 25 per cent.
With the 2005 Tax Reform Act, the Austrian legislature created the possibility for group taxation. Under this system,
following the clearing of prior losses, the tax results of the companies belonging to the tax group are attributed to the
tax group parent. To compensate for the tax results being passed on to the tax group parent, an apportionment of
taxes is agreed in the tax group contracts.
For the calculation of deferred taxes, an income tax rate of 25 per cent is applied to companies located in Austria,
whereas for companies located abroad the effective tax rate of the relevant country is used. Losses occurring within
the Heinzel tax group (Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG acts as the tax parent of Heinzel Holding GmbH and all
Austrian group companies are members of the Heinzel taxation group) are immediately utilizable within the
companies included in the tax group in the same year in which the losses are incurred. As a result of the recent
volatility in the industry and trading segments, the business plans for the coming financial year are used for the
calculation of the share of tax loss carryforwards that the group will be able to employ in the future. The capitalization
of deferred taxes was effected to an extent that will make it possible to employ them through future positive
operating results. No tax d
 eferrals were formed for additional loss carryforwards in Austria in excess of EUR 5,506k.
On the basis of current planning in certain foreign markets, in the paper trading segment no large future results or
risks exist with regard to fiscal enforceability and therefore these were not reported in full. The trading segment
shows foreign loss carryforwards totaling EUR 9,157k.

In EUR k
Earnings before taxes
Income tax expenses
Effective tax rate (%)
In EUR k
Current income tax
Deferred taxes

Earnings before taxes
Expected income tax expenditure
Effects of foreign tax rates
Taxes from previous periods
Use of tax shields
Capitalization of loss carryforwards from
previous periods
Change in the provision for tax deferrals
Effects of initial and subsequent consolidation
Other permanent differences
Actual income tax expenditure

2016
In EUR k
73,647
18,412
–631
62
–1,559
–3
–491
221
2
16,015

2016
73,647
–16,015
21.7

2015
81,410
–19,855
24.4

2016
16,316
–301
16,015

2015
20,963
–1,108
19,855

In %
100.0
25.0
–0.9
0.1
–2.1
0.0
–0.7
0.3
0.0
21.7

2015
In EUR k
81,410
20,353
–342
170
–738
–4
–1,687
1,436
666
19,855

In %
100.0
25.0
–0.4
0.2
–0.9
0.0
–2.1
1.8
0.8
24.4

In accordance with IAS 12.39, deferred taxes derived from the differences of the pro rata net assets and the fiscal
carrying value of interests in subsidiaries totaling EUR 84,198k (2015: EUR 74,445k) are not recognized, as a sale
of the interests is not to be expected in the foreseeable future.
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The time differences between the values of the tax statement and the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:
Assets
Liabilities
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current provisions and liabilities
Current provisions and liabilities
Loss carryforwards
Consolidation:
Intercompany profit elimination
Silent reserves
Other
Corporation tax rate
Deferred taxes
Offsetting of deferred taxes to the same
fiscal authority
Net deferred taxes
Thereof current
Composition in detail
Non-current assets
thereof intangible assets
thereof tangible assets
thereof financial assets

31.12.2016
8,841
3,029
39,564
12,892
3,148
67,475

31.12.2015
14,092
911
34,097
7,164
2,584
58,848

31.12.2016
44,106
3,437
0
15,005
0
62,548

31.12.2015
44,459
818
0
13,715
0
58,992

0
0
0
67,475

2,080
0
–625
60,304

0
0
0
62,548

48
0
0
59,040

16,558

14,538

15,696

14,738

–11,155
5,403
3,980

–8,147
6,391
2,019

–11,155
4,541
4,611

–8,147
6,591
3,633

0
1,408
7,433
8,841

0
2,243
11,849
14,092

226
43,880
0
44,106

204
44,255
0
44,459

25. Miscellaneous information
OBLIGATIONS RELATING OF THE USE OF ASSETS NOT REPORTED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
The amounts of obligations relating to the use of assets not reported in the balance sheet (operating leasing
contracts) for the uncallable period are as follows:
In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year
Maturity 1–5 years
Maturity > 5 years
Total

2016
7,209
10,758
5,411
23,378

2015
2,562
7,762
4,658
14,982

The total rental and leasing expense (operating leasing) amounted to EUR 10,559k in the 2016 financial year (2015:
EUR 7,290k).
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The indirect method was employed for the cash flow statement. The fund of cash and cash equivalents corresponds
to cash in hand and bank balances.
NON-CASH EXPENSES AND INCOME ITEMS
The main non-cash expense and income items comprise the following:
In EUR k
Depreciation
Changes in pensions and other employee
obligations, as well as long-term provisions
Other non-cash expenses and income
Total
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2016
55,449

2015
50,057

5,033
–9,535
50,947

–975
–5,352
43,730
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SEGMENT REPORTING
Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries operate in three business segments comprised by industry, trading and
others. The definition of operating segments is based on internal control and internal financial reporting to the
Heinzel Holding GmbH (CODM) Board. The management reviews the business success of the segments regularly
in order to allocate segment resources to the segments. The segments include the following companies:
Segment
Industry

Description
Production of pulp and
paper

Trading

Trading with pulp and
paper products

Others

Group management

Company
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling
Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Vienna
Austria Recycling s.r.o., Temelin
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl, and subsidiaries
Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

Segment information is generally subject to the same disclosure, accounting and valuation methods as the consolidated financial statements.
Business segments
In the course of segment reporting, the Laakirchen Papier sub-group consisting of Laakirchen Papier AG and
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH was allotted to the “Industry” segment. This segment also includes the pulp
plant in Estonia, Zellstoff Pöls AG, and since January 2016, the Raubling sub-group, consisting of Raubling Papier
GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH.
The “Trading” segment shows the results of the Wilfried Heinzel AG sub-group, the consolidated Europapier Group
and the recycled paper sub-group (Bunzl & Biach and its subsidiaries).
2016
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues with
external customers
Material expenditure
Personnel expenditure
Amortization
EBIT
Segment assets
Segment debts
Payments for investments
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Industry
633,902

Trading
1,284,272

Other
4

Consolidation
–154,848

Total
1,763,330

67,921

86,899

0

–154,821

0

565,980
481,566
81,213
48,665
53,682
715,360
337,863
–45,828

1,197,373
1,162,310
52,527
6,775
25,728
399,089
266,734
–6,748

4
3
1,394
106
–1,755
271,794
49,280
–173

–27
–154,848
0
–97
982
–251,740
–72,425
0

1,763,330
1,489,031
135,134
55,449
78,638
1,134,504
581,452
–52,749
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2015
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues with
external customers
Material expenditure
Personnel expenditure
Amortization
EBIT
Segment assets
Segment debts
Payments for investments

Industry
485,810

Trading
1,109,201

Other
5

Consolidation
–114,605

Total
1,480,410

52,617

61,989

0

–114,606

0

433,193
410,517
70,588
43,495
76,264
663,552
310,334
–39,550

1,047,211
993,908
48,412
6,594
25,281
365,468
244,180
–4,935

5
1
1,266
97
–1,712
289,491
69,885
8

1
–114,605
0
–129
–5,618
–233,755
–58,025
0

1,480,410
1,289,821
120,267
50,057
94,214
1,084,756
566,374
–44,477

Geographic information
In the following table, selected financial information is summarized according to the main geographical regions.
Revenues from external customers are given with regard to their registered domicile. Assets and capital expenditure
are allocated based upon corporate location. Non-current assets include items of tangible and intangible assets
(including goodwill).
2016
In EUR k
Western Europe
Central and Eastern Europe
Austria
Middle East
North Africa
South-Eastern Europe
Far East/Oceania
Russia
South America
Central and Southern Africa
North America

Revenues from
external customers
414,719
280,041
187,358
165,247
184,106
129,640
171,649
158,365
46,006
22,492
3,707
1,763,330

Non-current assets
25,541
67,173
369,780
4,564
402
0
0
0
0
0
2,516
469,976

Pulp deliveries within the group are accounted for at market prices. Other services within the group are accounted
for on the basis of the actual services performed.
The group has no revenues from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to at least ten per cent
of the group sales revenues.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Non-derivative financial instruments
The receivables, shares and liabilities classified as primary financial instruments were recognized in accordance
with IAS 39. Accounting and measurement principles are described in the respective balance sheet items.
Purchases and sales of financial instruments are recorded as at the settlement date.
Long-term investments are intended to develop the covering holdings necessary for social capital.
b) Derivative financial instruments
Heinzel Group employs derivative financial instruments to hedge risks from operating and financing activities
(changes in interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices). The company’s operative objectives are a smoothing of the result from foreign currency positions, the fixing of the interest result and raw material price hedging.
Foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps are used to limit and control existing foreign currency
and interest rate risks.
Forward exchange contracts were concluded, inter alia, with respect to the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian
forint, Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna and Romanian leu and relate to planned purchases or the financing
of working capital in foreign currencies for the year 2017.
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The following contracts were completed as at 31 December 2016:
In EUR k
Purchase USD
Sale USD
Sale JPY
Sale AUD
Sale BGN
Sale CZK
Sale PLN
Sale HRK
Sale HUF
Sale RON
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Nominal value
assets
0
85,346
580
6,600
2,069
0
2,287
2,753
6,388
3,802
109,824
50,091
159,916

Nominal value
liabilities
2,879
0
0
0
0
2,579
3,260
1,450
2,200
2,070
14,438
0
14,438

Current value
assets
54
0
6
11
0
3
4
3
40
121
0
121

Current value
liabilities
0
–1,904
0
0
–1
0
0
0
–26
0
–1,930
–1,628
–3,558

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December
2015 is as follows (amounts in EUR k):
Cash flow hedging
not recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Derivatives
recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Nominal value
assets
0
57,984
57,984

Nominal value
liabilities
0
0
0

Current value
assets
0
0
0

Current value
liabilities
0
–1,396
–1,396

Nominal value
assets
73,488
14,667
88,155

Nominal value
liabilities
–21,554
0
–21,554

Current value
assets
310
0
310

Current value
liabilities
–541
–661
–1,202

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as at 31 December
2016 is as follows (amounts in EUR k):
Cash flow hedging
not recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Derivatives
recognised as
profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Nominal value
assets
0
39,591
39,591

Nominal value
liabilities
0
0
0

Current value
assets
0
0
0

Current value
liabilities
0
–1,039
–1,039

Nominal value
assets
109,824
10,500
120,325

Nominal value
liabilities
14,438
0
14,438

Current value
assets
121
0
121

Current value
liabilities
–1,930
–589
–2,519

As at 31 December 2016, forward exchange transactions had a term of up to six months. The horizon for the interest
swaps of EUR 14,226k is short-term and these are due within a year. The remaining swaps totaling EUR 35,865k
are long-term and are due for repayment in one to five years.
The rules for cash flow hedging as stipulated by IAS 39 are applied to interest derivatives concluded for an existing
loan. Conversely, for derivatives with no active financial liability, interest derivatives are recognized in the income
statement at their current value. In the case of other derivatives, the hedge accounting regulations contained in IAS
39 are not applied and instead are reported as stand-alone derivatives.
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined using measurement methods based on the
input parameters observable on the market.
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Gains and losses from hedging instruments that are attributable to the effective portion of the changes in the current
value of derivatives in cash flow hedges are recognized in the statement of all income and expenses recognized as
other income. The ineffective part of the gains or losses is immediately recognized in the income statement.
Financial instruments are recognized centrally and immediately after the completion of transactions. This allows
continuous assessment (mark-to-market valuation) and a judgment of the current risk situation. The following
closing date exchange rates (all against the euro) and interest rates are employed for the valuation of foreign
exchange derivatives:
AUD
1.4607

BGN
1.9558

CAD
1.4216

CZK
27.0529

HRK
7.5512

HUF
309.61

PLN
4.418

RON
4.5447

USD
1.0553

JPY
123.60

ON
1 month
3 months
6 months
9 months

EUR
–0.37
–0.43
–0.36
–0.36
–0.18

AUD
2.03
3.19
2.39
2.08
2.52

BGN
–0.26
–0.21
–0.12
0.03
0.21

CAD
0.18
0.48
1.09
1.14
1.24

CZK
0.07
–0.78
–0.73
–0.99
–1.19

HRK
0.35
0.45
0.60
0.75
0.90

HUF
–0.32
0.08
0.17
0.36
0.26

PLN
1.35
1.56
1.61
1.70
1.71

RON
0.41
0.54
0.60
0.91
0.60
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USD
0.63
0.78
1.00
1.31
1.45

YEN
–0.08
–0.30
–0.18
–0.20
–0.25
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Supplementary disclosures on financial instruments
The following table presents the financial instruments of Heinzel Group by category in accordance with IAS 39
(amounts in EUR k).
Financial assets
Interests in other companies
Other non-current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables and
provisions
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

Financial assets
Interests in other companies
Other non-current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables and
provisions
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities
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Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at (amortized) cost
Financial assets at fair value
recognized as profit or loss (held for
trading purposes)
Held at (amortized) cost
Derivatives at fair value recognized
as profit or loss

Held at (amortised) cost
Held at (amortised) cost
Held at fair value and not recognised
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognised
as profit or loss

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognized
as profit or loss
Held at (amortized) cost
Financial assets at fair value
recognized as profit or loss (held for
trading purposes)
Held at (amortized) cost
Derivatives at fair value recognized
as profit or loss

Held at (amortised) cost
Held at (amortised) cost
Held at fair value and not recognised
as profit or loss
Held at fair value and recognised
as profit or loss

31.12.2016

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

711

0

0

711

7,972
101,842

0
101,842

0
0

7,972
0

32,891
343,819

32,891
340,697

0
1,105

0
2,017

121
487,356

121
475,551

0
1,105

0
10,700

193,697

45,196

57,185

91,316

236,200

230,060

5,704

436

1,039

1,039

0

0

2,519
436,455

2,519
278,814

0
62,889

0
91,752

31.12.2015

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

21,996

0

0

21,996

8,233
82,677

0
82,677

0
0

8,233
0

56,888
261,882

980
260,898

5,642
336

50,266
648

310
431,986

310
344,865

0
5,978

0
81,143

223,221

61,389

55,476

106,355

205,311

200,438

4,862

11

1,396

1,396

0

0

1,202
431,130

1,202
264,425

0
60,338

0
106,366
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The following table analyzes the financial instruments reported as fair value according to the type of input factors for
the valuation method. IFRS 13 defines three input factor levels (fair value hierarchy):
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. extrapolated from prices) and are not included in Level 1.
Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.

Financial assets
In EUR k
Other non-current
financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets
Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities
Financial assets
In EUR k
Other non-current
financial assets
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets
Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities

31.12.2016

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

7,972
32,891
121

7,972
32,891
0

0
0
121

0
0
0

31.12.2016
3,558

Level 1
0

Level 2
3,558

Level 3
0

31.12.2015

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

8,233
56,888
310

8,233
56,888
0

0
0
310

0
0
0

31.12.2015
2,598

Level 1
0

Level 2
2,598

Level 3
0

Level 2 contains derivative financial instruments (forex). The current value reported (both in the current reporting
period and the previous year) is understood as being prior to accounting for counterparty default risk and own
creditworthiness, whereby the deviations from the given current values are minimal.
As at 31 December 2016, no reallocations between the various levels were required.
Net gains or net losses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities
Financial liabilities valued at (amortized) cost
Derivatives

2016
–7,225
136
784
1,107

2015
16,999
–1,709
–9,656
3,847

2016
1,239
1,388
–2,509
–1,050

2015
1,302
2,097
–2,592
315

Interest income or interest expenses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k
Loans and receivables
Securities
Financial liabilities
Derivatives
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Capital management disclosures
The main objectives of Heinzel Group’s capital management are the securing of the liquidity necessary to support
its business activities and the maintenance of an appropriate credit rating and an equity ratio that is sufficient to
ensure sustainability.
The gearing ratio (net debt to equity) for Heinzel Group is established within a target range of 40 to 80 per cent,
whereby current net debt only amounts to 10.7 per cent (2015: 16.1 per cent). The equity ratio target is 30 per cent,
which at present is clearly exceeded with 48.7 per cent (2015: 47.8 per cent). Investment policy is always geared
to cash flow projections, which are updated at least four times a year. Stringent working capital management is
undertaken in all areas of business in order to avoid risks at an early stage.

Netting of financial assets and liabilities
The assets and liabilities emanating from currency future transactions were netted in both the 2016 and 2015
financial years. The net values of the netted assets and liabilities presented the following picture (amounts in EUR k):

31.12.2016
Derivative financial
instruments
Total

31.12.2015
Derivative financial
instruments
Total

Nominal
value
assets

Nominal
value
liabilities

Net value
nominal
value

Current
value
assets

Current
value
liabilities

Net value
current
value

159,916
159,916

–14,438
–14,438

145,478
145,478

121
121

–3,558
–3,558

–3,437
–3,437

Nominal
value
assets

Nominal
value
liabilities

Net value
nominal
value

Current
value
assets

Current
value
liabilities

Net value
current
value

146,139
146,139

–21,554
–21,554

124,585
124,585

310
310

–2,598
–2,598

–2,288
–2,288

RISK REPORTING
MARKET RISKS
Heinzel Group is exposed to market risks, which relate primarily to foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the
current values of investments of liquid assets. The group constantly monitors these exposures. To manage the
emerging volatility affiliated with these risks, the group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments in accordance with group policy. Where apposite, the group’s objective is to reduce the fluctuations in earnings and cash
flows emanating from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, and the value of investments. Heinzel Group
undertakes no financial transactions that include a non-assessable risk at the time of their conclusion.
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
Group reporting takes place in euros. The exchange rate risks of Heinzel Group derive mainly from the purchase
and sale of goods in foreign currency, as well as from financing in foreign currencies. These risks primarily relate to
the parity of the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna, and the
Romanian leu against the euro. Heinzel Group uses forward exchange transactions to hedge anticipated foreign
currency revenues.
Foreign currency positions and hedging transactions are continuously monitored. Accordingly, if on the closing date
of 31 December 2016, the exchange rate of the currencies listed below with regard to FX derivatives had moved by
the stated percentages (“volatility”) against the euro and assuming that all other variables had remained constant,
the profit for the year would have been higher or lower by the subsequent amounts. Volatility was determined on the
basis of the daily exchange rate movements during 2016 (values in EUR k).
Currency
USD
AUD
HUF
JPY
PLN
RON
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Volatility
+9.2%
+10.7%
+4.7%
+12.6%
+6.6%
+2.4%

Result effect
+6,819
+637
+176
+71
–91
+38

Volatility
–9.2%
–10.7%
–4.7%
–12.6%
–6.6%
–2.4%

Result effect
–8,166
–790
–215
–74
+42
–45
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INTEREST RATE RISK
Heinzel Group manages its net interest rate risk through the ratio of fixed rate to variable rate debt. As at 31 December 2016 the share of fixed-interest financial liabilities amounted to 34.18 per cent (2015: 38.56 per cent). For
long-term floating rates, interest rate swaps are also used and these are exchanged within the scope of recurrent
payments, based on nominal values and agreed fixed and variable interest rates.
As part of the implementation of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis was performed with respect to interest rate changes
for variable interest rate borrowings.
An increase in variable interest rates on borrowings by 100 bps would change the interest expense by EUR 1,214k
(EUR 1,366k).
An interest increase (reduction) of 100 bps was also assumed for interest swaps and this would impact the current
value of interest rate derivatives as follows:
Change in equity (interest swap with hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 700k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR 714k
Recognized change (for an interest rate swap without hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 316k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR 342k
Interest is fixed in advance for the next three and six months at the respective calendar quarter.
COUNTERPARTY RISK
Counterparty risks include the default risk related to derivative financial instruments and money market funds, as well
as the credit risk on current account balances and money market transactions. The default risk and credit risk are
reduced by exclusively selecting banks and financial institutions as counterparties that have at least an A-rating at the
time of transaction. The process of investing freely available funds in the bonds of non-financial companies with a
credit rating of at least BBB, which was initiated in 2011, was continued in 2016. Moreover, the Group Treasury
establishes and monitors specific limits for each counterparty. Heinzel Group does not expect any losses resulting
from counterparties defaulting on their contractual obligations and is not subject to any significant cluster risks.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not having sufficient liquidity available at all times to meet financial obligations when
due and at a reasonable price. Group-wide cash reporting helps to limit this risk and guarantees the transparency
required for targeted financial resource management. In addition, Heinzel Group also regularly takes advantage of
the financing opportunities offered by the financial markets. A primary goal of liquidity management is to safeguard
the financial flexibility and independence of the group and limit any undue refinancing risks.
Liquidity risk is dealt with through the creation of a medium-term financing framework, which is underpinned by
individually agreed financial covenants.
These agreements are intended to accommodate the conflicting interests of both parties. The aim is to obtain
information at the earliest possible date of negative developments regarding the debtor and the provision of Heinzel
Group with the entrepreneurial freedom to secure corporate financing and liquidity rather than be subject to any
unexpected loan cancellations. This allows the contractual parties to initiate proactive countermeasures.
In the case of a demand for repayment non-adherence to the financial covenants may have debt item c onsequences.
The following financial covenants are to be found in the credit agreements of Heinzel Group: equity ratio, net financial liabilities/EBITDA and EBIT margin.
The covenants are examined quarterly or half-yearly and reported to the lender bank. In addition, adherence to the
covenants is also examined during the preparation of the annual budget and forecasting. No infringement of the
financial covenants is anticipated for the 2017 budget or the forecast period from 2018 to 2021.
Heinzel Group fulfilled the financial covenants on the 31 December 2016 closing date.
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The following table shows the financial liabilities derived from financial liabilities subject to interest, trade payables
and derivative financial instruments.

In EUR k
Financial liabilities to banks
Trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

31.12.2016
193,697
222,085

Less
than
1 year
112,556
222,085

1–2
years
41,862
0

2–3
years
18,791
0

3–4
years
19,791
0

4–5
years
687
0

More
than
5 years
0
0

3,558

3,558

0

0

0

0

0

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The focus was on the ongoing development of processes in the pulp sector and in particular, systematic advances
with respect to energy use and its optimization. In the 2016 financial year, expenses amounting to EUR 612k for
research and development were recognized in the income statement.
MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE
No significant events occurred after the closing date.
INFORMATION REGARDING BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND PERSONS
Business relations between the group and related party entities are concluded under customary conditions at arm’s
length and are included in the following items:
2016 financial year
In EUR k
Sales revenues
Material expense/services received
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Interest earnings
Interest expenses
Income tax (levied)
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Other liabilities

Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)
0
0
337
0
0
0
16,316
377
3,332
1,405
22,723

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Associated
companies
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
529
29
21,243
135

2015 financial year
In EUR k
Sales revenues
Material expense/services received
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Interest earnings
Interest expenses
Income tax (levied)
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Other liabilities

Parent company
(or external
sub-groups)
0
0
931
0
0
0
20,963
128
3,742
987
23,502

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Associated
companies
0
0
4
0
0
0
0
979
28
10,603
1

The parent company of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. A tax allocation agreement
exists with Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG in connection with the membership of the Austrian companies in the
group. Tax allocations are recognized in the item “Taxes on income and earnings”.
A business relationship exists with the Supervisory Board member Johannes Klezl-Norberg, which is of no material
significance to the financial result of the company. The billing of services rendered is subject to the general hourly
rates of the Dr. Klezl-Norberg law firm.
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CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS
In EUR k
Bank guarantees
Import letters of credit
Other contingencies

2016
1,582
464
22,127
24,173

2015
942
2,249
11,353
14,544

As at the closing date, the purchase commitment for property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 38k (2015:
EUR 291k). The bulk of this amount derives from orders for the boiler flue gas heat recovery project in Pöls.
INFORMATION REGARDING BOARD MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES
During the 2016 financial year, Heinzel Group had an average of 1,040 blue-collar employees (2015: 914) and
1,344 white-collar employees (2015: 1,201). A breakdown of employee earnings in the income statement into
expenses for wages and expenses for salaries is in accordance with the requirements of the respective country of
employment, while a breakdown of the average personnel figures into blue-collar and white-collar employees was
carried out according to functional criteria.
In the 2016 financial year, the following persons were appointed as members of the Management Board:
RIIA SILLAVE
ALFRED HEINZEL (until 31 March 2016)
KURT MAIER (from 1 April 2016)
The remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board of Heinzel Holding GmbH was as follows:
In EUR k
Fixed amounts
Variable amounts
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits

2016
511
289
0
0
800

2015
606
125
0
0
731

The following persons served as members of the Supervisory Board:
WOLFGANG PFARL, Chairman (until 31 March 2016)
ALFRED HEINZEL, Chairman (from 1 April 2016)
ALEXANDER RIKLIN, Deputy Chairman
JOHANNES KLEZL-NORBERG
GERALD PRINZHORN
BARBARA SCHMIDT
In the current year, the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board totaled EUR 50,000 (2015:
EUR 50,000).
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PURSUANT TO §245a OF THE AUSTRIAN COMMERCIAL CODE (UGB)
Of the expenses for the auditors, EUR 25,000 relate to the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2016,
EUR 166,646 to other auditing services and EUR 54,847 to tax consulting services.
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION OF HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
Name of company and registered office
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna
Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Bunzl & Biach Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Temelin
Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Heinzel Import-Export Inc., New York
Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l., Milan
Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc., New York
Heinzel Sales France S.A.S., Paris
Interfibre AG, Zug
Heinzel Deutschland GmbH, Wiesbaden
Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd., Vancouver
North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc., Vancouver
Europapier Adria d.o.o., Zagreb
Europapier Alpe d.o.o., Ljubljana
Europapier – Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava
Europapier Dunav d.o.o., Belgrade
Europapier CE GmbH, Vienna
Europapier Austria GmbH, Vienna
Europapier – Hercegtisak d.o.o., Siroki Brijeg
Europapier Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia
Europapier Bohemia, spol. s.r.o., Prague
Europapier CEE GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier Budapest Kft., Budapest
LLC Europapier, Moscow
Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o., Błonie
EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Frastanz
Europapier Romania SRL, Bucharest
Europapier Poland GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw
Lexica – SFE JSC., Moscow
Europapier CIS GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Europapier East Europe GmbH, Hinterbrühl
Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling
HBB Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
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Currency
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
CZK
EUR
USD
EUR
USD
EUR
EUR
EUR
CAD
CAD
HRK
EUR
EUR
RSD
EUR
EUR
BAM
BLN
CZK
EUR
HUF
RUB
PLN
EUR
RON
EUR
PLN
RUB
EUR
EUR
EUR

Nominal
capital
24,636,093
72,895,965
1,825,000
17,500
35,000
70,000
72,673
36,336
109,009
200,000
35,000
100,000
50,000
2,500
40,000
64,700
25,000
3,055,000
2,488,574
6,349,300
341,721
136,096
385,234,653
2,623,000
35,000
1,760,247
3,330,000
37,100,000
35,000
370,300,000
168,997,283
21,020,000
508,710
5,000,000
35,000
171,700
10,000
35,000
35,000
1,533,876

EUR
EUR

150,000
204,517

Shares
Type of
in %
consolidation
99.99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
51 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
51 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
90 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
65 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99.9972 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
50 Fully consolidated1
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
99 Fully consolidated
100 Fully consolidated
50 Fully consolidated2
94.9 Fully consolidated
100
53.5

Fully consolidated
Fully consolidated

1

 U-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. is fully consolidated because, as explained in Item III. of the syndicate agreeE
ment, control exists. This paragraph states that Europapier may name the CEO to be appointed and the partner
may only reject the CEO for important reasons.

2

 onversely Europapier East Europe GmbH is fully consolidated owing to the fact that due to internal directives,
C
control over decisions affecting the business activities of the company exists.
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NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Name of company and registered office
Papierholz Austria GmbH, St. Gertraud
ZPA Fernwärmetransportleitungs GmbH, Köflach
Bioenergie Aichfeld GmbH, Pöls
EEVG Entsorgungs- und Energieverwertungs GmbH, Steyrermühl
Papyrus Altpapierservice Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg
Austria Papier Recycling GmbH, Vienna
Europapier Dienstleistungs GmbH, Eggenburg
AS Nor-Est Wood, Paide

Currency
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

Nominal
capital
72,673
35,000
35,000
36,336
229,494
181,682
35,000
40,000

Shares in %
25
20
20
20
31.67
33.36
25
26.5

Vorchdorf, 28 February 2017
Kurt Maier m.p., Riia Sillave m.p.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AUDIT OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2016, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the fiscal year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements
and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements under
Section 245a Austrian Commercial Code.
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require the application of the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and professional requirements,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a UGB, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going c oncern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards,
which require the application of ISAs, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards, which require
the application of ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit.
We also:
•	Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
•	Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
•	Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
•	Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
•	Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
•	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 16
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COMMENTS ON THE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE GROUP
Pursuant to the Austrian Commercial Code, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to
whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the management
report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report for the Group in accordance
with the Austrian Commercial Code.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing for the audit of the
management report for the Group.
Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable
legal requirements and is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated financial statements and due to the obtained
understanding concerning the Group and its circumstances no material misstatements in the
management report for the Group came to our attention.

Vienna, 28 February 2017

PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH
Mag. Werner Krumm m.p.
Austrian Certified Public Accountant

This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid. Publication and sharing
with third parties of the consolidated financial statements together with our auditor’s opinion is only
allowed if the consolidated financial statements and the management report for the Group are identical
with the German audited version. This audit opinion is only applicable to the German and complete
consolidated financial statements with the management report for the Group. For deviating versions, the
provisions of Section 281 (2) UGB apply.
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At its meetings on 30 March, 30 July, 29 September and 21 December 2016, the Supervisory Board
was informed by the management, verbally and in writing, of the course of business and the company’s
current position.
The annual financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2016 and
the management report including the accounting were audited by PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH,
Vienna. This also applies to the consolidated annual financial statements, which were prepared in
accordance with the IFRS and supplemented by the management report for the Group and further
notes under the terms of §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The audit confirmed that the
accounting, the annual financial statements and management report, the consolidated annual financial
statements according to the IFRS, and the management report for the Group conform to legal requirements and the articles of association. The audit provided no reason for objection, and the auditors duly
issued an unqualified opinion for the consolidated annual financial statements and the annual financial
statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH. The Supervisory Board concurs with the consolidated financial
statements and the financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December
2016. The Supervisory Board has considered and approves the Management Board’s proposal regarding the appropriation of the profit.
The members of the Supervisory Board extend their thanks to the members of the Management Board
and the entire Heinzel Group workforce for their commitment and outstanding achievements during
2016.
Vienna, 30 March 2017
Alfred Heinzel m.p.
Alexander Riklin m.p.
Johannes Klezl-Norberg m.p.
Gerald Prinzhorn m.p.
Barbara Schmidt m.p.
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BOARD MEMBERS
As at 31 December 2016

HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Kurt Maier
CEO
Riia Sillave
CFO
SUPERVISORY BOARD
Alfred Heinzel
Chairman
Alexander Riklin
Deputy Chairman

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

Mark Lunabba
CEO

Andreas Vogel
CEO

Siiri Lahe
CFO

Franz Baldauf
CFO

Ingrid Gruber
CFO

Lauri Raid
CTO

SUPERVISORY BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Kurt Maier
Chairman

Veit Sorger
Honorary President

Riia Sillave
Chairwoman

Riia Sillave
Deputy Chairwoman

Kurt Maier
Chairman

Kurt Maier

Doris Hummer

Riia Sillave
Deputy Chairwoman

Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Gerald Prinzhorn
Barbara Schmidt

Klaus Eibinger
Olivier Arliguie

Sebastian Heinzel
Regina Friedrich
Werner Leitner1
Mark Lunabba
Michael Pucher1
Johann Kaiser1
Bernhard Papst1
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH

MANAGEMENT BOARD

MANAGEMENT BOARD

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Andrew Paul
CEO

Helmut Limbeck
CEO

Andreas Mang
CEO

Sebastian Heinzel
CSO

Jörg Bierlein
COO

Klaus Vlach
CFO

Moncef Reisner
COO

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dietmar Geigl
CFO

Kurt Maier
Chairman

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Riia Sillave
Deputy Chairwoman

Kurt Maier
Chairman

Sebastian Heinzel
Alexander Riklin

Riia Sillave
Deputy Chairwoman

Alfred Grunner

Martina Dobringer

Andreas Pohler1

1

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH
EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
Thomas Schneider
CTO
Maximilian Luger
CFO

Helmut Limbeck
Ulrike Ullrich-Springer1
Nadja Blenk1

1
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GROUP STRUCTURE
As at 28 February 2017

26,5%

100%

AS Nor-Est Wood
Paide, Estonia

AS Estonian Cell
Kunda, Estonia

0,1%

99,9%

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Pöls, Austria
25%
Papierholz Austria GmbH
St. Gertraud, Austria

5,1%

94,9%

Raubling Papier GmbH
Raubling, Germany
100%
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH
Raubling, Germany

1%

99%

Laakirchen Papier AG
Laakirchen, Austria
100%
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH
Laakirchen, Austria

Shareholder
Holding and Service
Industry
Trading and Merchant
Associated companies
in the raw materials sector,
not consolidated

ADRESSES & CONTACTS
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EMACS Privatstiftung
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG
Vienna, Austria

49%

51%
Heinzel Holding GmbH
Vorchdorf and Vienna, Austria

100%
P&S Beteiligungs GmbH
Neudörﬂ, Austria

100%
Heinzel Paper GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH
Vienna, Austria

90%

Limbeck Beteiligungs GmbH
Gols, Austria
10%

Europapier International AG
Hinterbrühl, Austria

51%

90%

Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Vienna, Austria

10%

0,1%

99,9%

Europapier CE GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Wilfried Heinzel AG
Vienna, Austria

100%

100%
94,9%

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH
Raubling, Germany

5,1%

Europapier CIS GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria
Subsidiaries

51%

31,67%

Austrian Recycling s.r.o.
Temelin, Czech Republic

Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Papyrus
Altpapierservice Handelsges.mbH
Salzburg, Austria

Heinzel Import-Export Inc.
New York, USA
Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc.
New York, USA
Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l.
Mailand, Italy

Liaison Ofﬁces
100%

90%

90%

100%

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S.
Paris, France

100%

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH
Wiesbaden, Germany

100%

Interﬁbre AG
Zug, Switzerland
Mayr-Melnhof &
Wilfried Heinzel Tehran Co.
Teheran, Iran

100%

64%

Heinzel Sales Paciﬁc Holding Ltd. 100%
Vancouver, Kanada
65%

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Vancouver, Kanada

Aisakos S.A.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Greece
Athens, Greece

Europapier CEE GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

99%
LLC Europapier
Moscow, Russia

100%

Europapier Budapest Kft.
Budapest, Hungary

100%

Europapier Alpe d.o.o.
Ljubljana, Slovenia

1%
99%

Alliance Cellulose Pvt. Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce India
Chennai, India

Lexica – SFE JSC
Moscow, Russia

Paperboard Iberia S.L.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Spain
Barcelona, Spain

Europapier East Europe GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Papimpex
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Egypt
Cairo, Egypt

Europapier Austria GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Polygrafsnab – Authorised Heinzel
Sales Distributor Bulgaria
Soﬁa, Bulgaria

EU-RO Handelsges.m.b.H.
Frastanz, Austria

Premier Paper Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Ukraine
Kiev, Ukraine
Tabarak
& ExportLtd.
Co.
SimpeksImport
Kagit Ürünleri
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce
Ofﬁce Turkey
Sudan
Khartoum,
Sudan
Istanbul, Turkey

100%
50%

Europapier Dunav Papir d.o.o.
Belgrade, Serbia

100%

100%

50%

99,99%

Europapier Bohemia spol. s.r.o. 100%
Prague, Czech Republic

100%

100%

100%

Europapier Poland GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Tabarak
Export Inc.
Co.
North
RimImport
Pulp & Paper
Heinzel Sales
Liaison
Ofﬁce Sudan
Beijing
Ofﬁce
Khartoum,
Sudan
Beijing, China

100%

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o.
Błonie, Poland

New PlanET
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Seoul
Seoul, Korea

100%

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o.
Warsaw, Poland

100%

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD
Soﬁa, Bulgaria
Europapier Romania Srl.
Bucharest, Romania

0,01%

Europapier Hercegtisak d.o.o.
Siroki Brijeg, Bosnia
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Bratislava, Slovakia
Europapier Adria d.o.o.
Sesvete-Zagreb, Croatia

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Beijing Ofﬁce
Beijing, China
Allied Paper Agencies
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Australasia
Dandenong South, Australia
Kenya Stationer Limited
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce East Africa
Nairobi, Kenya
Heinzel Sales Representative Ofﬁce
China and South East Asia
Shenzhen, China
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce
Mexico & Central America
Atizapán, Mexiko
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce
South Africa Region
Sandton, South Africa
S.A. Wahren
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Argentina
San Isidro, Argentina
GFP
Heinzel Sales Liaison Ofﬁce Brazil
Sao Paulo, Brazil
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COMPANY HISTORY
1991
With the help of banks and the management, Alfred Heinzel purchased Wilfried Heinzel AG,
today’s heinzelsales, from his uncle Wilfried.

2000
Acquisition of Zellstoff Pöls

2001
Acquisition of Biocel Paskov

2004
33% participation in the Estonian Cell greenfield BCTMP pulp mill investment

2006
Start-up of Estonian Cell

2010
Sale of 75% of the shareholding in Biocel Paskov; acquisition of Europapier

2011
100% takeover of Estonian Cell

2012
Europapier purchased the paper merchant business of PaperlinX in Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia,
Croatia and Serbia; disposal of the remaining shares in Biocel Paskov

2013
Acquisition of the Laakirchen paper mill as well as 51% of Bunzl & Biach

2014
First full business year with the new PM2, the Starkraft kraft paper machine in Pöls; investment in
a biogas plant for Estonian Cell

2015
End of year acquisition of the containerboard mill in Raubling and Chiemgau Recycling
VIDEO

2016
Decision to convert the PM10 in Laakirchen for the production of packaging paper
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